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PART |

The Business section and other parts of this AnReglort on Form 10-K (“Form 10-K”) contain forwarlboking statements that involve
risks and uncertainties. Many of the forward-logkstatements are located in “Management’s Discussiod Analysis of Financial

Condition and Results of Operations.” Forward-loogistatements can also be identified by words agcfanticipates,” “expects,”
“believes,” “plans,” “predicts,” and similar terms.Forward-looking statements are not guaranteesitafre performance and the Company’s
actual results may differ significantly from theswodts discussed in the forward-looking statemdrastors that might cause such differences
include, but are not limited to, those discussethésubsection entitled “Factors That May Affeatée Results and Financial Condition”
under Part I, Item 7 of this Form 10-K. The Compassumes no obligation to revise or update anydod-looking statements for any
reason, except as required by law.

Iltem 1. Business

Company Background

Apple Computer, Inc. (“Apple” or the “Company”) wasorporated under the laws of the State of Calitoon January 3, 1977. The
Company designs, manufactures, and markets persomgduters and related software, services, perdéeand networking solutions. The
Company also designs, develops, and markets aflipertable digital music players along with rethtecessories and services including the
online distribution of third-party music, audio ks music videos, short films, and television sholle Company’s products and services
include the Macintosh line of desktop and noteboakputers, the iPod digital music player, the XeeBb server and Xserve RAID storage
products, a portfolio of consumer and professiaoétiware applications, the Mac OS X operating systbe iTunes Music Store, a portfolio
of peripherals that support and enhance the Mastindmd iPod product lines, and a variety of oteevise and support offerings. The
Company sells its products worldwide through itBranstores, its own retail stores, its direct sdtece, and thirgearty wholesalers, reselle
and value added resellers. The Company also selisiety of third-party products that are compagibith the Company’s Macintosh and
iPod product lines, including computer printers gnidting supplies, storage devices, computer mgnbigital camcorders and still cameras,
personal digital assistants, iPod accessoriesyaradus other computing products and supplies tjingts online and retail stores. The
Company’s fiscal year ends on the last SaturdeBeptember. Unless otherwise stated, all informagtr@sented in this Form 104is based o
the Company’s fiscal calendar.

Business Strategy

The Company is committed to bringing the best pgakoomputing and music experience to studentgadts, creative professionals,
businesses, government agencies, and consumeugthits innovative hardware, software, periphersdsyices, and Internet offerings. The
Company’s business strategy leverages its unigiligyathrough the design and development of itawperating system, hardware, and
many software applications and technologies, togotd its customers new products and solutions sigierior ease-of-use, seamless
integration, and innovative industrial design. B@mpany believes continual investment in reseanchdevelopment is critical to facilitate
innovation of new and improved products and teobgiek. Besides updates to its existing line of gemscomputers and related software,
services, peripherals, and networking solutions,Gbmpany continues to capitalize on the convemyendigital consumer electronics and
the computer by creating innovations like the iRad iTunes Music Store. The Company'’s strategy ialdades expanding its distribution
network to effectively reach more of its targetedtomers and provide them a high-quality salesadied-sales support experience.

Digital Hub
The Company believes personal computing is in arirewhich the personal computer functions for qmibfessionals and consumers as the
digital hub for advanced new digital devices suslihe Company’s




iPod digital music players, personal digital assitd, cellular phones, digital camcorders andcitheras, CD and DVD players, televisions,
and other consumer electronic devices. The ateaf the personal computer include a high quaksr interface, relatively inexpensive d
storage, and the ability to run complex applicagiand easily connect to the Internet. Apple isotflg company in the personal computer
industry that controls the design and developmétitementire personal computer—from the hardwark@rerating system to sophisticated
applications. Additionally, the Company’s produptsvide innovative industrial design, intuitive easf-use, and built-in networking,
graphics and multimedia capabilities. Thus, the Gany is uniquely positioned to offer integrateditdiighub products and solutions.

The Company develops products and technologiesittiedre to many industry standards in order toigeoan optimized user experience
through interoperability with peripherals and degdrom other companies. The Company has playetkarrthe development, enhancement,
promotion, and/or use of numerous of these indugtaigdards.

Expanded Distributiol

The Company believes that a high quality buyingegigmce with knowledgeable salespersons who cavegahe value of the Company’s
products and services is critical to attracting eetdining customers. The Company sells many gdrisslucts and resells certain third-party
products in most of its major markets directly tmsumers, education customers, and businessegthitsuetail and online stores in the U.S.
and internationally. The Company has also investgaograms to enhance reseller sales, includiagMpple Sales Consultant Program,
which consists of the deployment of Apple employaed contractors to selected third-party resetleations. The Company believes
providing direct contact with its targeted custosnisran efficient way to demonstrate the advantagés Macintosh computer and other
products over those of its competitors. The Compgagysignificantly increased the points of disttitw for the iPod product family in order
to make its products available at locations whesretstomers shop.

From inception of the retail initiative in 2001 ¢lugh 2005, the Company had opened 116 retail siotbe U.S. and 8 international stores in
Canada, Japan, and the U.K. The Company openeditbadl stores in October 2005. The Company hipgally located its stores at high
traffic locations in quality shopping malls and anbshopping districts.

One of the goals of the retail initiative is toriyinew customers to the Company and expand ialliedtbase through sales to computer users
who currently do not own a Macintosh computer arst fime personal computer buyers. By operatiagin stores and building them in
desirable high traffic locations, the Company ikeab better control the customer retail experiesoe attract new customers. The stores are
designed to simplify and enhance the presentatidmzarketing of personal computing products. To ¢mal, retail store configurations have
evolved into various sizes in order to accommodadeket demands. The stores employ experiencedramal&dgeable personnel who
provide product advice and certain hardware supgmxtices. The stores offer a wide selection atitparty hardware, software, and various
other computing products and supplies selectedrgpéement the Compars/own products. Additionally, the stores providemm in which
the Company is able to present computing solutionssers in areas such as digital photographytadligideo, music, children’s software, and
home and small business computing.

Education

For more than 25 years, the Company has focuséigeonse of technology in education and has beemnitbed to delivering tools to help
educators teach and students learn. The Compaiey&gleffective integration of technology into slam instruction can result in higher
levels of student achievement, especially when tsaedpport collaboration, information access, dmedexpression and representation




of student thought and ideas. The Company creataans that enable new modes of curriculum dejivbetter ways of conducting
research, and opportunities for professional dgprakmt of faculty, students, and staff. The Compzeny designed a range of products and
services to help schools maximize their investmantschnology. This is manifested in many of tr@®any’s products and services that are
designed to meet the needs of education custoifieese products and services include the eMac™, jand the iBook®, video creation
and editing solutions, wireless networking, studefdrmation systems, high-quality curriculum gmofessional development solutions, and
one-to-one (1:1) learning solutions (primarily irlR). 1:1 learning solutions typically consist Bbok portable computers for every student
and teacher along with a wireless network connettedcentral server .

Creative Professionals

Creative professionals constitute one of the Corigamost important markets for both hardware arftivsre products. This market is also
important to many third-party developers who previdacintosh-compatible hardware and software smistiCreative customers utilize the
Company’s products for a variety of creative atitdéd including digital video and film productionaediting; digital video and film special
effects, compositing, and titling; digital still ptography and workflow management; graphic degigblishing, and print production; music
creation and production; audio production and salexign; and web design, development, and adnatiistr.

The Company designs its high-end hardware solutiopkiding servers, desktops, and portable Masim&gystems, to incorporate the power,
expandability, and features desired by creativégssionals. The Comparsybperating system, Mac OS X, incorporates powerabhics an
audio technologies and features developer toaiptionize system and application performance wheming powerful creative solutions
provided by the Company or third-party develop&te Company also offers various software solutiompeet the needs of its creative
customers.

Business Organization

The Company manages its business primarily on grgebic basis. The Company’s reportable operagggnents are comprised of the
Americas, Europe, Japan, and Retail. The AmeriEasmpe, and Japan reportable segments do not melctilities related to the Retalil
segment. The Americas segment includes both NodiSauth America. The Europe segment includes Eamopountries as well as the
Middle East and Africa. The Retail segment curgenplerates Apple-owned retail stores in the U.&ndtla, Japan, and the U.K. Other
operating segments include Asia-Pacific, whichudels Australia and Asia except for Japan, and tregany’s subsidiary, FileMaker, Inc.
Each reportable geographic operating segment pes\samilar hardware and software products and aireérvices. Further information
regarding the Company’s operating segments mapuoedfin Part I, Item 7 of this Form 10-K under theading “Segment Operating
Performance,” and in Part I, Item 8 of this ForftK in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statet®ahNote 11, “Segment Information
and Geographic Data.”

Hardware Products

The Company offers a range of personal computindymsts including desktop and notebook computersesand storage products, related
devices and peripherals, and various third-partgare products. The Company’s entire line of Maash® systems, excluding servers and
storage systems, features the Company’s Mac OS@rxivh 10.4 Tiger™ and iLife® suite of software &bgital photography, music,
movies, and music creation.

Macintosl® Computers
In June 2005, the Company announced its plan tmhesing Intel microprocessors in its Macintosh porters. The Company plans to begin
shipping certain models with Intel microprocesdnysiune 2006




and to complete the transition of all of its Maoistt computers to Intel microprocessors by the érdlendar year 2007. The Company also
announced its new translation technology, Rosettafiith will allow most PowerPC-based Macintosh &gilons to run on new Intel-based
Macintosh computers. There are potential riskswarartainties associated with this transition,clibare further discussed in Part Il, Iltem 7
of this 10-K under the heading “Factors That Maye&f Future Results and Financial Condition.”

Power Ma®

The Power Mac line of desktop personal computetargeted at business and professional users atesigned to meet the speed, expansion,
and networking needs of the most demanding Madiniser. Powered by the PowerPC G5 processor, tiverfdac G5 utilizes 64-bit
processing technology for memory expansion up ®B.&nd advanced 64-bit computation while also migmixisting 32-bit applications
natively. In October 2005, the Company updatedPtneer Mac G5 product line, which now comes in ttpereessor configurations—dual
2.0GHz, dual 2.3GHz, and a quad 2.5GHz that featiwe 2.5GHz dual processors. All Power Mac G5 thgskfeature a SuperDrive&hd ¢
NVIDIA GeForce 6600 graphics card. In addition,Rdlwer Mac G5 desktops deliver connectivity and-performance input/output (1/0),
including dual Gigabit Ethernet, FireWire® 800 dficeWire 400 ports, USB 2.0 ports, optical digit@®, PCl Express expansion, and
optional AirPort®Extreme wireless networking and Bluetooth connégtidhe new Power Mac G5 product line also inclutiéighty Mouse
the Company’s next generation mouse, featuringupur programmable buttons and a Scroll Ball tet users scroll vertically,
horizontally, and diagonally.

Xserv® and Xserve RAID Storage System

Xserve is a rack-mount server product designedgifople setup and remote management of intensivapfilications such as digital video,
high-resolution digital imagery, and large datalsas® January 2005, the Company upgraded Xservev@ish is now available with either a
single 2.0GHz or dual 2.3GHz PowerPC G5 processmsrve G5 includes a system controller with up@&GB of PC3200 error correcting
code memory; three hot-plug Serial ATA drive modttleat deliver up to 1.5TB of storage; and duaboard Gigabit Ethernet for high-
performance networking. The Company’s Xserve RAi@age system was updated in September 2005 tzedeip to 7 terabytes of storage
capacity and also expanded support for heterogsnamrironments. The dual independent RAID contreleith 512MB cache per controller
offer sustained throughput of over 385 Mbps—nhighuagh to support media production environmentsgipiotected RAID level 5.

iMac®

The iMac line of desktop computers is targetecoasamer and education markets. In October 2005 timepany introduced the new iMac
G5, featuring the PowerPC G5 processor, a builsight™ video camera, and a design that integtiieentire computer into either a i¢h

or 20-inch widescreen LCD flat-panel display. Theidch and 20-inch models come with 1.9GHz and BiZ@®owerPC G5 Processors,
respectively. The iMac G5 offers 512MB of 533MHz RP memory expandable to 2.5GB and 7200 rpm Sefi#l drives expandable up to
500GB. The iMac G5 comes standard with ATI Rade600<Pro or XT graphics, video memory, a SuperDrdeglt-in Airport Extreme
wireless networking, an internal Bluetooth modubigijt-in stereo speakers and microphone, and Mifyityse. The iMac G5 also offers built-
in Ethernet (10/100/1000BASE-T), three USB 2.0 tamal FireWire 400 ports. The iMac G5 also featuresnFRow media experience with
the Apple Remote, which allows users to play masid view photos and videos via a remote control.

eMac™
The eMac, a desktop personal computer targetdgbd@dmpany’s education customers, features a P@@rPprocessor, a high resolution
17-inch flat cathode ray tube display, and presetkie all-in-one




compact design of the original iMac. The eMac affeopwerPC G4 processors running at up to 1.42G384%1Blz DDR memory, an optional
SuperDrive, built-in modem and Ethernet (10/100BAREATI Radeon graphics, AirPort Extreme-readyd &fSB 2.0 and 1.1 ports for
connectivity to peripherals.

Mac® mini

In January 2005, the Company introduced Mac midigsktop personal computer with a starting pricg4#9 and weighing as little as 2.9
pounds. In July 2005, the Company updated its Mg Imeup, expanding to three models and increasi@mory to 512MB. The first mod
includes a 1.25GHz PowerPC G4 processor, a 40GBdrare, and a Combo drive. The second model ireduad1.42GHz PowerPC G4
processor, an 80GB hard drive, and a Combo drike.tfird model includes a 1.42GHz PowerPC G4 psmresn 80GB hard drive, and a
SuperDrive. All models include ATI Radeon 9200 driap with 32MB of dedicated DDR memory, built-inhétnet (10/100 BASE-T), one
FireWire 400 and two USB 2.0 ports, and a DVI ifdee that also supports VGA so consumers can conmé&€D or CRT displays. The
1.42GHz models of the Mac mini also include builtAirPort Extreme for 54 Mbps 802.11g wireless rating along with an internal
Bluetooth module.

PowerBoo®

The PowerBook family of portable computers is desitjto meet the mobile computing needs of profesfscand advanced consumer users.
In October 2005, the Company updated its PowerBabkotebooks with extended battery life as wehigher resolution displays, including
1440 by 960 pixels in the 15-inch model and 1680050 pixels in the 17-inch model. Both the 15-iacidl 17-inch PowerBook G4 offer a
1.67GHz PowerPC G4 processor and the ATI Mobiliad&n 9700 graphics processor. The 12-inch PowérBddfeatures a 1.5GHz
PowerPC processor, and the NVIDIA GeForce FX Gosg@phics processor. Every PowerBook G4 noteboakesowith a SuperDrive,
512MB of DDR memory, built-in AirPort Extreme wiass networking, an internal Bluetooth module fateleiss connectivity, as well as a
full complement of I/O ports including FireWire 400SB 2.0, and a built-in 56K V.92 modem and Etle¢(10/100BASE-T), for

connectivity to a wide range of peripherals. Theridh and 17-inch PowerBook G4 models also inclowié-in Gigabit Ethernet and

FireWire 800.

iBook®

The iBook is designed to meet the portable computieeds of education and consumer users. In JOly,208e Company upgraded its iBak
G4 line to include faster PowerPC G4 processorsingnup to 1.42GHz, built-in AirPort Extreme 54 Mp802.11g wireless networking and
an available slot-load SuperDrive. The 12-inch niéeigtures a 1.33GHz PowerPC G4 processor and-#osid Combo drive, while the 14-
inch model includes a 1.42GHz G4 processor andoarBuive. All iBook G4 models offer a full complemteof 1/O ports including FireWire
400, USB 2.0, a built-in 56K V.92 modem and Ethéi€/100BASE-T), as well as a built-in internareless Bluetooth module, for
connectivity to a wide range of peripherals.

Music Products and Services

The Company offers its iPod® line of digital muplayers and related accessories to Macintosh amdiaMis users. The Company also
provides an online service to distribute third-pamusic, audio books, music videos, short films] television shows through its iTunes
Music Store®.

iPod ®

The iPod is the Company’s portable digital musaypl, featuring the Company’s patent pending Clifkeel, which combines a touch-
sensitive wheel with five push buttons for one-tethdavigation. In October 2005, the Company intoedithe new iPod containing a 2.5-
inch color screen that can display album artwortk pinotos and play video including music videosgwighodcasts, home movies, short films,
and television shows. The iPod lineup include®@B model holding up to 7,500 songs, 25,000 phatos,




75 hours of video, and a 60GB model holding up8®Q@0 songs, 25,000 photos, or 150 hours of vitiee.iPod features the Company’s
patent pending Auto-Sync technology that autombyicwnloads digital music, podcasts, photos, aumtioks, home movies, music videos,
short films, and television shows onto the iPod lke@eps it up-to-date whenever it is plugged inMaintosh or Windows computer using
USB. The iPod also features Shuffle Songs, whiddaoanly plays songs in a selected playlist or actios®ntire library. All iPods work with
the Company’s iTunes® digital music managementasoft on either a Macintosh or Windows computer.

The iPod’s functionality extends beyond playing mubstening to audio books, and watching musieas, short films, home movies, and
television shows. Other key capabilities includeadsiorage, calendar and contact information ytidihd a selection of games. With the
addition of third-party iPod peripherals, the cdjtiss of certain iPods can be enhanced to inclpldeto downloading directly from certain
digital cameras. The Company has also enteredaliitmces with many automobile manufacturers temgeamless integration of the iPod in
certain automobiles. Along with the iPod, the Comphas developed the iTunes software and the iThhessc Store, a service that
consumers may use to purchase third-party musitipdaooks, music videos, short films, and televissbows over the Internet.

iPod® nano

In September 2005, the Company introduced iPod,reaflash-memory based digital music player. ThaiRano is available in either a 2GB
model holding up to 500 songs or 25,000 photos, 4GB model holding up to 1,000 songs or 25,000qshd he iPod nano, which weighs as
little as 1.5 ounces and is .27 inches thin, festar color screen and the Company’s patent per@liog Wheel.

iPod® shuffle

In January 2005, the Company introduced iPod shudfiflash-memory based digital music player, wlsdbased on iPod’s shuffle feature
that randomly selects songs from the user’s milsiarly or playlists. iPod shuffle works with iTunasd its patent-pending AutoFill feature
that automatically selects songs to fill iPod sleuffom a user’s music library on their comput®od shuffle can also be used as a portable
USB flash drive with up to 1GB of storage spacés Hvailable in a 512MB model holding up to 128g®and a 1GB model holding up to
240 songs.

iTunes Music Store®

The Company’s iTunes Music Store, available fohbsindows-based and Macintosh computers, is acethiat allows customers to find,
purchase, and download third-party digital musigjia books, music videos, short films, and tel@nsshows. The iTunes Music Store also
offers Podcast Directory that allows users to defocand download audio programs to their compatet automatically receive new episc
over the Internet. Users can search the contenteddtore catalog to locate works by title, aristalbum, or browse the entire contents of
store by genre and artist. Users can also listenftee 30-second preview of content availableughothe store. The iTunes Music Store was
originally introduced in the U.S. in April 2003 andw serves customers in 21 countries.

The iTunes Music Store is fully integrated diredtijo the iTunes software allowing customers to/e, purchase, download, organize,
share, and transfer digital content to an iPodguaisingle software application. Further discussiotthe iTunes software may be found be
under the heading “Software Products and Compugehfiologies.” The iTunes Music Store offers cust@naebroad range of personal rights
to the third-party content they have purchased t&urpurchased through the store may also be usegttain applications such as iPhoto®,
iMovie®, and iDVD®. Additional features of the iTaa Music Store include gift certificates that carsknt via e-mail; prepaid gift cards; an
“allowance” feature that enables users to autorabideposit funds into an iTunes Music Store act@very month; online gift options that
let customers give specific songs, albums, musieas, or their own playlists to anyone with an émadress; parental controls; and album
reviews.




Peripheral Products

The Company sells various Apple-branded computetvare peripherals, including iSightélgital video cameras and a range of high qu
flat panel TFT active-matrix digital color displayhe Company also sells a variety of third-partgdihitosh compatible hardware products
directly to end users through both its retail antin@ stores, including computer printers and jmimsupplies, storage devices, computer
memory, digital video and still cameras, persoigital assistants, and various other computing petaland supplies.

iSight™

The Companys iSight digital video camera enables video comfeireg over broadband connections. iSight is a srpalttable aluminum allo
camera with all audio, video, and power providedtsingle FireWire cable. iSight is designed t@éeter-mounted on the top of a computer
screen and uses its integrated tilt and rotate argsi to easily position the camera for naturalefo-face video conferencing. iSight
features an auto focusing auto exposure F/2.8tkaisaptures high-quality pictures and full-motiadeo. With its onboard processor, iSig
automatically adjusts color, white balance, shasprad contrast to provide high-quality images aitburate color reproduction in most
lighting conditions. iSight also includes a duadrakent microphone that suppresses ambient noiséefar digital audio.

Displays

The Company offers a family of widescreen flat patigplays featuring the 30-inch Apple Cinema H¥ay ™, a widescreen active-matrix
LCD with 2560-by-1600 pixel resolution, a 23-incidescreen Apple Cinema Display with 1920-by-120&presolution and a 20-inch
widescreen Apple Cinema Display® with 1680-by-1@5€I resolution. The displays feature dual Fires\&dnd dual USB 2.0 ports built into
the display and use the industry standard DVI fater for a pure digital connection with the Compangtest Power Mac and PowerBook
systems. The Cinema Displays feature an aluminwigdevith a very thin bezel, suspended by an alumistand that allows viewing angle
adjustment.

Software Products and Computer Technologies

The Company offers a range of software productgdcation, creative, consumer and business custpimeluding Mac OS X, the
Company’s proprietary operating system softwardtierMacintosh; server software and related salstiprofessional application software;
and consumer, education and business orienteccapiph software.

Operating System Software

In April 2005, the Company began shipping Mac OSiger, the Company’s fifth major version of Mac GSTiger incorporates more than
200 new features and innovations including Spotligha desktop search technology that lets usedsittms stored on their Macintosh
computers, including documents, emails, contaaisimages; and Dashboard, a new way to instantlgsscmformation such as weather
forecasts and stock quotes, using a new classrofapplications called widgets. The server versibthe Mac OS operating system, Mac OS
X Server version 10.4, also began shipping in AR0D5.

Server Software and Server Solutions

Apple Remote Desktop™ 2 is the second generatidtheo€Company’s asset management, software distiguand help desk support
software. Apple Remote Desktop 2 includes more B@features for centrally managing Mac OS X systeipple Remote Desktop 2 can
perform a wide range of desktop management tasitsasiinstalling operating system and applicataftware, running hardware and
software inventory reports, and executing commamdsne or more remote Mac OS X systems on the mktiR@mote software installation
tools allow IT professionals to install single oultiple software packages immediately or at specifites and times. Comprehensive
hardware and software reports based on more thausy&lem information attributes allow administrattr keep track of their Mac OS X




systems. In addition, built-in real-time screenrstgaenables help desk professionals to providmerdssistance by observing and controlling
the desktops of any remote Macintosh or Virtuaividek Computing-enabled computer, including Windamsl Linux systems.

Xsan®, the Company’s enterprise-class Storage Negevork (SAN) file system, began shipping in Jagu2005. Xsan is a 64-bit cluster file
system for Mac OS X that enables organization®tsclidate storage resources and provide multiphepeiters with concurrent file-level
read/write access to shared volumes over Fibre i@aAdvanced features such as metadata contfallever and Fibre Channel
multipathing ensure high availability; file-leveldking allows multiple systems to read and writaaorently to the same volume which is
ideal for complex workflows; bandwidth reservatigmovides for effective ingestion of bandwidth-irgére data streams, such as high
resolution video; and flexible volume managemeastilts in more efficient use of storage resourcesesSXsan is interoperable with ADIC'’s
StorNext File System, it can be used in heterogesmieavironments that include Windows, UNIX, anduxrserver operating system
platforms.

Professional Application Softwa

In April 2005, the Company announced Final Cut #ttil a High Definition (HD) video production suitieat features Final Cut Pro® 5, the
Company’s editing software for Digital Video (D\§tandard Definition (SD), HD, and film. Final Cuu8io also includes tools that
complement Final Cut Pro 5 such as Soundtrack®@new application that gives audio and video msifenals a way to create, control and
repair audio; Motion 2, an application that allowal-time motion graphics design; and DVD Studio®#, DVD authoring software that
burns DVDs, including high definition DVDs to thatést HD DVD specification. These components oaFEut Studio are also sold
separately.

Final Cut Pro® 5, the latest version of the Compamideo editing software, which began shippingipril 2005, includes editing tools that
work with most formats, from DV and native High Defion Video (HDV) to fully uncompressed HD. Fin@ut Pro 5 acquires HDV media
via FireWire and keeps it in the original formagrtsferring it into the system without any generatbss. With a real-time multi-stream
effects architecture, multicam editing tools, addanced color correction, Final Cut Pro 5 enab&sssito view and cut from multiple sources
in real time, group up to 128 sources together iintidti-clips, then add or subtract cameras at ang.tFinal Cut Pro 5 allows users to use
external audio control surfaces to mix and recouttipie fader automations simultaneously.

Soundtrack® Pro is a new audio editing and sousiydeapplication that gives audio and video pratesass a way to create, control, and
repair audio. Soundtrack Pro features a waveforitoregith flexible Action Layers that allow users te-order, bypass, or change any edit,
effect, or process. Find-and-Fix features iderdifg repair common audio problems such as backgnoaisé, pops, clicks, and hum. An
integrated multitrack mixer allows editors to apptymmon effects to multiple tracks and group commnacks using busses. Soundtrack Pro
also features over 50 professional plug-ins foating sounds, over 5,000 loops, an integrated ma integration with Final Cut Studio.

Motion 2 is a real-time motion graphics softwaratténables Final Cut Pro editors to add motionlgjcapto their projects. Motion 2 features
interactive animation of text and graphics for DWidtion menus, video or film in real time, and quatkput rendering by built-in GPU
acceleration at 8-bit, 16-bit, or 32-bit float filguality. With Motion 2’s new design tool, Replioatusers can automatically generate and
animate multiple copies of a graphic, shape, orieov

DVD Studio Pro® 4 is the latest version of the Camygs professional DVD authoring application. With D\Audio Pro 4 and its integrate
scalable H.264 encoding, users can author SD obMDs. DVD Studio Pro 4 allows users to preview Hahtent in real time with a second
Digital Cinema Desktop and audition surround sousidg S/PDIF (digital audio) out to an external Ddi®olby Digital (AC-3) decoder. Its
interactive graphical view also enables users iddisplay menus, tracks, slideshows, scripts,




and stories of a DVD project in a storyboard lay@¥D Studio Pro 4 includes Compressor 2, a fulitieed video and audio compression
application. Compressor gives users control oveoéimg, including the ability to encode severgbglin one batch operation to a wide var
of formats and perform advanced format conversairibe same time.

In April 2005, the Company announced Shake® 4,@grade to the Company’s compositing software, whiehan shipping in June 2005.
Used to create visual effects for film and teleMisiShake 4 features 3D multi-plane compositingicapflow image processing and
integration with Final Cut Pro 5. Users can comgoléve action and 3D CGl layers with added realissing OpenGL accelerated 3D multi-
plane compositing node. Other features include rack@ optical flow technology that uses pixel-bygbixnage analysis to create smooth
retiming and automatic stabilization. Shake 4 ai¢egrates Truelight monitor calibration to maintablor consistency between the computer
screen and the final look on film.

Logic® Pro 7 is used by musicians around the wand by professionals in music production and fitmreng. It combines digital music
composition, notation, and audio production faeisitin one comprehensive product and includes sofhnstruments such as Sculpture, a
component-modeling based synthesizer; UltraBeat&fum synthesizer with built-in step sequencer; digital signal processing (DSP)
plug-ins including Guitar Amp Pro, a full-featurgditar amplifier simulator. Along with workflow eancements, mastering plug-ins, and
support for Apple Loops, Logic Pro 7 adds distrédzbaiudio processing, a technology that allows gedmals to utilize multiple Macintosh
systems to expand available DSP power via an Ethaetwork.

In October 2005, the Company announced Aperturegtfab shipping in November 2005. Aperture is aniegibn designed to provide
professional photographers with post-productionstém manage, edit, and publish digital picturesatires include compare and select tools,
nondestructive image processing, color managedimpgirand custom web and book publishing. Compackes&lect tools in Aperture allow
photographers to sift through photo projects amdtidy their final selections. RAW images are mainéd natively throughout Aperture
without any intermediate conversion process, amdbearetouched using a suite of adjustment todgyded especially for photographers.
Print options include customizable contact shedwgtd)-quality local printing, and color-managed aeliprints. Aperture also provides a layout
environment where photographers can create and oudéom books and publish web galleries.

Consumer, Education and Business Oriented ApptingSioftware

iLife® ‘05

In January 2005, the Company introduced iLife ‘@ upgrade to its digital lifestyle suite, whiclafigres iPhoto®, iMovie®, iDVD®,
GarageBand™, and iTunes®.

iPhoto® 5 is the Company’s consumer-oriented digitento software application. iPhoto 5 includesatbed editing tools, adds support
for uncompressed RAW photos, and includes a slmesiuilder allowing users to apply effects, traiosis and durations to each
individual slide. iPhoto 5 allows users to creatd arder hardcover and softcover photo books usinariety of book layouts with
double-sided printing, directly within the appliicat.

iMovie® HD, a consumer-oriented digital video ediiisoftware application, enables users to imporvHidm HDV camcorders and
edit digital videos on their Macintosh computekdovie HD also includes Magic iMovie, which autonaly imports video into
separate clips and adds titles, transitions andanilovie HD imports video from HDV and standard/[@amcorders, and from video
cameras that generate MPEG-4 video.




iDVD® is a consumer-oriented software applicatibattenables users to turn iMovie files, QuickTimf@@s, and digital pictures into
DVDs that can be played on most consumer DVD pgy@®VD 5 includes 15 new themes featuring movingpdzones that can display
video clips or photos in motion across DVD menD&/D 5 also features OneStep DVD, which automatycatbates a DVD from
footage directly from a user’s camcorder. With enpatible SuperDrive™, iDVD 5 supports all recoraabingle-layer and double-layer
DVD format standards.

GarageBand™ is a consumer-oriented music creatiftware application. GarageBand 2 adds 8-trackrdieg so that users can record
multiple digital audio tracks at once. GarageBarm@2 improve out-of-tune notes and timing in batleal and real-instrument
recordings. GarageBand 2 displays and edits musitation in real time for software instrument kséor people who know how to re
and write music or want to learn. With GarageBaamuh JPacks, including the latest, Jam Pack 4: SympBwohestra, GarageBand users
can create music in their favorite genres.

iLife ‘05 also includes iTunes, the Company’s digjitnusic jukebox software application that alloveens to purchase a variety of digital
content available through the Company’s iTunes Kl&ore. iTunes organizes content using searchiogysing, and playlists, and also
includes features such as iMix playlist sharing pralides integration with the complete family Bbids. In October 2005, the Company
introduced iTunes 6, the latest version of its i@sisoftware. iTunes 6 allows users to purchaselawtload music videos, short films, and
television shows from the iTunes Music Store, wakem on their computers, and Auto-Sync them dmedr iPod.

In September 2005, the Company, Motorola Inc.,@mgdjular Wireless LLC announced the availabilityaafobile phone with iTunes
software (Motorola ROKR), enabling users to trangfeto 100 songs from the iTunes library on tih&#cintosh or Windows-based
computers to their Motorola ROKR mobile phones.

iWork™ ‘05

In January 2005, the Company introduced iWork f¥®ductivity software designed to take advantagieotti Mac OS X and iLife05 to helf
users create, present, and publish documents asdrations. iWork ‘05 introduced Pages™, a wootg@ssor, and also features Keynote™
2, an updated version of the Company’s presentatftware.

Pages™ gives users the tools to create lettersslagers, reports, brochures and resumes with agdatypography, multiple columns,
footnotes, tables of content and styles. With festlike dynamic text wrapping and alignment gujdResges lets users create free-form
arrangements of text, graphics, photos, tableschads. An integrated iLife media browser letsrasirag and drop photos from the
iPhoto library directly into documents.

Keynote™ 2 is the Company’s presentation softwmaae gives users the ability to create presentatipmgfolios, interactive slideshows,
and storyboards. Keynote 2 contains slide animatiorsynchronize the movement of multiple objeois einematic real-time animated
text. The iLife media browser within Keynote allowsers to insert photos, movies, and music dirécttypresentations, and with image
masking, users can frame the exact part of theopthety want to display. Keynote 2 can also workwaitsecond monitor to display
upcoming slides, notes, and a timer.

In January 2005, the Company announced Final Cxi®dss HD, an update to Final Cut Express, whigfabeshipping in February 2005.
Final Cut Express HD enables users to capture, auit output HDV over a single FireWire cable, andports Digital Cinema Desktop with
multiple displays. Final Cut Express HD featuresrsbediting tools including 99 audio tracks, realet volume and audio filter adjustment, a
voice-over tool, and Soundtrack music creationvearfé that allows users to compose musical scorabéir videos. Final Cut Express HD
includes LiveType™, which can add HD-quality
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animated text and motion graphics to videos. Iritamg iMovie projects can be imported directlyarfEinal Cut Express HD with all of their
effects, transitions, and audio levels intact.

Logic® Express 7 is a streamlined version of Ldgjio 7 that provides a basic set of professiondsttmocompose and produce music for
students, educators, and advanced hobbyists gltsrBsolution audio of up to 24-bit/96kHz, the atilapself-configuring track mixer, and 32-
bit floating-point math provide professional soupdlity. Logic Express 7 comes with support forjects from GarageBand offering users a
smooth migration path to high-end audio production.

FileMaker, Inc., a wholly owned subsidiary of ther@pany, develops, publishes, and distributes dpdb&sed database management
application software for either a Macintosh or Wing-based computer. The FileMak&iPro database software and related products offer
relational databases and desktop-to-web publistapgbilities. FileMaker Pro 8, the newest versibthe desktop database introduced in
August 2005, features new ways to share and man&agenation of various types. FileMaker Pro 8 albbwusers to convert graphic-rich
reports of their data into alternative file formasdich can be emailed for sharing with non-FileMalssers.

Internet Software and Services
The Company is focused on delivering seamlessriatieg with and access to the Internet throughleaitGompany’s products and services.
The Company'’s Internet solutions adhere to manystrgt standards in order to provide an optimizest experience through interoperability.

Safari ™

Safari, the Company’s Mac OS X compatible web beywsses the advanced interface technologies winigilac OS X and includes built-
in Google search; SnapBack™ to instantly retursetarch results; a way to name, organize and prbsektnarks; tabbed browsing; and
automatic “pop-up” ad blocking.

QuickTime ®

QuickTime, the Company’s multimedia software fordifdosh or Windows-based computers, features sirepaf live and stored video and
audio over the Internet and playback of high-qualitdio and video on computers. QuickTime 7 featareew video codec called H.264,
which delivers high video quality at low data rat@siickTime 7 automatically determines a user’'snemtion speed to ensure they are getting
the highest-quality content stream possible. QuiitieT7 also delivers multthannel audio and supports audio formats, includiti, WAV,
MOV, MP4 (AAC only), CAF, and AAC/ADTS.

The Company offers several other QuickTime produ@tsckTime 7 Pro, a suite of software tools, abosveation and editing of Internet-
ready audio and video files. QuickTime 7 Pro allmsers to create H.264 video, capture audio anebyicreate multi-channel audio, and
export multiple files while playing back or editingdeo. QuickTime Streaming Server facilitates ih@adcasting of streaming digital video.
QuickTime Broadcaster allows users to produce peifmal-quality live events for online delivery.

.Mac™

The Companys .Mac offering is a suite of Internet services fiom an annual fee provides Macintosh users withpaerful set of Intern
tools. .Mac services include: HomePage, for pelsaed sites; iDisk, a virtual hard drive accessibleywhere with Internet access; .»
Sync, which keeps Safari bookmarks, iCal® calendadsiress Book information, Keychain®gsswords), and Mac OS X Mail preferer
up-to-date across multiple Macintosh computers arallable via web browser when users are away fiteeir Mac; .Mac Mail, an aftee
email service; and Learning Center, featuring faterfor certain software applications. The currestsion of .Mac includes .Mac Group:
service that helps members communicate, coordswitedules, and stay in sync with private groudsi@fids or colleagues; an
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updated version of .Mac Backup software that allavesnbers to archive the content of their iLife Hoimleler; and a four-fold increase in
combined iDisk and email storage to 1GB for indiats and 2GB for families.

Wireless Connectivity and Networking

AirPort Extrem®

AirPort Extreme is the Company’s next generationRMvireless networking technology. AirPort Extreisébased on the 802.11g standard,
which supports speeds up to 54 Mbps, and is fdipgatible with most Wi-Fi devices that use the &Q0B.standard. AirPort Extreme Base
Stations can serve up to 50 Macintosh and Windaessusimultaneously, provide wireless bridgingxieed the range beyond just one base
station, and support USB printer sharing to alloultiple users to wirelessly share USB printers @mted directly to the base station.

AirPort® Express

AirPort® Express is the first 802.11g mobile batsdisn that can be plugged directly into the wal Wireless Internet connections and USB
printing. Airport Express also features analog digital audio outputs that can be connected t@@stand AirTunes™ music networking
software which works with iTunes, giving users ayw@wirelessly stream iTunes music from their Méosh or Windows-based computer to
any room in the house. AirPort Express featuraaglespiece design weighing 6.7 ounces.

Other Connectivity and Networking Solutions

Mac OS X includes capabilities for Bluetooth teclogy. Bluetooth is an industry standard for wirslgsconnecting computers and
peripherals that supports transmission of datg &b (8 Mbps within a range of approximately 30 f@é¢te Company’s Bluetooth technology
for Mac OS X lets customers wirelessly share filesveen Macintosh systems, synchronize and shataaanformation with Palm-OS
based PDAs, and access the Internet through Bltretambled cell phones. A Bluetooth USB adaptorRlaetooth-enable any USB-based
Macintosh computer running in Mac OS X version 10dr higher.

Bonjour™, the Company’s zero configuration netwngktechnology, is based on open Internet Engingérask Force (IETF) Standard
Protocols such as IP, ARP, and DNS and is buitt Mac OS X. This technology uses industry stand&td/orking protocols and zero
configuration technology including Ethernet or 82based wireless networks like the Company’s AirPooducts. The source code for this
technology also includes software to support UNIXKux, and Windows-based systems and devices.

The Company developed FireWire technology, alserrefl to as IEEE 1394, which is a high-speed sE@alechnology for connecting

digital devices such as digital camcorders and casn® desktop and portable computers. With itk kigta-transfer speed and “hot plug-and-
play” capability, FireWire has become an establisti®ss-platform industry standard for both consisna@d professionals. FireWire is
currently integrated in all Macintosh systems.

Product Support and Services

AppleCare® offers a range of support options for the Companystomers. These options include assistanceglimaiili into software
products, printed and electronic product manuaibne support including comprehensive product infation as well as technical assistance,
and the AppleCare Protection Plan. The AppleCaotcetion Plan is a fee-based service that typidatiiudes three years of phone support
and hardware repairs, dedicated web-based sumsairces, and user diagnostic tools.

Markets and Distribution

The Company’s customers are primarily in the edanatreative, consumer, and business marketsChbinepany distributes its products
through wholesalers, resellers, national and redimetailers and
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cataloguers. No individual customer accounted forerthan 10% of net sales in 2005, 2004, or 2068.Company also sells many of its
products and resells certain third-party productsiost of its major markets directly to consumerjcation customers, and businesses
through its retail and online stores in the U.SI enternationally. Over 12% of the Company’s ndésan 2005 were through its U.S.
education channel, including sales to elementadysseondary schools, higher education institutiand, individual customers.

Competition

The Company is confronted by aggressive competitiall areas of its business. The market for pgaboomputers and related software and
peripheral products is highly competitive. This kedrcontinues to be characterized by rapid teclgicéd advances in both hardware and
software that have substantially increased thehibixes and use of personal computers and haudtegsin the frequent introduction of new
products with competitive price, feature, and perniance characteristics. Over the past several ypace competition in the market for
personal computers has been particularly intense.Jompany’s competitors who sell personal compuiased on other operating systems
have aggressively cut prices and lowered theiryerbrhargins to gain or maintain market share. Tamg@any’s results of operations and
financial condition can be adversely affected sthand other industry-wide downward pressuresassgnargins.

The principal competitive factors in the market p@rsonal computers include price, relative priegipmance, product quality and reliabili
design innovation, availability of software, protifeatures, marketing and distribution capabilégrvice and support, availability of hardw
peripherals, and corporate reputation. Furtheth@personal computer industry and its customersepinore reliance on the Internet, an
increasing number of Internet devices that are lemaimpler, and less expensive than traditioeaspnal computers may compete for ma
share with the Company’s existing products.

The Company is currently taking and will continoddke steps to respond to the competitive presseimg placed on its personal computer
sales as a result of innovations from competingfqias. The Company’s future operating results fmahcial condition are substantially
dependent on its ability to continue to developriowements to the Macintosh platform in order tomtain perceived functional and design
advantages over competing platforms.

The Company'’s services and products relating taerargd other creative content have already enceudragnificant competition from other
companies, many of whom have greater financialketarg, and manufacturing resources than thoseeo€ompany. The Company faces
increasing competition from other companies prongptheir own digital music products and distribateervices, subscription services, and
free peer-to-peer music services. The Companyipatis that competition will intensify as hardwaseftware, and content providers work
more collaboratively to offer integrated produatenpeting with the Company’s offerings. However, @@mpany believes it currently
maintains a competitive advantage by more effelstiveéegrating an entire solution, including thedhaare (iPod), software (iTunes), and
distribution of third-party digital content (iTun&&usic Store).

Raw Materials

Although most components essential to the Compamnysiness are generally available from multiplerses, certain key components
(including microprocessors and application-spediftegrated circuits (“ASICs")) are currently obtad by the Company from single or
limited sources. Some other key components, whitesatly available to the Company from multiple sms, are at times subject to industry-
wide availability constraints and pricing pressutasaddition, the Company uses some component@tharot common to the rest of the
personal computer and consumer electronics inésstaind new products introduced by the Company afigally utilize custom componer
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obtained from only one source until the Companyéwaduated whether there is a need for, and subsélggualifies, additional suppliers. If
the supply of a key or single-sourced componettiéacCompany were to be delayed or curtailed onénetvent a key manufacturing vendor
delays shipments of completed products to the Comphe Company’s ability to ship related produntdesired quantities and in a timely
manner could be adversely affected. The Compangxfi@rience such delays during 2004 and 2005 cetatBowerPC G5 processors, wh
resulted in the constrained availability of certainducts. The Comparg/business and financial performance could alsadversely affecte
depending on the time required to obtain sufficaumntities from the original source, or to idenihd obtain sufficient quantities from an
alternative source. Continued availability of thesenponents may be affected if producers were taddo concentrate on the production of
common components instead of components custortozetet the Company’s requirements. In June 20@5Cbmpany announced its
intention to transition its Macintosh computersngsihe PowerPC G5 and G4 microprocessors, whichurently single-sourced, to Intel
microprocessors by the end of calendar year 200& .ahnouncement of this transition may impact tirginoued availability on acceptable
terms of certain components and services, incluBimgerPC G5 and G4 microprocessors. The Compagypts to mitigate these potential
risks by working closely with these and other kegiers on product introduction plans, strategicentories, coordinated product
introductions, and internal and external manufaestuschedules and levels. Consistent with industagtice, the Company acquires
components through a combination of formal purcluaders, supplier contracts, and open orders barsgulojected demand information. The
Company'’s purchase commitments typically coverdtpiirements for periods ranging from 30 to 150sday

The Company believes there are several componpptists and manufacturing vendors whose loss t€tirapany could have a material
adverse effect upon the Company’s business anddialgposition. At this time, such vendors inclusigere Systems, Inc., Ambit
Microsystems Corporation, ASUSTeK Corporation, ABichnologies, Inc., Broadcom Corporation, CypremsiSonductor Corporation,
Freescale Semiconductor, Inc., Hitachi Global Sferéechnologies, Hon Hai Precision Industry Cad, LiiBM Corporation, Intel
Corporation, International Display Technology, Intex Appliances Corporation, LG. Phillips Co., L.télatsushita, Mitsubishi Electric
Corporation, NVIDIA Corp., PortalPlayer, Inc., QuarComputer, Inc., Samsung Electronics, Synapitics, and Toshiba Corporation.

Research and Development

Because the personal computer and consumer el@stiodustries are characterized by rapid techrickd@dvances, the Compasyability tc
compete successfully is heavily dependent upoahiiity to ensure a continuing and timely flow afnepetitive products and technology to
marketplace. The Company continues to develop nmedygts and technologies and to enhance existiodugts in the areas of hardware and
peripherals, consumer electronic products, systitware, applications software, networking and camioations software and solutions, i
the Internet. The Company may expand the ranges pfdduct offerings and intellectual property thgh licensing and/or acquisition of third-
party business and technology. The Compsingsearch and development expenditures totaledl 88Bon, $489 million, and $471 million i
2005, 2004, and 2003, respectively.

Patents, Trademarks, Copyrights and Licenses

The Company currently holds rights to patents aqdghts relating to certain aspects of its corepsystems, iPods, peripherals and
software. In addition, the Company has registesiad/or has applied to register, trademarks andcgemvarks in the U.S. and a number of
foreign countries for “Apple,” the Apple logo, “Mextosh,” “iPod,” “iTunes,” “iTunes Music Store,” dmumerous other trademarks and
service marks. Although the Company believes theesship of such patents, copyrights, trademarkssamndce marks is an important factor
in its business and that its success does depgrattion the
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ownership thereof, the Company relies primarilyttos innovative skills, technical competence, andketing abilities of its personnel.

Many of the Company’s products are designed taigelintellectual property obtained from third-pastiWhile it may be necessary in the
future to seek or renew licenses relating to variaspects of its products and business method€dimpany believes that, based upon past
experience and industry practice, such licenseergéin could be obtained on commercially reasonédaims; however, there is no guarantee
that such licenses could be obtained at all. Bexafitsechnological changes in the computer industiyrent extensive patent coverage, and
the rapid rate of issuance of new patents, it &siixde certain components of the Company’s prodaitsbusiness methods may unknowingly
infringe existing patents of others. From timeitod, the Company has been notified that it maynfréniging certain patents or other
intellectual property rights of third-parties.

Foreign and Domestic Operations and Geographic Data

The U.S. represents the Company’s largest geographiketplace. Approximately 60% of the Companygtsgales in 2005 came from sales
to customers inside the U.S. Final assembly of getadsold by the Company is conducted in the Coryipananufacturing facility in Cork,
Ireland, and by external vendors in Fremont, Califn Fullerton, California, Taiwan, Korea, the Pkxs Republic of China, and the Czech
Republic. Currently, manufacture of many of the poments used in the Company’s products and firedrably of substantially all of the
Company'’s portable products including PowerBooRspks, and iPods are performed by thpatty vendors in China. Margins on sales o
Company’s products in foreign countries, and orsaf products that include components obtained fiareign suppliers, can be adversely
affected by foreign currency exchange rate fluetmstand by international trade regulations, inicigdariffs and antidumping penalties.

Information regarding financial data by geogramegment is set forth in Part I, Item 8 of thisiAdt0-K in the Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements at Note 11, “Segment Inforomaéind Geographic Data.”

Seasonal Business

The Company has historically experienced increast¢dales in its first and fourth fiscal quartessipared to other quarters in its fiscal year
due to seasonal demand related to the holiday seagbthe beginning of the school year. This hisébpattern should not be considered a
reliable indicator of the Company’s future net sade financial performance.

Warranty

The Company offers a basic limited parts and latmranty on its hardware products. The basic wayrperiod for hardware products is
typically one year from the date of purchase byehd-user. The Company also offers a 90-day baaicanty for its service parts used to
repair the Company’s hardware products. In addittmmsumers may purchase extended service covenagwst of the Compang’hardware
products in all of its major markets.

Backlog

In the Company’s experience, the actual amountadyct backlog at any particular time is not a niegiul indication of its future business
prospects. In particular, backlog often increasemniicipation of or immediately following new pract introductions because of over-
ordering by dealers anticipating shortages. Backlogn is reduced once dealers and customers beley can obtain sufficient supply.
Because of the foregoing, backlog should not besidened a reliable indicator of the Company’s &btld achieve any particular level of
revenue or financial performance.
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Environmental Laws

Compliance with federal, state, local, and fordagms enacted for the protection of the environntexst to date had no material effect on the
Company’s capital expenditures, earnings, or coitipeeposition. In the future, these laws could @amaterial adverse effect on the
Company.

Production and marketing of products in certaitestand countries may subject the Company to emviemtal and other regulations
including, in some instances, the requirementtti&iCompany provide consumers with the abilityetinm to the Company product at the
of its useful life, and place responsibility formonmentally safe disposal or recycling with then@pany. Such laws and regulations have
recently been passed in several jurisdictions iitkvthe Company operates, including various Europgéaion member states, Japan, and
California. In the future, these laws could haveaterial adverse effect on the Company.

Employees
As of September 24, 2005, the Company had appraslyna4,800 full-time equivalent employees and ddigonal 2,020 temporary
employees and contractors.

Available Information

The Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K, Quart&sports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8, amendments to reports
filed pursuant to Sections 13(a) and 15(d) of theusities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, aréahl@on its website at
http://www.apple.com/investor when such reportsauailable on the U.S. Securities and Exchange Gesiom (SEC) website. The public
may read and copy any materials filed by the Compéth the SEC at the SEC’s Public Reference Robf0a F Street, NE, Room 1580,
Washington, DC 20549. The public may obtain infaiioraon the operation of the Public Reference Rbgmaalling the SEC at 1-800-SEC-
0330. The SEC maintains an Internet site that domt&ports, proxy and information statements ahdranformation regarding issuers that
file electronically with the SEC at http://www.sgov. The contents of these websites are not incatpd into this filing. Further, the
Company'’s references to the URLSs for these webaitesntended to be inactive textual referenceg.onl

Item 2. Properties

The Company’s headquarters are located in Cupedalifornia. The Company has manufacturing faesiin Cork, Ireland. As of
September 24, 2005, the Company leased approxyr@tmillion square feet of space, primarily iertd.S., and to a lesser extent, in
Europe, Japan, Canada, and the Asia Pacific reglemmajor facility leases are for terms of 5 toygars and generally provide renewal
options for terms of 3 to 5 additional years. Lebsgace includes approximately 902,000 squareofeaetail space, a majority of which is in
the U.S. Lease terms for retail space range fram2® years, the majority of which are for 10 yearsd often contain multi-year renewal
options.

The Company owns a 352,000 square-foot manufagtéaicility in Cork, Ireland that also houses a oustr support call center. The
Company also owns a 752,000 square-foot facilitgacramento, California that houses warehousingl&tidbution operations as well as a
customer support call center. In addition, the Canypowns approximately 942,000 square feet ofifaslilocated in Cupertino, California,
used for research and development and corporat¢idns. Outside the U.S., the Company owns addititacilities totaling approximately
169,000 square feet.

The Company believes its existing facilities andipment are well maintained and in good operatimgdiion. The Company has invested in
internal capacity and strategic relationships witltiside manufacturing vendors, and therefore bediévhas adequate manufacturing capacity
for the foreseeable future. The Company continaesake investments in capital equipment as neadletket anticipated demand for its
products.
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Item 3. Legal Proceedings

The Company is subject to various legal proceedamgkclaims that are discussed below. The Compaalgd subject to certain other legal
proceedings and claims that have arisen in thenardicourse of business and which have not begnddjudicated. In the opinion of
management, the Company does not have a potaabdity related to any current legal proceedingd alaims that would individually or in
the aggregate have a material adverse effect dimatscial condition, liquidity or results of op¢i@ns. However, the results of legal
proceedings cannot be predicted with certainty uhthe Company fail to prevail in any of thesedegatters or should several of these I
matters be resolved against the Company in the sapoeting period, the operating results of a patér reporting period could be materially
adversely affected. The Company settled certaitersatiuring 2005 that did not individually or iretaggregate have a material impact on the
Company’s results of operations.

Advanced Audio Devices LLC v. Apple Computer,

Plaintiff Advanced Audio Devices (AAD) filed thiseon on March 3, 2005 in the United States Dist@iourt for the Northern District of
lllinois, Eastern Division, alleging infringemeny the Company of U.S. Patent 6,587,403 entitled SMuukebox.” The complaint sought
unspecified damages and other relief. The Compiéaty dn answer on May 4, 2005 denying all matezii@gations and asserting numerous
affirmative defenses. The parties have reachedtlarsent. Settlement of this matter did not haveaderial effect on the Company’s financial
position or results of operation.

Apple Corps Ltd. v. Apple Computer, Inc.; Apple @atar, Inc. v. Apple Corps Lt

Plaintiff Apple Corps filed this action on July 2003 in the High Court of Justice, Chancery Divisim London alleging that the Company
has breached a 1991 agreement that resolved deatiemark litigation between the parties regardisg of certain Apple marks. Plaintiff
seeks an injunction, unspecified damages, and ogfief. The Company filed a motion on October 2303, challenging jurisdiction in the
U.K. The Court denied this motion on April 7, 2004e Company filed an appeal of the Court’s deai&iot subsequently withdrew the
appeal. In November 2004, Plaintiff served the Canypwith an Amended Bill of Particulars and on Daber 23, 2004 the Company filed a
Defence. Plaintiff has indicated its intention ile i Re-Amended Bill of Particulars. The Compariy&fence to the Re-Amended Bill of
Particulars is not yet due. Trial is set for theewef March 27, 2006.

On October 8, 2003, the Company filed a lawsuifregapple Corps in the United States District Gdar the Northern District of Californi
requesting a declaratory judgment that the Combaisynot breached the 1991 agreement. Apple Cogleiefed jurisdiction in the
California case but the Court denied that challemy®arch 25, 2004. Apple Corps subsequently ptegan a motion to stay the California
case during the pendency of the U.K. action. Them@any has dismissed the California lawsuit withmejudice.

Bader v. Anderson; Bader v. Apple Computer, Incale

Plaintiff filed this purported shareholder derivatiaction against the Company and each of its suexeecutive officers and members of its
Board of Directors on May 19, 2005 in Santa Claoai@y Superior Court asserting claims for breachicafciary duty, material misstateme
and omissions, and violations of California Bussessand Professions Code §17200 (unfair compétitidaintiff alleges that the Company’s
March 14, 2005 proxy statement was false and nasigafor failure to disclose certain informatioraténg to the Apple Computer, Inc.
Performance Bonus Plan which was approved by sbhtets at the annual meeting held on April 21, 2@04&intiff, who ostensibly brings
suit on the Company'’s behalf, has made no demantdeoBoard of Directors and alleges that such denmexcused. Plaintiff seeks
injunctive and other relief for purported injuryttee Company. On July 27, 2005, Plaintiff filedamended complaint alleging that, in
addition to the purported derivative clainasloption of the bonus plan and distribution of ihexy statement describing that plan also infli
injury on her
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directly as an individual shareholder. Defendaitésifa demurrer which is scheduled to be heard ecehber 6, 2005.

Baghdasarian, et al. v. Apple Computer, |

Plaintiffs filed this action in Los Angeles Couryiperior Court on October 31, 2005, on behalf pfigoorted nationwide class of all
purchasers of all Apple wireless products (routesdem, or adaptor) sold at any time. The compklieges that the Company misreprese
the transmission rates of these products. The aintplleges causes of action for breach of expeessanty and for violations of the
Consumer Legal Remedies Act, California Businedar&fessions Code §17200 (unfair competition) anlif@@aia Business & Professions
Code 817500 (false advertising). The complaint selsinages and equitable remedies. The Companysnss to the complaint is not yet
due.

Branning et al. v. Apple Computer, Ir

Plaintiffs filed this purported class action in Sarancisco County Superior Court on February 19520he complaint alleges violations of
California Business & Professions Code §17200 (uefampetition) and violation of the Consumer LeBaimedies Act (CLRA) regarding a
variety of purportedly unfair and unlawful condirtluding, but not limited to, allegedly sellingagscomputers as new and failing to honor
warranties. Plantiffs also bring causes of actmmmiisappropriation of trade secrets, breach ofrach and violation of the Song Beverly A
Plaintiffs request unspecified damages and othiefr@he Company received service of the complamtMarch 12, 2005, and on March 13,
2005 the Company filed a motion to transfer theedasSanta Clara County Superior Court. On May0®52 the Court granted the motion ¢
transferred the case to Santa Clara County Sup@dart. On May 2, 2005, Plaintiffs filed an amendednplaint adding two new named
Plaintiffs and three new causes of action includirgaim for treble damages under the Cartwrigtt(8alifornia Business and Professions
Code 816700 et seq.) and a claim for false adusgtiThe Company filed a demurrer to the amendadptaint which the Court sustained in
its entirety on November 10, 2005. The Court gramkintiffs leave to amend their complaint.

Burrow v. Apple Computer, In

Plaintiff filed this purported class action in OgenCounty Superior Court on February 17, 2005 adtetplse advertising regarding the copy
protection capabilities of DVD Studio Pro. The Cdaimpt alleged violations of California Business &oRessions Code §17200 (unfair
competition), California Business & Professions €8d7500 (false advertising) and negligent misisgmeation. Plaintiff requested
unspecified damages and other relief. The Compitety dn answer on April 7, 2005 denying all allégas and asserting numerous
affirmative defenses. The parties have reachedtlarsent. Settlement of this matter did not haveaderial effect on the Company’s financial
position or results of operation.

Butzer, et al., v. Apple Computer, i

Plaintiffs filed this action on August 23, 2005 tire United States District Court for the North&istrict of California, San Jose Division, on
behalf of a purported nationwide class of all pas#rs of the Compars/PowerBook G4 portable computers. The complaiagas defects i
the memory of the computers. The complaint alleégesthis purported defect extends to other seri¢se Company’s portables and states
that plaintiffs reserve the right to amend the claimp to include these other series. Plaintiffseaisslaims for alleged violations of California
Business & Professions Code 817200 (unfair conipejitCalifornia Business & Professions Code §1788&e advertising), the Consumer
Legal Remedies Act and the Song-Beverly Consumarality Act. The complaint seeks remedies includsditution and/or damages and
injunctive relief. The Company filed an answer oct@der 19, 2005 denying the material allegatiordsa@sserting numerous affirmative
defenses.
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Cagney v. Apple Computer, Inc.

Plaintiff filed this purported class action on Janu9, 2004 in Los Angeles County Superior Couleging improper collection of sales tax in
transactions involving mail-in rebates. The comptlaileges violations of California Business andf@ssions Code 817200 (unfair
competition) and seeks restitution and other relibe Company filed an answer on February 20, 266Aying all allegations and asserting
numerous affirmative defenses. The Company filetbtion to disqualify Plaintiff’'s counsel, which ti@ourt denied. The Company filed a
petition for a writ of mandate with respect to thiting and the Court of Appeal issued an ordesttow cause as to why the writ should not
issue. Plaintiff's lead counsel subsequently wighdrOn February 17, 2005 the Court of Appeal riked the trial court abused its discretion
in failing to grant the Company’s motion to disgfyand ordered the trial court to disqualify bathPlaintiff's law firms upon remand. The
trial court issued the disqualification order onyMi22, 2005. On May 9, 2005 Plaintiff substitutedvrmounsel. The Company has obtained an
opinion on the tax issue from the State Board afdtigation. Discovery is stayed.

Clark v. Apple Computer, Inc.

Plaintiff filed this purported class action on Redry 2, 2005 in Santa Clara County Superior Cdlegmg defects in the Company’s “yo-yo”
power adapters. Plaintiffs request unspecified dgwand other relief. The parties reached a tgptagttlement in this matter. The Court
granted preliminary approval of the settlement qmilAL9, 2005. On November 29, 2005, the Court icrtd the hearing on final settlement
approval until January 10, 2006, when all claim ave been received and completely processededadant claim information has been
reported to the Court. Settlement of this mattettenterms preliminarily approved by the Court wiilit have a material effect on the
Company’s financial position or results of opemtio

Compression Labs, Inc. v. Apple Computer, Inca).eApple v. Compression Labs, Inc., et al.

Plaintiff Compression Labs, Inc. filed this patérftingement action on April 22, 2004 against thengpany and twenty-seven other
defendants in the United States District Courtti@r Eastern District of Texas, Marshall Divisioleging infringement of U.S. patent
4,698,672 (the ‘672 patent). Plaintiff alleges thet Company infringes the patent by complying whth JPEG standard as defined by CCITT
Recommendation T.81 entitled “Information TechnglegDigital Compression and Coding of Continuous T&tid Images—Requirements
and Guidelines.” Plaintiff seeks unspecified dansaged other relief.

On July 2, 2004, the Company and several othendefes in the Texas action filed a lawsuit in theteéd States District Court in Delaware
against Compression Labs, Inc. and two other coreparequesting a declaratory judgment of nonigfment, invalidity, implied license,
and unenforceability with respect to the ‘672 pat&dlditional actions regarding this patent haverbled in other jurisdictions. On
February 16, 2005, the Panel on Multi-District gétion (MDL) granted a petition filed by certainfeledants, seeking coordination and
transfer of all of these cases to one court fortpaé proceedings. The MDL Panel has transferiedfahe cases to the Northern District of
California. The defendants in the Texas and Delavaations had filed motions to dismiss prior totilaasfer and both motions are still
pending. A Markman hearing is set for February2l®)6.

Contois Music Technology LLC v. Apple Computer, Inc

Plaintiff Contois Music Technology (“Contois”) fifkthis action on June 13, 2005 in the United StRistict Court for Vermont, alleging
infringement by the Company of U.S. Patent No. 8,868, entitled “Computer Control System and Usérface for Media Playing
Devices.” The complaint, which was served on Oateh005, seeks unspecified damages and othef.rEhie Company filed an answer on
November 23, 2005 denying all material allegatiand asserting numerous affirmative defen
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Craft v. Apple Computer, Ind(filed December 23, 2003, Santa Clara County Sop€ourt); Chin v. Apple Computer, Infiled

December 23, 2003, San Mateo County Superior Cddughes v. Apple Computer, Ir{filed December 23, 2003, Santa Clara County
Superior Court)Westley v. Apple Computer, Irfiled December 26, 2003, San Francisco County Baip€ourt); Keegan v. Apple
Computer, Inc(filed December 30, 2003, Alameda County Superiour®; Wagya v. Apple Computer, Infiled February 19, 2004,
Alameda County Superior Courtyamin v. Apple Computer, Indiled February 24, 2004, Los Angeles County Supetiourt);Kieta v.
Apple Computer, Inc(filed July 8, 2004, Alameda County Superior Court)

Eight separate plaintiffs filed purported clasd@ttases in various California courts allegingnepsesentations by the Company relative to
iPod battery life. The complaints include causeadtion for violation of California Business andféissions Code 817200 (unfair
competition), the Consumer Legal Remedies Actiath@aims for false advertising, fraudulent conceattmand breach of warranty. The
complaints seek unspecified damages and othef.r€lie cases were consolidated in San Mateo CaamdyPlaintiffs thereafter filed a
consolidated complaint. On August 25, 2004, the gamy filed an answer denying all allegations arsdesg numerous affirmative
defenses. The parties reached a tentative settteandrthe Court granted preliminary approval ofshtlement on May 20, 2005. The trial
court entered an order granting final approvahmgettlement on August 25, 2005. An appeal chgilhgnthe trial court’s approval of the
settlement was filed on October 24, 2005; the dppgrending. Settlement of this matter on the teapproved by the Court will not have a
material effect on the Company’s financial posit@rresults of operations.

A similar complaint relative to iPod battery lifiglosley v. Apple Computer, In@as filed in Westchester County, New York on JuRe2004
alleging violations of New York General Business\L8ections 349 (unfair competition) and 350 (faldeertising). The Company removed
the case to Federal Court and Plaintiff filed aiorofor remand, which the Court has not yet decidédus case is stayed and is part of the
settlement, now on appeal, referred to above.

A similar complaint related to the iPod batterglifenzi v. Apple Canada, Incwas filed in Montreal, Quebec, Canada, on Jur&®as,
seeking authorization to institute a class actioehalf of Generations 1, 2 and 3 iPod ownerstiahi@c. A class certification hearing has
been scheduled for January 12, 2006.

Two similar complaints relative to iPod battere|i¥Volfe v. ApplendHirst v. Apple, were filed in Toronto, Ontario, Canada on AudList
2005 and September 12, 2005, respectively. Boibrextlefine the class as a national class congisfimll persons in Canada who have
purchased or who own an iPod. A motion for cerdifion of the class proceeding has been schedutetdd&spring of 2006.

Davis v. Apple Computer, In

Plaintiff filed this purported class action in Sarancisco County Superior Court on December 5, 2802ging that the Company engaged in
unfair and deceptive business practices relatiritp tAppleCare Extended Service and Warranty ARaintiff asserts causes of action for
violation of the California Business and Professi@uode §17200 (unfair competition) and 817500 é¢faldvertising), breach of the Song-
Beverly Warranty Act, intentional misrepresentat&ond concealment. Plaintiff requests unspecifiedatges and other relief. The Company
filed a demurrer and motion to strike which werarged, in part, and Plaintiff filed an amended ctzamp. The Company filed an answer on
April 17, 2003 denying all allegations and assertimmerous affirmative defenses. Plaintiff subsajyemended its complaint. On

October 29, 2003, the Company filed a motion tgulidify Plaintiff’s counsel in his role as counseltthe purported class and to the general
public. The Court granted the motion but allowedififf to retain substitute counsel. Plaintiff dddgage new counsel for the general public,
but not for the class. The Company moved to distyuBlaintiff's new counsel and to have the Coudndiss the general public claims for
equitable relief. The Court declined to disquakfaintiff' s new counsel or to dismiss the equitable claimsdldl confirm that the class acti
claims are dismissed. The Company appealed thagrald the case was stayed pending the outcorhe afipeal. The Court of Appeal
denied the appeal
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on August 17, 2005, affirming the trial cowrtlecision. The Company filed a Petition for revigith the California Supreme Court which v
denied on November 23, 2005.

European Commission Investigati

The European Commission has notified the Compaayitls investigating certain matters relatinghe iTunes Music Store in the European
Union (EU). The European Commission is investigatttaims made by Which?, a United Kingdom (UK) agngr association, that the
Company is violating EU competition law by chargimgre for online music in the UK than in Eurozoweiatries and preventing UK
consumers from purchasing online music from the&uMusic Store for Eurozone countries. The Whatais were originally lodged with
the UK Office of Fair Trading, which subsequentyarred them to the European Commission. The Earm@mmission is investigating the
charges under Articles 81 and 82 of the Europeanr@lission Treaty.

Gobeli Research Ltd. v. Apple Computer, Inc., et al

Plaintiff Gobeli Research Ltd. filed this patenfringement action against the Company and Sun Mi@t@ms, Inc. on April 15, 2004 in the
United States District Court for the Eastern Dgdtaf Texas, Marshall Division, alleging infringemenf U.S. patent 5,418,968 related to a
“System and Method of Controlling Interrupt Prodegs’ Plaintiff alleges that the Company’s Mac O&r&l Mac OS X operating systems
infringe Plaintiff's patent. Plaintiff seeks unsjfeed damages and other relief. The Company fileGaswer on June 9, 2004, denying all
material allegations and asserting numerous affisalefenses. The Company also asserted courtesctaquesting declaratory judgmen
non-infringement and invalidity. A Markman hearitogpk place August 9, 2005, and the Court issuadiag on August 26, 2005 invalidating
one of Plantiff's two claims. On October 18, 2085 tipulation entered into by the parties was filmtioving Mac OS 9 from the case. The
trial is scheduled for February 6, 2006.

Goldberg, et al. v. Apple Computer, Inc., et ak.é. “Dan v. Apple Computer, Inc.”)

Plaintiffs filed this purported class action on &epber 22, 2003 in Los Angeles County Superior €Cagainst the Company and other
members of the computer industry on behalf of &gabl nationwide class of purchasers of certainpeder hard drives. The case alleges
violations of California Business and Professionsl€817200 (unfair competition), the Consumer L&mhedies Act and false advertising
related to the size of the drives. Plaintiffs aflégat calculation of hard drive size using theidat method misrepresents the actual size o
drive. The complaint seeks restitution and othkefrePlaintiff filed an amended complaint on Mar&@, 2004 and the Company filed an
answer on September 23, 2004, denying all allegsittmd asserting numerous affirmative defense®ridehts filed a motion to strike
portions of the complaint based on sales by resedled filed a motion for judgment on the pleadihgsed upon Proposition 64. The Court
granted both motions at a hearing on April 6, 20¥4&intiff filed an amended complaint on May 6, 30The Defendants filed a demurrer on
June 6, 2005, which was heard on August 22, 2068.Court granted the demurrer in part and deniedgart. Plaintiff filed an amended
complaint. The Company’s response is not yet due.

Honeywell International, Inc., et al. v. Apple Cantgr, Inc., et al

Plaintiffs Honeywell International, Inc. and Honesthntellectual Properties, Inc. filed this action October 6, 2004 in the United States
District Court in Delaware alleging infringement the Company and other defendants of U.S. pat@805371 entitled “Directional Diffuser
for a Liquid Crystal Display.” Plaintiffs seek urespified damages and other relief. The Company fileénswer on December 21, 2004
denying all material allegations and asserting mone affirmative defenses. The Company has tendbeedase to several suppliers. On
May 18, 2005 the Court stayed the case againsTdnepany and the other supplier defendants. Plaritiéfd an amended complaint on
November 7, 2005 adding additional defendants apdreding the scope of the accused products. Ghestay, the Compa’s response to
the amended complaint is not yet due.
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MacTech Systems v. Apple Computer, Inc.; Macadakpple Computer, Inc.; Computer International, ImcApple Computer, Inc.; Elit
Computers and Software, Inc. v. Apple Computer; Iffee Neighborhood Computer Store v. Apple Commplrte. MacAccessory Center, Ir

v. Apple Computer, Inc.; MacAccessory Center, Wné&pple Computer, In€all in Santa Clara County Superior Court)

Six resellers have filed similar lawsuits agaim& €ompany for various causes of action includiregbh of contract, fraud, negligent and
intentional interference with economic relationshipgligent misrepresentation, trade libel, unéaimpetition and false advertising. Plaintiffs
request unspecified damages and other relief. Tdmpany answered the Computer International comipdeirNovember 12, 2003, denying
all allegations and asserting numerous affirmatiefenses. The Company filed an answer in the Macadese on December 3, 2004 denying
all allegations and asserting numerous defenseseTdf the other plaintiffs filed amended complgioh February 7, 2005, and on March 16,
2005 the Company filed answers to these claimsidgrall allegations and asserting numerous affimeatefenses. A sixth Plaintiff,
MacAccessory Center, filed a complaint on Febr2gy2005. The Company filed an answer to this campbn April 20, 2005 denying all
allegations and asserting numerous affirmativertsfe. These cases are in discovery.

On October 1, 2003, one of the reseller PlaintNfacadam, was deauthorized as an Apple resellecatlam filed a motion for a temporary
order to reinstate it as a reseller, which the €denied. The Court denied Macadam’s motion foradiminary injunction on December 19,
2003. On December 6, 2004 Macadam filed for ChateBankruptcy in the Northern District of Califemnwhich placed a stay on the
litigation as to Macadam only. The Company filedam in the bankruptcy proceedings on February2085. The Company took
Macadam'’s debtor examination in April 2005. The @amy, joined by another creditor of Macadam, féeghotion to convert the bankruptcy
to Chapter 7 (liquidation) on April 29, 2005 andtimotion was granted. Plantiffs’ counsel in folithee six other reseller cases, was recently
appointed litigation counsel for the Macadam Estgtéhe bankruptcy court. The Company has movedeoonsideration of that decision.

Premier International Associates LLC v. Apple Cotepunc.

Plaintiff Premier International Associates LLC (fiier) filed this action on November 3, 2005 in thaited States District Court for the
Eastern District of Texas, Marshall Division, alleginfringement by the Company of U.S. Patentg8,225 and 6,763,345 both entitled
“List Building System.” The complaint seeks unsfiied damages and other relief. The Company’s respasinot yet due.

Slattery v. Apple Computer, Inc.

Plaintiff filed this purported class action on Janu3, 2005 in the United States District Courttfoe Northern District of California alleging
various claims including alleged unlawful tyingratisic purchased on the iTunes Music Store wittptirehase of iPods and vice versa and
unlawful acquisition or maintenance of monopoly kedmpower. Plaintiff's complaint alleged violation881 and 2 of the Sherman Act (15
U.S.C. 8§81 and 2), California Business and ProfessCode 816700 et seq. (the Cartwright Act), Galifi Business and Professions Code
817200 (unfair competition), common law unjust enment and common law monopolization. Plaintiffkeeenspecified damages and other
relief. The Company filed a motion to dismiss omfegary 10, 2005. On September 9, 2005, the Coumiedethe motion in part and granted it
in part. Plaintiff fled an amended complaint orp&enber 23, 2005 and the Company filed an answé¥ataber 11, 2005. The case is in
discovery.

Stamm v. Apple Computer, Inc./Allen v. Apple Coerplrc.

Plaintiff Stamm filed a purported class action covBmber 12, 2004 in Circuit Court, Cook Countyinbis alleging that a defect in Apple’s
17-inch Studio Display monitors results in dimmisfchalf of the screen and constant blinking of plogver light. The Company removed the
case to Federal Court on December 22, 2004. Thet @Gouanded it to State Court on March 22, 200Pantiff's motion. The Company
had filed a motion to dismiss on January 27, 208&wwas taken off calendar due to the
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remand. On January 28, 2005 a second plaintifgrAlfiled a purported nationwide class action is Bmgeles Superior Court alleging
identical claims. Plaintiff Stamm dismissed then@tacase on September 2, 2005. An amended compiaimt Allen case was filed on
October 24, 2005, adding additional named plamtifid expanding the alleged class to include peerbaf the 20-inch Apple Cinema
Display and the 23-inch Apple Cinema HD Displaye®mended complaint alleges that the displays agaported defect that causes
dimming of one-half of the screen, and that the Gany misrepresented the quality of the displaysarmbncealed the purported defect.
Plaintiffs assert claims under California Busin&s8rofessions Code 817200 (unfair competition);if0atia Business & Professions Code
817500 (false advertising) and the Consumer Legat&lies Act. The amended complaint seeks remeuikaling damages and equitable
relief. On November 14, 2005, the Company filechaswer to the amended complaint as to the allagatiegarding the lifch display and
demurrer/motion to strike as to the allegationsarding the 20-inch and 23-inch displays on the gdothat plaintiffs failed to allege that they
purchased those displays. At a status conferen®ddwamber 21, 2005, the Court ordered Plantiffartend their complaint. The Company’s
demurrer is off calendar pending this amendment.

St-Germain v. Apple Canada, Inc.

Plaintiff filed this case in Montreal, Quebec, Cdaaon August 5, 2005, seeking authorization tttirte a class action for the refund by the
Company of the Canadian Private Copying Levy thas applied to the iPod purchase price in Queberedsst December 12, 2003 and
December 14, 2004 but later declared invalid byGhaadian Court. A class certification hearingcisesluled for January 13, 2006. The
Company has already begun a refund program fotetis

Teleshuttle Technologies, LLC and BTG Internatidnal v. Microsoft and Apple Computer, Inc.

Plaintiffs filed this case on July 20, 2004 in WnitStates District Court for the Northern Disto€tCalifornia alleging infringement of U.S.
patent 6,557,054, entitled “Method and System fistributing Updates by Presenting Directory of Saiite Available for User Installation
That is Not Already Installed on User Station.”iRtdfs filed an amended complaint on Septembe200Q4, adding a second patent, U.S.
patent 6,769,009 entitled “Method and System fde@mg a Personalized Set of Information Chanhé&lintiffs seek unspecified damages
and other relief. The Company filed an answer otolder 18, 2004, denying all material allegationd asserting numerous affirmative
defenses. On August 22, 2005, the Company fileginaended answer to add charges of inequitable caritlue case is in discovery.
Markman briefing is completed. A technology tutbdad Markman hearing are tentatively scheduledéoary 13, 20, and 27, 2006.

Tiger Direct, Inc. v. Apple Computer, Inc.

Plaintiff Tiger Direct, Inc. filed this trademarkfringement action in the United States Districu@dor the Southern District of Florida on
April 26, 2005 alleging infringement of the word rk@ IGER. Plaintiff claims to have a valid regigtom in the mark TIGER and alleges that
the Company’s use of TIGER in reference to thestatersion of Mac OS X infringes the mark allegealyned by Plaintiff. Plaintiff
attempted to obtain an ex parte preliminary injioxcbarring the Company’s use of the TIGER markipnil 27, 2005 but the motion was
denied. Plaintiff served the Company on April 2002 and again moved for a preliminary injunctiolaififf’s motion was heard on May 3,
2005. On May 11, 2005, the Court denied Plaintiffistion. The Company filed a response to the comiptan May 17, 2005, denying all
material allegations and asserting counterclaimsdocellation of certain marks registered to Tiggect. On June 10, 2005, Plaintiff filed
appeal, but subsequently withdrew it. Plaintiféflla response to the Company’s counterclaims. @heep have reached a settlement.
Settlement of this matter did not have a mateffalce on the Company’s financial position or resudf operation.
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Tse v. Apple Computer, Inc. et al.

Plaintiff Ho Keung Tse filed this action againse tBompany and other defendants on August 5, 200%eib/nited States District Court for 1
District of Maryland alleging infringement by the@pany of U.S. Patent 6,665,797 entitled “ProtectibSoftware Again [sic] Against
Unauthorized Use.” The complaint seeks unspecdetages and other relief. The Company filed an answ October 31, 2005 denying all
material allegations and asserting numerous affismalefenses. On October 28, 2005, the Companytendther defendants filed a motion
to transfer the case to the Northern District olifGania.

Wimmer v. Apple Computer, In@riginally filed asTomczak v. Apple Computer, I October 19, 2005 in the United States Districtid
for the Northern District of California, San JoseviBion; amended complaint filed October 26, 200M)pschella, et al., v. Apg
Computer, Inc(filed October 26, 2005 United States District Qdar the Northern District of California, San Jd3®ision); Calado, et al. \
Apple Computer, Inc(filed October 26, 2005, Los Angeles County Supe@ourt); Kahan, et al., v. Apple Computer, Ir{iled October 31
2005, United States District Court for the SouthBistrict of New York);Jennings, et al., v. Apple Computer, Iffded November 4, 200
United States District Court for the Northern Dittiof California, San Jose Division).

These federal and state court complaints allegettieaCompany’s iPod nano was defectively desigrtethat it scratches excessively during
normal use which renders the screen unreadableWiimener and Moschella actions were brought on Hedfgdurported nationwide classes
of iPod nano purchasers, with the exception off@alia purchasers, and allege violations of thescomer protection, express and implied
warranty statutes of each state covered by thdipetelass definition, as well as negligent misesgntation and unjust enrichment under the
common laws of these jurisdictions. The Caladooactias brought on behalf of a purported Califoci#ess of iPod nano purchasers and
asserts claims for alleged violation of CaliforBiasiness & Professions Code §17200 (unfair comeajitCalifornia Business & Professions
Code 817500 (false advertising), the Consumer LRgahedies Act, breaches of express and impliedantes, negligent misrepresentation
and unjust enrichment. The Jennings action wag @lebehalf of a purported class of all iPod nancipasers outside of the United States,
based upon alleged violations of the same Califostatutes as in the Calado complaint. The Kahorawas brought on behalf of a
purported New York class of iPod hano purchasedsatieges claims under the New York unfair compmtitaw, breach of express warranty
and unjust enrichment. The complaints seek damagegsarious other remedies. The Company’s respdasbsese complaints are not yet
due.

Two similar complaintsCarpentier v. Apple Canada, IncandRoyer- Brennan v. Apple Computer, Inc. and Appleada, Inc.were filed in
Montreal, Quebec, Canada, on October 27, 2005 awvember 9, 2005, respectively, seeking authorimatianstitute a class action on behalf
of iPod nano purchasers in Quebec.

Union Federale des Consummateurs—Que Choisir vieAppmputer France S.A.R.L. and iTunes S.A.R.L.

Plaintiff, a consumer association in France, filéid complaint on February 9, 2005 alleging thatéhtities above are violating consumer law
by 1) omitting to mention that the iPod is allegedbt compatible with music from online music sees other than the iTunes Music Store
and that the music from the iTunes Music Storenly coompatible with the iPod and 2) allegedly tyihg sales of iPods to the iTunes Music
Store and vice versa. Plaintiff seeks damageshatijue relief and other relief. The first hearing the case took place on May 24, 2005. The
Company’s response to the complaint was servedaweiber 8, 2005.

Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Securitydolders
No matters were submitted to a vote of securitglérd during the fourth quarter of the Comy’s fiscal year ended September 24, 2005.
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PART Il
Item 5. Market for the Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Shareholder Matters and Issuer Purchases &quity Securities
(@) Stock Market Information

The Company’s common stock is traded on the overetiunter market and is quoted on the NASDAQ Natidmarket under the symbol
AAPL and on the Frankfurt Stock Exchange undersgrabol APCD. In December 2004, the Company deliggeshares from trading on the
Tokyo Stock Exchange. As of November 18, 2005 ghegre 28,333 shareholders of record.

The Company did not pay cash dividends in eith@528r 2004. The Company anticipates that, for thedeeable future, it will retain any
earnings for use in the operation of its busin€hs. price range per share of common stock presémtiedv represents the highest and lowest
closing prices for the Company’s common stock eanNIASDAQ National Market during each quarter.

On February 28, 2005, the Company effected a twapii@ stock split to shareholders of record asetifr&ary 18, 2005. All share and per
share information has been retroactively adjusteéflect the stock split.

Fourth Quarter Third Quarter Second Quarter First Quarter
Fiscal 2005 price range per common
share $53.2(-$36.37 $43.74$34.1F $45.0¢-$31.58 $34.22-$18.65
Fiscal 2004 price range per common
share $19.0(-$14.57 $16.85-$12.8¢ $13.84$10.57 $12.41-$ 9.85

(b) Related Shareholder Matters

None.

(c) Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

None.
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Item 6. Selected Financial Data

The following selected financial information hashelerived from the audited consolidated finansialements. The information set forth
below is not necessarily indicative of resultswtfife operations, and should be read in conjunetitin ltem 7, “Management’s Discussion
and Analysis of Financial Condition and Result©gpkrations” and the consolidated financial stateémand related notes thereto included in
Item 8 of this Form 10-K in order to fully undenstifactors that may affect the comparability of ithfermation presented below.

Five fiscal years ended September 24, 20

(In millions, except share and per share amot 2005 2004 2003 2002 2001
Net sales $ 13931 $ 827 $ 6,207 $ 574z $ 5,362
Net income (loss $ 133 $ 276 $ 69 $ 65 $ (25)
Earnings (loss) per common she

Basic $ 165 $ 037 $ 01C $ 009 $ (0.09

Diluted $ 156 $ 036 $ 00 $ 009 $ (0.09
Cash dividends declared per common sl $ — 8 — $ — $ — $ —
Shares used in computing earnings (loss) per sh

(in thousands)

Basic 808,43¢ 743,18( 721,26z 710,044 691,22¢

Diluted 856,78( 774,62z 726,93z 723,57C 691,22¢
Cash, cash equivalents, and s-term investment $ 8,261 $ 5464 $ 456€ $ 4,337 $ 4,33¢
Total asset $ 11,551 $ 8,05C $ 6,81t $ 6,29¢ $ 6,021
Long-term debt (including current maturitie $ — 8 — $ 304 $ 316 $ 317
Total liabilities $ 408 $ 2974 $ 259z $ 2,20 $ 2,101
Shareholder equity $ 7,46€ $ 507€ $ 4,22 $ 4,098 $ 3,92

Net gains before taxes related to the Com’s non-current debt and equity investments of $4ioni, $10 million, and $75 million were
recognized in 2004, 2003, and 2001, respectivelgeoss before taxes related to the Company’scoorent debt and equity investments of
$42 million was recognized in 2002. In 2002, thenpany acquired Emagic resulting in a charge of @gprately $1 million for acquired in-
process technologies with no alternative future ke Company recognized a similar charge of $1iomiin 2001 related to its acquisition
of PowerSchool. Net charges related to Companyugsiring actions of $23 million, $26 million, a880 million were recognized in 2004,
2003, and 2002, respectively. In 2003, settlemétii]mCompany’s forward stock purchase agreemesntitedd in a gain of $6 million. Net
income during 2005 benefited by $81 million frone tieversal of certain tax contingency reservesaalgstments to net deferred tax assets,
including reductions to valuation allowances. Fabbe cumulativesffect type adjustments from the adoption of newaoaating standards, r
of taxes, of $1 million and $12 million were recaggd in 2003 and 2001, respectively.

Item 7. Management'’s Discussion and Analysis of Famcial Condition and Results of Operations

This section and other parts of this Form 10-K eimforward-looking statements that involve risk&laincertainties. Forward-looking
statements can also be identified by words suclarscipates,” “expects,” “believes,” “plans,” “predicts,” and similar terms. Forward-
looking statements are not guarantees of futurégperance and the Company’s actual results mayrdiffmificantly from the results
discussed in the forward-looking statements. Factbat might cause such differences include, baitnat limited to, those discussed in the
subsection entitled “Factors That May Affect FutiResults and Financial Condition” below. The foliogy discussion should be read in
conjunction with the consolidated financial stateseand notes thereto included in Item 8 of thier@0K. All information presented here
is based on the Company’s fiscal
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calendar. The Company assumes no obligation tseewm update any forward-looking statements for i@@son, except as required by law.

Executive Overview

The Company designs, manufactures, and marketsrarsomputers and related software, servicesplperals, and networking solutions.
The Company also designs, develops, and markate afl portable digital music players along withated accessories and services including
the online distribution of third-party music, audiooks, music videos, short films, and televisibavgs. The Company’s products and
services include the Macintosh line of desktop aoigbook computers, the iPod digital music plagler,Xserve G5 server and Xserve RAID
storage products, a portfolio of consumer and pRifaal software applications, the Mac OS X opegasiystem, the iTunes Music Store, a
portfolio of peripherals that support and enhaheeMacintosh and iPod product lines, and a vaoéther service and support offerings.
The Company sells its products worldwide througloitline stores, its own retail stores, its disades force, and third-party wholesalers,
resellers, and value added resellers. In additt@yCompany sells a variety of third-party Macift@®mpatible products, including computer
printers and printing supplies, storage devicesymaer memory, digital camcorders and still camgpassonal digital assistants, and various
other computing products and supplies throughritgne and retail stores. The Company sells to etitucaconsumer, creative professional,
business, and government customers. A further igitiser of the Company’s products may be found int Rdtem 1 of this document under
the heading “Business.”

The Company’s business strategy leverages itd\gliirough the design and development of its oparating system, hardware, and many
software applications and technologies, to bringst@ustomers around the world compelling new potsl and solutions with superior ease-
of-use, seamless integration, and innovative indstesign.

The Company participates in several highly competitnarkets, including personal computers wittMeintosh line of computers, consur
electronics with its iPod line of digital music pls, and distribution of third-party digital contehrough its online iTunes Music Store.
While the Company is widely recognized as an intavia the personal computer and consumer eleatnmiairkets as well as a leader in the
emerging market for distribution of digital contetitese are all highly competitive markets thatsafigiect to aggressive pricing and increased
competition. To remain competitive, the Companydwels that increased investment in research anelgf@wnent (R&D) and marketing and
advertising is necessary to maintain and extengoigition in the markets where it competes. The gamyg’s R&D spending is focused on
delivering timely updates and enhancements taittirg line of personal computers, displays, opegasystems, software applications, and
portable music players; developing new digitaldifée consumer and professional software applinatiand investing in new product areas
such as rack-mount servers, RAID storage systemaswireless technologies. The Company also beliewesstment in marketing and
advertising programs is critical to increasing pctcand brand awareness.

In June 2005, the Company announced its plan tmhesing Intel microprocessors in its Macintosh poters. The Company plans to begin
shipping certain models with Intel microprocesdnysiune 2006 and to complete the transition abfalls Macintosh computers to Intel
microprocessors by the end of calendar year 200&teTare potential risks and uncertainties that atayr during this transition, which are
further discussed under the heading “Factors Tret Mfect Future Results and Financial Condition.”

The Company utilizes a variety of direct and indirdistribution channels. The Company believes $hts of its innovative and differentia
products are enhanced by knowledgeable salespardmmsan convey the value of the hardware, softwaard peripheral integration,
demonstrate the unique digital lifestyle solutitimat are available only on Macintosh computers, d@a@mdonstrate the compatibility of the
Macintosh with the Windows platform and networkheTCompany further believes that providing a
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high-quality sales and after-sales support expegés critical to attracting and retaining custosndio ensure a high-quality buying
experience for its products in which service andcation are emphasized, the Company has expandedproved its distribution
capabilities by opening its own retail stores ia thS. and internationally. The Company had 12restopen as of September 24, 2005.

The Company also staffs selected third-party stailsthe Company’s own employees to improve thgitgiexperience through reseller
channels. The Company has deployed Apple emplaymesontractors in reseller locations around thddnacluding the U.S., Europe,
Japan, and Australia. The Company also sells ttoomess directly through its online stores arourelwhorld.

To improve access to the iPod product line, the @amy has significantly expanded the number of ibistion points where iPods are sold.
The iPod product line can be purchased in certaratdment stores, member-only warehouse storgg fatail chains, and specialty retail
stores, as well as through the channels listedeabov

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

The preparation of financial statements and reldisclosures in conformity with U.S. generally guiesl accounting principles and the
Company’s discussion and analysis of its financ@adition and results of operations require the @amy’s management to make judgments,
assumptions, and estimates that affect the amogpdésted in its consolidated financial statements accompanying notes. Note 1 of the
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements offtbisn 1(-K describes the significant accounting policied arethods used in the
preparation of the Company’s consolidated finargialements. Management bases its estimates oni¢asexperience and on various other
assumptions it believes to be reasonable undagittiemstances, the results of which form the bfmsisnaking judgments about the carrying
values of assets and liabilities. Actual resulty miffer from these estimates and such differemoag be material.

Management believes the Compangtitical accounting policies and estimates aosédtrelated to revenue recognition, allowance éabtful
accounts, inventory valuation and inventory pureha@mmitments, warranty costs, and income taxesalgiament believes these policies to
be critical because they are both important tgpthrérayal of the Company’s financial condition aedults, and they require management to
make judgments and estimates about matters thatlaeently uncertain. The Company’s senior managgrhas reviewed these critical
accounting policies and related disclosures wighAbdit and Finance Committee of the Company’s BadDirectors.

Revenue Recognitic

Net sales consist primarily of revenue from the sdlhardware, software, peripherals, digital cofjtand service and support contracts.
Company recognizes revenue pursuant to applicaleuating standards, including Statement of Pasi®0P) No. 97-25oftware Revenue
Recognitior, as amended, and Securities and Exchange Commi{&#C) Staff Accounting Bulletin (SAB) No. 10Revenue Recognition.

The Company recognizes revenue when persuasivermgdf an arrangement exists, delivery has oatutine sales price is fixed or
determinable, and collection is probable. Prodsicbinsidered delivered to the customer once ibbas shipped, and title and risk of loss
have been transferred. For most of the Companydymt sales, these criteria are met at the timeith@uct is shipped. For online sales to
individuals, for some sales to education custoriretise U.S., and for certain other sales, the Camplefers revenue until the customer
receives the product because the Company legatinsea portion of the risk of loss on these sdlgng transit. If at the outset of an
arrangement the Company determines the arrangdaeeist not, or is presumed not to be, fixed or mheteable, revenue is deferred and
subsequently recognized as amounts become dueagablp.
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The Company records reductions to revenue for estéidhcommitments related to price protection angdstomer incentive programs,
including reseller and end-user rebates, and ailes programs and volurbased incentives. The estimated cost of these gmis accrue
as a reduction to revenue in the period the Compasysold the product and committed to the relepeogram. The Company also records
reductions to revenue for expected future prodeitirns based on the Company’s historical experidagieire market conditions and product
transitions may require the Company to increastoousr incentive programs and incur incrementaleppiotection obligations that could
result in additional reductions to revenue at thietsuch programs are offered. Additionally, cer@istomer incentive programs require
management to estimate the number of customersmithactually redeem the incentive based on his@rexperience and the specific terms
and conditions of particular incentive programsa treater than estimated proportion of custonezteem such incentives, the Company
would be required to record additional reductiansetvenue, which could have a material adverse émrathe Company’s results of
operations.

Allowance for Doubtful Accoun

The Company distributes its products through tipiagty resellers and directly to certain educat@msumer, and commercial customers. The
Company generally does not require collateral fitsngustomers. However, when possible the Compaeyg dttempt to limit credit risk on
trade receivables with credit insurance for certaistomers in Latin America, Europe, and Asia andirbanging with third-party financing
companies to provide flooring arrangements andrdtd@ and lease programs to the Company’s digstbeners. These credit-financing
arrangements are directly between the third-pamgnicing company and the end customer. As suctCtmepany generally does not assume
any recourse or credit risk sharing related to@frthese arrangements. However, considerable teamgvables that are not covered by
collateral, third-party flooring arrangements, ogdit insurance are outstanding with the Compadiggibution and retail channel partners.

The allowance for doubtful accounts is based onagament’s assessment of the collectibility of sjiecustomer accounts and includes
consideration of the credit worthiness and finanoiendition of those specific customers. The Comypatords an allowance to reduce the
specific receivables to the amount that is readgrizdieved to be collectible . The Company alsmwres an allowance for all other trade
receivables based on multiple factors includingonisal experience with bad debts, the general @eon environment, the financial condition
of the Company’s distribution channels, and the@@if such receivables. If there is a deterioratiba major customer’s financial condition,
if the Company becomes aware of additional inforamatelated to the credit worthiness of a majorteneer, or if future actual default rates
on trade receivables in general differ from thaseently anticipated, the Company may have to adjssllowance for doubtful accounts,
which would affect earnings in the period the atipents are made.

Inventory Valuation and Inventory Purchase Commitis

The Company must order components for its prodaietisbuild inventory in advance of product shipmefitee Company records a write-
down for inventories of components and productdpuiting third-party products held for resale, whidhve become obsolete or are in excess
of anticipated demand or net realizable value. Chmpany performs a detailed review of inventoryhefieral quarter that considers multiple
factors including demand forecasts, product lifeleytatus, product development plans, currensdalels, and component cost trends. The
personal computer and consumer electronic indgsatie subject to a rapid and unpredictable papeoafuct and component obsolescence
and demand changes. If future demand or marketitbomsi for the Company’s products are less favardban forecasted or if unforeseen
technological changes negatively impact the utdftgomponent inventory, the Company may be requioerecord additional write-downs
which would negatively affect gross margins in plegiod when the write-downs are recorded.
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The Company accrues necessary reserves for céaiarefiees related to component orders that hava baecelled. Consistent with industry
practice, the Company acquires components througimdination of purchase orders, supplier contraatd open orders based on projected
demand information. These commitments typicallyesdhhe Company’s requirements for periods rangiomf30 to 150 days. If there is an
abrupt and substantial decline in demand for omaare of the Company’s products or an unanticipatexhge in technological requirements
for any of the Company'’s products, the Company bwyequired to record additional reserves for cidatoen fees that would negatively
affect gross margins in the period when the caatieti fees are identified.

Warranty Costs

The Company provides currently for the estimatest ar product warranties at the time the relagagnue is recognized based on historical
and projected warranty claim rates, historical prajected cost-per-claim, and knowledge of spegifaduct failures that are outside of the
Company’s typical experience. Each quarter, the @om reevaluates its estimates to assess the agegjfuiés recorded warranty liabilities
considering the size of the installed base of petalaubject to warranty protection, and adjustsatheunts as necessary. If actual product
failure rates or repair costs differ from estimatesisions to the estimated warranty liability iebbe required and could negatively affect the
Company’s results of operations.

Income Taxe

The Company records a tax provision for the argigf tax consequences of the reported resultsesbiipns. In accordance with Statement
of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 188ounting for Income Taxeshe provision for income taxes is computed usihegasset
and liability method, under which deferred tax éss@d liabilities are recognized for the expedtadre tax consequences of temporary
differences between the financial reporting andiases of assets and liabilities, and for operdtisges and tax credit carryforwards.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measuried tise currently enacted tax rates that applhaxalble income in effect for the years in wt
those tax assets are expected to be realizedtlmds@the Company records a valuation allowanaedoice deferred tax assets to the amount
that is believed more likely than not to be realiZEhe Company is currently evaluating the repameprovisions of the American Jobs
Creation Act of 2004, which, if implemented by Bempany, would affect the Compasytax provision and deferred tax assets and liagsl

Management believes it is more likely than not foa¢casted income, including income that may breeggted as a result of certain tax
planning strategies, together with the tax effethe deferred tax liabilities, will be sufficietd fully recover the remaining deferred tax
assets. In the event that all or part of the nédrded tax assets are determined not to be redizalhe future, an adjustment to the valuation
allowance would be charged to earnings in the pgesich determination is made. Similarly, if the @amy subsequently realizes deferred
assets that were previously determined to be umnaddéd, the respective valuation allowance wouldeéwersed, resulting in a positive
adjustment to earnings or a decrease in goodwiliérperiod such determination is made. In additiba calculation of tax liabilities involves
significant judgment in estimating the impact otanainties in the application of complex tax laResolution of these uncertainties in a
manner inconsistent with management’s expectationkl have a material impact on the Company’s tesiiloperations and financial
position.
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Net Sales
Net sales and Macintosh unit sales by operatingieagand net sales and unit sales by product fdliet sales in millions and unit sales
thousands):

September 24 September 25 September 27
2005 Change 2004 Change 2003
Net Sales by Operating Segment:
Americas net sale $ 6,59C 64 % $4,01¢ 26 % $3,181
Europe net sale 3,073 71 % 1,799 37 % 1,309
Japan net sale 920 36 % 677 (3)% 698
Retail net sale 2,35C 98 % 1,185 91 % 621
Other Segments net sales (a) 998 67 % 599 51 % 398
Total net sales $13,931 68 % $8,27¢ 33 % $6,207
Unit Sales by Operating Segment:
Americas Macintosh unit sal 2,184 30 % 1,682 4 % 1,620
Europe Macintosh unit sal 1,138 47 % 773 13 % 684
Japan Macintosh unit sal 313 8 % 291 (14)% 339
Retail Macintosh unit sale 609 94 % 314 68 % 187
Other Segments Macintosh unit sales (a) 290 26 % 230 26 % 182
Total Macintosh unit sales 4,534 38 % 3,290 9 % 3,012
Net Sales by Product:
Desktops (b $ 3,43€ 45 % $2,372 (4)% $2,47¢
Portables (c) 2,83¢ 11 % 2,550 26 % 2,016
Total Macintosh net sales 6,275 27 % 4,923 10 % 4,491
iPod 4,54C 248 % 1,306 279 % 345
Other music related products and service: 899 223 % 278 672 % 36
Peripherals and other hardware 1,12€ 18 % 951 38 % 691
Software, service, and other sales (f) 1,091 33 % 821 27 % 644
Total net sales $13,931 68 % $8,27¢ 33 % $6,207
Unit Sales by Product:
Desktops (b 2,52C 55 % 1,625 (8)% 1,761
Portables (c) 2,014 21 % 1,665 33 % 1,251
Total Macintosh unit sales 4,534 38 % 3,290 9 % 3,012
Net sales per Macintosh unit sold (g) $ 1,384 (7)% $1,49€ 0 % $1,491
iPod unit sales 22,497 409 % 4,416 370 % 939
Net sales per iPod unit sold (h) $ 202 (32)% $ 296 (19)% $ 367

Notes:
(@) Other Segments include Asia Pacific aneiNfaker.

(b) Includes iMac, eMac, Mac mini, Power Mad atserve product lines.

(c) Includes iBook and PowerBook product lines

(d) Consists of iTunes Music Store sales, iBerdices, and Apple-branded and third-party iPagtssories.

(e) Includes sales of Apple-branded and thady displays, wireless connectivity and netwogksolutions, and other hardware accessories.
() Includes sales of Apple-branded operatipstem, application software, third-party softwakppleCare, and Internet services.

(g) Derived by dividing total Macintosh netesaby total Macintosh unit sales.

(h) Derived by dividing total iPod net salestbtal iPod unit sales.
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Fiscal Year 2005 versus 2004
During 2005, net sales increased 68% or $5.7 hifiiom 2004. Several factors contributed favorablyet sales during 2005:

Net sales of iPods rose $3.2 hillion or 248% du26§5 compared to 2004. Unit sales of iPods tota®# million in 2005, which
represents an increase of 409% from the 4.4 miikaa units sold in 2004. Strong sales of iPodsndu2005 continued to be
experienced in all of the Company’s operating sagsand was driven by strong demand for the iPodflshintroduced in

January 2005, the release of an updated versitredaPod mini in February 2005, the release ofiffoel nano in September 2005, and
expansion of the iPod’s distribution network . Nates per iPod unit sold decreased 32% primarigtduhe introduction of the lower
priced iPod shuffle in January 2005 and iPod miigipg reductions in February 2005. From the intrctibn of the iPod in 2002
through 2005, the Company has sold approximatelm@®n iPods.

Other music related products and services consigales associated with the iTunes Music Storeidad services and accessories.
Net sales of other music related products and eesvncreased $621 million or 223% during 2005 carmeg to 2004. The Company
has experienced strong growth in sales of iPodaeEs\and accessories consistent with the increasedrall iPod unit sales for 2005.
The increased sales from the iTunes Music Stopeinisarily due to substantial growth of net salethia U.S. and expansion in Euro
Canada, and Japan.

Total Macintosh net sales increased $1.4 billio2 %Y during 2005 compared to 2004. Unit sales ofiMash systems increased 1.2
million units or 38% during 2005 compared to 200de increases in Macintosh net sales and unit sal@ primarily to strong
demand for the Company’s desktop products, which exgerienced in all of the Company’s operatingreags. The Company
believes that the success of the iPod is havingséipe impact on Macintosh net sales by introdgaiew customers to the Compasy’
other products. Desktop demand was stimulated @ 2iie to the new iMac G5 and the introductiorhefilac mini in January 2005.
Net sales and unit sales of desktop products isetkd5% and 55%, respectively, during 2005 compar@2004. Macintosh net sales
and unit sales also include sales of the Comparsble products, which increased 11% and 21%gemively, compared to 2004.

Net sales per Macintosh unit sold decreased 7%y@aaover-year basis. The decrease was the mfsthanges in the overall unit
mix towards relatively lowepriced consumer products, specifically the impdd¢he Mac mini product, and desktop and portabieg
reductions. This decrease was partially offsetrinarease in the proportion of direct sales.

The Retail segment’s net sales grew 98% to $2libitluring 2005 compared to 2004. This increadarigely attributable to the
increase in total stores from 86 at the end of 200424 at the end of 2005, as well as 44% year-gear increase in average revenue
per store. While the Company’s customers in ardarevthe Retail segment has opened stores maytelegtchase from the Retall
segment stores rather than the Company’s preegistifes channels in the U.S., Canada, Japan, andlith, the Company believes
that a substantial portion of the Retail segmem¢'ssales is incremental to the Company’s totabakts. See additional comments
below related to the Retail segment under the hgdtBegment Operating Performance.”

Net sales of peripherals and other hardware rose8ly during 2005 compared to 2004 primarily duartdncrease in net sales of
displays and other computer accessories. Net ehtdber hardware include AirPort cards and baatosts, Xserve RAID storage,
iSight digital video cameras, and third-party haadevproducts.

The Company’s U.S. education channel experiencadgeer-year growth in both net sales and unitssafeapproximately 21% for
2005. The increase in U.S. education net sale2d05 relates
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primarily to a 32% year-over-year increase in higiucation net sales due to increased iMac shitsnpartable system shipments,
and online sales. The Company also experienceddtd®ah in K-12 net sales due to increased iBooksahd education 1:1 sales.
While net sales to the K-12 market were slightighar during 2005 than 2004, the Company believiesitiarket continues to be
subject to budget constraints and competitive press

Net sales of software, service and other sales$®8@ million or 33% during 2005 compared to 20Ddis growth was primarily
attributable to increased net sales in AppleCaoteletion Plan (APP) extended service and suppaitracts, driven primarily by
higher associated Macintosh computer sales. Additip, the Company experienced increases in ness#l.Mac Internet service,
professional and consumer applications, third-psofijware, and Mac OS X that was primarily attrédlé to the release of version
10.4 Tiger in April 2005.

Fiscal Year 2004 versus 2003
During 2004, net sales increased 33% or $2.1 hifiiom 2003. Several factors contributed favorablyet sales during 2004:

Net sales of Macintosh systems increased $432omitir 10% during 2004 compared to 2003 while nietssper Macintosh unit sold
remained relatively flat on a year-over-year badisit sales of Macintosh systems increased 278,008 or 9% during 2004
compared to 2003. These increases in net salegrainshles were a result of strong demand forfathe Company’s Macintosh
systems, except the iMac. The Company’s portatseesys, consisting of the PowerBook and iBook, pecedithe strongest revenue
and unit growth during 2004 compared to 2003 offagmately 26% and 33%, respectively. Unit salepartable systems accounted
for 51% of all Macintosh systems sold during 200pared to only 42% during 2003. The Company befidhat these results
reflected an overall trend in the industry towapdstable systems. Performance of the Company’s Pblaeintosh systems also
yielded positive results in 2004 over 2003, inchgda 15% and 6% increase in net sales and ung,safpectively. The increase in
Power Macintosh sales in 2004 was due primarilhéointroduction of the Power Mac G5, which bedaipging at the end of 2003.
Although Power Macintosh sales increased from 288al&s of this product were constrained in the me¢@lf of 2004 as a result of
manufacturing problems at IBM, the Company’s soigpdier of the PowerPC G5 processor.

Net sales of iPods rose $961 million or 279% duéf§4 compared to 2003. Unit sales of iPods totdlédnillion in 2004, which
represents an increase of 370% from the 939,00 ulAis sold in 2003. Strong demand for the iPadind 2004 were experienced
all of the Company’s operating segments and wagdrby enhancements to the iPod, the introductidheoiPod mini, increased
expansion of the Company’s iPod distribution nekyand continued success of the iTunes Music Stoeclargely to making it
available to both Macintosh and Windows users @uhS., U.K., France, and Germany.

The Retail segment’s net sales grew 91% to $1lmitluring 2004 compared to 2003. This increass laggyely attributable to the
increase in total stores from 65 at the end of 2008 at the end of 2004, as well as a 36% year-ggar increase in average revenue
per store. While the Company’s customers in ardar@vthe Retail segment has opened stores mayelented to purchase from the
Retail segment stores rather than the Company&xjsting sales channels in the U.S. and JaparCdingpany believes that a
substantial portion of the Retail segment’s ne¢séd incremental to the Company’s total net s&les. additional comments below
related to the Retail segment under the headingrtfeéat Operating Performance.”

Net sales of peripherals and other hardware ro8bYy during 2004 compared to 2003 primarily duaridncrease in net sales of
displays and other computer accessories. Net elwber
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computer accessories include AirPort cards and $tasiens, iSight digital video cameras, and thgedty hardware products. The
increase in total net sales of peripherals andrdthelware was related to the overall increase dciktosh unit sales and the
introduction of new and updated peripheral prodaci$ was experienced predominantly by the Compahyisricas, Europe, and
Retail segments.

Net sales of other music related products and sesvincreased $242 million or 672% during 2004 canegh to 2003. The Company
experienced strong growth in sales of iPod senécesaccessories consistent with the increasearathiPod unit sales for 2004. The
increased sales from the iTunes Music Store, wiviab originally introduced in April 2003, was pririipdue to making the service
available for Windows in October 2003 and the idtrction of the service in the U.K., France, andr@ey in June 2004.

Net sales of software rose $140 million or 39% iiy2004 compared to 2003 due primarily to highersates of the Company’s
Apple-branded software and in particular, highdarsades of the Company’s operating system softwaclyding Mac OS X version
10.3 “Panther,” which was released in October 2088.sales of Panther accounted for approximatédyrsillion or over 50% of the
increase in software net sales for 2004 compar@068.

The Company’s U.S. education channel experiencadgeer-year growth in net sales of approximaté$oifor 2004 compared to
2003. Unit sales also increased by 10% during 2@ddpared to 2003. The increase in U.S. educatibeates for 2004 related
primarily to a 40% year-over-year increase in higducation net sales and to a lesser extent thgp@ay’'s 3% growth in K-12 net
sales.

Service and other sales increased $37 million &b 8i&ring 2004 compared to 2003. These increases themresult of significant
year-over-year increases in net sales associatedAWiP extended maintenance and support servisegelhas increased net sales
associated with the Company’s .Mac Internet servicereased net sales associated with APP wereaghnthe result of higher
Macintosh unit sales and higher attach rates on &P the last several years.

Offsetting the favorable factors discussed abdwe Qompany’s net sales during 2004 were negatiwghacted by the following:

Net sales and unit sales of iMac systems were d&28% and 16%, respectively, during 2004 versus 2088.decrease in iMac net
sales and unit sales was largely due to the del#yei introduction of the new iMac, based on the&®C G5 processor, primarily a
result of manufacturing problems experienced by 1BMe delays in the new iMac resulted in the déphedf inventory of the old

iMac flat panel prior to availability of the new & G5. The old flat panel iMac form factor, whichswavailable during most of 2004,
was nearly 3 years old by the time the new iMad@&&an shipping in September 2004 and had expedetexdines in sales as a re!
of the age of this product. The Company believas $hles of iMac systems have also declined daestuft in consumer preference to
portable systems and desktop models from competitdh price points below $1,000.

Net sales and unit sales in the Comparddpan segment decreased 3% and 14%, respeativetyg 2004 versus 2003. The Comp
believes these declines related to a shift in Sab@s the Japan segment to the Retail segmentesu#t of the Tokyo and Osaka store
openings in 2004. Declines in net sales in Japanhaege also related to delays in computer upgrhgle®rtain professional and
creative customers pending release in Japan dicdvtac OS X native applications, such as QuarkeXpi6, which did not become
available until September 2004. When sales frond#pan retail stores are included in the resuitthi Japan segment, the combined
revenue in Japan resulted in a 3% year-over-yeaease in 2004 as compared to 2003. See
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additional comments below related to the Japan sagonder the heading “Segment Operating Performanc

Segment Operating Performance

The Company manages its business primarily on grgebic basis. The Company’s reportable operagggnents are comprised of the
Americas, Europe, Japan, and Retail. The Ameri€Easpe, and Japan reportable segments do not melctivities related to the Retail
segment. The Americas segment includes both NodiSauth America. The Europe segment includes Eaopountries as well as the
Middle East and Africa. The Retail segment operdtpple-owned retail stores in the U.S., Canadaadagnd the U.K. during 2005. Each
reportable geographic operating segment providesssihardware and software products and similarises. Further information regarding
the Company'’s operating segments may be founein 8 of this Form 10-K in the Notes to Consoliddtgthncial Statements at Note 11,
“Segment Information and Geographic Data.”

Americas

During 2005, net sales in the Americas segment @43 or $2.6 billion compared to 2004. The incraaseet sales during 2005 was
primarily attributable to the significant year-owarar increase in iPod sales, sales of other miakited products and services, and strong
sales of desktop and portable Macintosh systemis.iitrease was partially offset by a shift in sakethe Retail segment, which had 117
stores in the U.S. and Canada as of the end of. 208&intosh unit sales also increased by 30% irb2@dnpared to 2004, driven primarily
strong sales of desktop systems largely attribatebbtrong sales from the new iMac, which begappsing in September 2004, and the Mac
mini, which was introduced in January 2005. Du2@§5 and 2004, the Americas segment representedxaptely 47% and 49%,
respectively, of the Company'’s total net salesrapdesented approximately 48% and 51%, respectivélptal Macintosh unit sales. As
noted above, the Company experienced an incredsahnJ.S. education channel net sales and uras $d121% for 2005 compared to 2004.
Strength in higher education sales related prim#wilstrong iMac shipments, portable system shigmemd online sales. This strength drove
yearover-year growth in net sales of 32% for the higtgucation channel during 2005. Despite challeimgése K12 market from continue
budget constraints and competitive pressures, thepany’s K-12 net sales grew year-over-year by fli#ing 2005 due to increased iBook
sales and 1:1 education sales.

During 2004, net sales in the Americas segment @& or $838 million compared to 2003. The increagseet sales during 2004 was
primarily attributable to the significant year-owarar increase in iPod sales as well as strong sélperipherals, software, and services. This
increase was partially offset by a shift in satethe Retail segment, which had 84 stores in ti& Bk of the end of 2004. Macintosh unit s
also increased by 4% in 2004 compared to 2003edmrimarily by strong sales of portable and PoMacintosh systems, partially offset by
weakness in iMac sales. During 2004 and 2003, thericas segment represented approximately 49% Hitd Fespectively, of the
Company’s total net sales and represented appresiyal% and 54%, respectively, of total Macintosiit sales. The Company experienced
an increase in U.S. education channel net sal28%ffor 2004 compared to 2003. Strong U.S. educatét sales for 2004 related primarily
to strength in higher education net sales thattexsfrom a successful back-to-school selling seasith strong demand for the Company’s
portables. This strength drove year-over-year gnawhet sales of 40% for the higher education nkaduring 2004. The Company’s K-12
net sales grew year-over-year by 3% during 200gpitkethe challenges in the K-12 market from cargthbudget constraints and increased
competition.

Europe

During 2005, net sales in the Europe segment gfe® lillion or 71% from 2004. Total Macintosh uséles in Europe also experienced
growth during the current year by increasing 4792005 compared to
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2004. Consistent with the Americas segment, Euexjperienced strong net sales of desktop produrasl, iother music related products and
services, and software and service sales. Demadrivpe during 2005 was particularly strong for @@mpany’s desktop computers, which
experienced a year-over-year increase of 56%. &irolthe results of the Company’s other segmeetssales of iPods, peripherals and
software were strong in 2005.

Net sales in Europe rebounded in 2004 increasi®@ #illion or 37% from 2003. Total Macintosh uréilas in Europe also experienc
growth in 2004 by increasing 13% compared to 2@Msistent with the Americas segment, Europe egpeed strong net sales across all
product lines, except the iMac systems. Demandunojie during 2004 was particularly strong for trer@any’s Power Macintosh systems
and portable Macintosh systems, which experienead-gver-year increases of 29% and 42%, respegti8ahilar to the results of the
Company’s other segments, net sales of iPods,hEdfs and software were strong in 2004 over 2003.

Japan

Japan’s net sales and Macintosh unit sales weB&%pand 8%, respectively, during 2005 compared@t2Japan experienced increased net
sales in desktop products, iPod, and other mukite products and services. Desktop net salesigibdales increased by 31% and 41%,
respectively, and iPod sales increased by 2209hg @005 compared to 2004. The overall increaseirsales was partially offset by a
decline in portable system net sales during 2008pased to 2004, which the Company believes miglattsutable to a shift in sales from
portables to the new iMac G5 and Mac mini, anditt &hthe Retail segment as a result of opening &aditional stores in Japan during 2005.

Japan’s net sales and Macintosh unit sales wera @8wand 14%, respectively, during 2004 compare2D68, which lagged behind all of
the Company’s other operating segments. These aaseén net sales and unit sales were believed attiibutable in part to a shift in sales
from the Japan segment to the Retail segmentesust of the opening of two stores in Japan in 2004ddition, such decreases may have
been related to delayed computer system upgradssrhg professional and creative customers who axeeaiting the release of Quark XPr
6 for Mac OS X, which did not occur until SeptemB604. The decrease in net sales was partiallgiofffg strong iPod and iBook sales
during 2004 compared to 2003.

Retall

The Company opened 38 new retail stores during ,280kiding 6 international stores in the U.K, Japand Canada, bringing the total
number of open stores to 124 as of September 2%5. Zthis compares to 86 open stores as of Septe2dBh@004 and 65 open stores as of
September 27, 2003.

Net sales of the Retail segment grew to $2.4 bildaring 2005 from $1.2 billion and $621 million2004 and 2003, respectively. T
increases in net sales during both 2005 and 2G&tr¢he impact of new store openings for eachr iealuding the opening of 38 new stores
in 2005 and 21 new stores in 2004. An increas&éname revenue per store also contributed to tpeest’s strong sales in 2005. With an
average of 105 stores open during 2005, the Retgihent achieved annualized revenue per storepodamately $22.4 million, as compa
to $15.6 million in 2004 with a 76 store averaged &11.5 million in 2003 with a 54 store average.

As measured by the Company’s operating segmenttnegothe Retail segment reported operating incofrf&l51 million during 2005 as
compared to operating income of $39 million durd@®4 and an operating loss of $5 million during20bhis improvement is primarily
attributable to the segment’s year-over-year irsgda average revenue per store, the impact ofiogperew stores, and the segment’s year-
over-year increase in net sales, which resultddgher leverage on occupancy, depreciation, anerdiked costs.
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Expansion of the Retail segment has required atic¢d@ritinue to require a substantial investmerfixad assets and related infrastructure,
operating lease commitments, personnel, and offenating expenses. Capital expenditures assoaidtedhe Retail segment were $132
million in 2005, bringing the total capital expetues since inception of the Retail segment to @gprately $529 million. As of
September 24, 2005, the Retail segment had appabeiyn3,673 employees and had outstanding operktrgg commitments associated v
retail store space and related facilities of appnately $606 million. The Company would incur swgtal costs should it choose to termir
its Retail segment or close individual stores. Sems$ts could adversely affect the Company’s residltperations and financial condition.

Gross Margin
Gross margin for each of the last three fiscal yaae as follows (in millions, except gross mafgncentages):

September 24 September 25 September 27

2005 2004 2003
Net sales $13,931 $8,27¢ $6,207
Cost of sales 9,888 6,020 4,499
Gross margin $ 4,043 $2,25¢ $1,70¢
Gross margin percentage 29.0% 7.3% 7.5%

Gross margin increased in 2005 to 29.0% of nesdaben 27.3% of net sales in 2004. The Compaigybss margin during 2005 increased
to more favorable pricing on certain commaodity camgnts including LCD flat-panel displays and DRAMmory; an increase in higher
margin software sales; a favorable shift in disades related primarily to the Company’s Retail anline stores; and higher overall revenue
that provided for more leverage on fixed productiosts. These increases to gross margin were lpaditset by an increase in lower margin
iPod sales.

The Company anticipates that its gross margin hedjtoss margin of the overall personal computdrcamsumer electronics industries will
remain under pressure in light of price competitiespecially for the iPod product line. The Comparpects gross margin percentage to
decline in the first quarter of 2006 primarily ageault of a shift in the mix of revenue toward &wwmargin products such as the iPod and
content from the iTunes Music Store.

The foregoing statements regarding the Companye@rd gross margin are forward-looking. Therelsano assurance that current gross
margins will be maintained or targeted gross malgiels will be achieved. In general, gross marging margins on individual products,
including iPods, will remain under significant domerd pressure due to a variety of factors, inclgdiantinued industry wide global pricing
pressures, increased competition, compressed prhifducycles, potential increases in the cost avallability of raw material and outside
manufacturing services, and potential changesadthmpany’s product mix, including higher unit sabé consumer products with lower
average selling prices and lower gross marginsegponse to these downward pressures, the Comgpagts it will continue to take pricing
actions with respect to its products. Gross margingd also be affected by the Company’s abilitgffectively manage product quality and
warranty costs and to stimulate demand for cedhits products. Due to the Company’s significariernational operations, financial results
can be significantly affected in the short-termflogtuations in exchange rates.
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The Company orders components for its productsbaiiids inventory in advance of product shipmentscd&ise the Company’s markets are
volatile and subject to rapid technology and pdbhanges, there is a risk the Company will foreoasirrectly and produce or order from
third-parties excess or insufficient inventoriegafticular products or components. The Compang&rating results and financial condition
in the past have been and may in the future berralyeadversely affected by the Company’s abitibymanage its inventory levels and
outstanding purchase commitments and to resposkadd-term shifts in customer demand patterns.

Gross margin declined in 2004 to 27.3% of net staa 27.5% of net sales in 2003. The Company’sgraargin during 2004 declined due
to an increase in mix towards lower margin iPod @bk sales, pricing actions on certain Power Mash G5 models that were transitiol
during the beginning of 2004, higher warranty castgertain portable Macintosh products, and hidgteeght and duty costs during 2004.
These unfavorable factors were partially offsethyincrease in direct sales and a 39% year-pear-ncrease in higher margin software s

Operating Expenses
Operating expenses for each of the last threel figaas are as follows (in millions, except for gatages):

September 24 September 25 September 27

2005 2004 2003
Research and development $ 534 $ 489 $ 471
Percentage of net sal 4% 6% 8%
Selling, general, and administrative exper $1,85¢ $1,421 $1,212
Percentage of net sal 13% 17% 20%
Restructuring cosl $ — $ 23 $ 26

Research and Development (R&

The Company recognizes that focused investmerR&ID are critical to its future growth and competitiposition in the marketplace and are
directly related to timely development of new anti@ced products that are central to the Compaoyts business strategy. The Company
has historically relied upon innovation to remaimpetitive. R&D expense amounted to approximatétycf total net sales during 2005
down from 6% and 8% of total net sales in 2004 200@83, respectively. This decrease is due to th&fiignt increase of 68% in total net s
of the Company for 2005. Although R&D expense daseel as a percentage of total net sales in 20@&|&xpense for R&D in 2005
increased $45 million or 9% from 2004, which follan $18 million or 4% increase in 2004 compare20@3. The overall increase in R&D
expense relates primarily to increased headcouhsapport for new product development activitied tire impact of employee salary
increases in 2005. R&D expense does not includitadiapd software development costs of approxinya$29.7 million related to the
development of Mac OS X Tiger during 2005; $4.5lionil related to the development of Mac OS X Tiged 2.3 million related to the
development of FileMaker Pro 7 in 2004; and $14iliion related to the development of Mac OS X Pantim 2003. Further information
related to the Company’s capitalization of softwaéeeelopment costs may be found in Part Il, Iteai this Form 10-K at Note 1 of Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements.

Selling, General, and Administrative Expense (SG&A)

Expenditures for SG&A increased $438 million or 3d%ing 2005 compared to 2004. These increasedugr@rimarily to the Company’s
continued expansion of its Retail segment in batmeistic and international markets, a current yeenease in discretionary spending on
marketing and advertising, and higher direct arahakel selling expenses resulting from the incréaset sales and employee salary
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merit increases. SG&A as a percentage of totasalets in 2005 was 13%, down from 17% in 2004, wisatue to the increase in total net
sales of 68% for the Company during 2005.

Expenditures for SG&A increased $209 million or 1@%ing 2004 compared to 2003. These increasesduer@rimarily to the Company’s
continued expansion of its Retail segment in batmeistic and international markets, an increaséseretionary spending on marketing and
advertising, an increase in amortization costs@ata with restricted stock compensation, andduiglirect and channel selling expenses
resulting from the increase in net sales and engg@®alary merit increases. SG&A as a percentaggalnet sales in 2004 was 17%, down
from 20% in 2003 due to the increase in total attsfor the Company of 33% during 2004.

Fiscal 2004 Restructuring Actiol

The Company recorded total restructuring chargegppfoximately $23 million during 2004, includingmoximately $14 million in
severance costs, $5.5 million in asset impairmemtd,a $3.5 million charge for lease cancellatior=onjunction with the vacating of a lea:
sales facility in Europe during the fourth quaxié2004 related to a European workforce reduct@ithe $23 million charge, $19.7 million
had been utilized by the end of 2005, with the rieing $3.3 million consisting of $0.7 million fongloyee severance benefits and $2.6
million for lease cancellations. These actions vafiult in the termination of 461 employees, 448/bich had been terminated prior to the
of 2005.

Fiscal 2003 Restructuring Actiol

The Company recorded total restructuring chargegppfoximately $26.8 million during 2003, includiagproximately $7.4 million in
severance costs, a $5.0 million charge to writedeferred compensation, $7.1 million in asset impants, and a $7.3 million charge for
lease cancellations primarily related to the clesafrthe Company’s Singapore manufacturing opearatéuring the first quarter of 2003. Of
the $26.8 million charge, all had been utilizectloy end of 2005, except for approximately $1.7iolrelated to operating lease costs on
abandoned facilities. These actions resulted indfmaination of 353 employees.

Other Income and Expense
Other income and expense for each of the last fise@ years are as follows (in millions):

September 24 September 25 September 27

2005 2004 2003
Gains on non-current investments, net $ — $ 4 $10
Interest income $183 $64 $69
Interest expens — 3) (8)
Gains on sales of short term investments — 1 21
Other income (expense), net (18 (9) 1
Interest and Other Income, net $165 $53 $83
Total other income and expense $165 57 $93

Gains and Losses on Non-current Investments

The Company previously held significant investmentARM Holdings plc (ARM), Akamai Technologies,dn(Akamai), and EarthLink
Network, Inc. (EarthLink). The Company sold all of the remaining holdings iesthnon-current investments in 2004 and 2003. Pgetias
recorded upon the sale of these non-current invargBrwere $4 million and $10 million in 2004 and20respectively.
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Interest and Other Income, N

Total interest and other income, net increased $dillbn or 211% to $165 million during 2005 compdrto $53 million in 2004 and $83
million in 2003. These increases are attributablearily to increasing investment yields on the @amy’s cash and short-term investments
and higher invested balances. The weighted avénégyest rate earned by the Company on its cash, @quivalents, and short-term
investments increased to 2.70% in 2005 comparéuktd.38% and 1.89% rates earned during 2004 ab@i, 26spectively. The Company
occasionally sells short-term investments priathtr stated maturities. As a result of such salesCompany recognized net losses of
$137,000 in 2005 and net gains of $1 million and #2llion during 2004 and 2003, respectively. Ralfioffsetting the increase in other
income were higher foreign currency hedging expgnse

Interest expense consisted primarily of interesthenCompanys $300 million aggregate principal amount unseca@ds, which were repa
upon their maturity in February 2004. The unsecunates were sold at 99.925% of par for an effegtied to maturity of 6.51%. Total
deferred gain resulting from the closure of debassvof approximately $23 million was fully amortizas of the notes’ maturity in
February 2004.

Provision for Income Taxes

The Company'’s effective tax rate for the year enSegtember 24, 2005 was approximately 26%. The @axip effective rate differs from
the statutory federal income tax rate of 35% dumanily to certain undistributed foreign earnings which no U.S. taxes are provided
because such earnings are intended to be indéfindimvested outside the U.S., research and dpusat tax credits, and a reduction of
certain tax contingency reserves and adjustmemntsttdeferred tax assets. The benefit from adjustisrte tax contingency reserves and net
deferred tax assets was $67 million. In additibe, Company recorded a $25 million reduction ofuthkeation allowance associated with
deferred tax assets that, in management’s opiai@now more likely than not to be realized infitere. $14 million of the valuation
allowance reduction was recorded as a credit tonmectax expense, and the remainder was recordedraslit to goodwill.

As of September 24, 2005, the Company had deféasedssets arising from deductible temporary diffiees, tax losses, and tax credits of
$767 million before being offset against certaifeded tax liabilities and a valuation allowance poesentation on the Company’s balance
sheet. Management believes it is more likely thatntimat forecasted income, including income thay tma generated as a result of certain tax
planning strategies, will be sufficient to fullyc@ver the remaining net deferred tax assets. /Aeptember 24, 2005 and September 25, 2004
a valuation allowance of $5 million and $30 milljoespectively, was recorded against the defeme@dsset for the benefits of tax loss
carryforwards that may not be realized. The remgimaluation allowance at September 24, 2005 ejat@acipally to certain state operating
loss carryforwards. The Company will continue talemate the realizability of the deferred tax asgetsterly by assessing the need for and
amount of the valuation allowance.

The Internal Revenue Service (IRS) has complegefieitd audit of the Company’s federal income taturns for all years prior to 2002 and
proposed certain adjustments. Certain of thesesadpnts are being contested through the IRS Ap@féitse. Substantially all IRS audit
issues for these years have been resolved. In@udite Company is also subject to audits by statal, and foreign tax authorities.
Management believes that adequate provision hasrbade for any adjustments that may result fronete@minations. However, the
outcome of tax audits cannot be predicted withadety. Should any issues addressed in the Compéary'audits be resolved in a manner not
consistent with management’s expectations, the @oympould be required to adjust its provision foxdme tax in the period such resolution
occurs.

On October 22, 2004, the American Jobs Creation(A2€A) was signed into law. The AJCA includes avision for the deduction of 85%
of certain foreign earnings that are repatriatsdjefined in the
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AJCA. The legislation provided the Company with tition to apply this provision to repatriationsqufalifying earnings in either 2005 or
2006. The Company is continuing to evaluate thectsfof the repatriation provision and expectsoimmlete the evaluation in 2006. A
maximum of $755 million may be eligible for repation under the reduced tax rate provided by AJ@dwever, given the uncertainties and
complexities of the repatriation provision and @@mpany’s continuing evaluation, the Company hdsyabdetermined the amount that may
be repatriated or the related potential incomeeféects of such repatriation.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In November 2005, the FASB issued FASB Staff Posi{FSP) Nos. FAS 115-1 and FAS 124Fhe Meaning of Other-Than-Temporary
Impairment and its Application to Certain Investi®. FSP Nos. FAS 115-1 and FAS 124-1 amend SFAS Ng . Alccounting for Certain
Investments in Debt and Equity SecuritSFAS No. 124Accounting for Certain Investments Held by Notfwoofit Organizationsas well a:
APB Opinion No. 18The Equity Method of Accounting for InvestmeniS8dmmon StocK-his guidance nullifies certain requirements of
EITF 03-1,The Meaning of Other-Than-Temporary Impairment émépplication to Certain Investments§SP Nos. FAS 115-1 and FAS
124-1 include guidance for evaluating and recordimgairment losses on debt and equity investmestsyell as new disclosure requirements
for investments that are deemed to be temporaripaired. FSP Nos. FAS 115-1 and FAS 124-1 alsaneqther-than-temporary impaired
debt securities to be written down to its impaivatlie, which becomes the new cost basis. FSP Md.1A5-1 and FAS 124-1 are effective
for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2@0though the Company will continue to evaluate #pplication of FSP Nos. FAS 115-1
and FAS 124-1, management does not currently leheloption will have a material impact on the Conyfmresults of operations or
financial position.

In November 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 1&dentory Costs which amends the guidance in Accounting ReseRutletin (ARB)

No. 43, Chapter dnventory Pricing, to clarify the accounting for abnormal amount$aility expense, freight, handling costs, and teds
material (spoilage). ARB 43, Chapter 4, previougtbted that “under some circumstances, items ssiatieafacility expense, excessive
spoilage, double freight, and rehandling costs bego abnormal as to require treatment as curegidgpcharges.” SFAS 151 requires that
those items be recognized as current-period chaegesdless of whether they meet the criterionsofdbnormal.” In addition, SFAS 151
requires that allocation of fixed production ovexti¢o the costs of conversion be based on the naapacity of the production facilities.
SFAS 151 is effective for fiscal years beginninggafiune 15, 2005. Although the Company will camdino evaluate the application of SFAS
151, management does not currently believe adoptitbihave a material impact on the Company’s rissaf operations or financial position.

In December 2004, the FASB issued FSP 108e2punting and Disclosure Guidance for the Foreigarnings Repatriation Provision within
the American Jobs Creation Act of 2008SP 109-2 provides additional time to compan&hd the financial reporting period of enactment
to evaluate the effects of the AJCA on their plfongepatriation of foreign earnings for purposésjplying SFAS 109Accounting for

Income Taxe. The Company is currently evaluating the repatmaprovisions of AJCA, which if implemented by t@empany would affect
the Company’s tax provision and deferred tax assaddiabilities. However, given the uncertaintiesl complexities of the repatriation
provision and the Company’s continuing evaluatibis not possible at this time to determine theoant, if any, that will be repatriated or the
related potential income tax effects of such regtdn. The Company expects to complete the evialuat 2006.

In December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 1234eeh2004) (SFAS No. 123R3hare-Based Paymenthat addresses the accounting
share-based payment transactions in which an ergemgceives employee services in exchange fardaity instruments of the enterprise or
(b) liabilities that are based on the fair valuehef enterprise’s equity instruments or that magdtded by the issuance of such
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equity instruments. SFAS No. 123R eliminates thbtplbo account for share-based compensation #etisns using the intrinsic value
method under Accounting Principles Board (APB) GQguirNo. 25,Accounting for Stock Issued to Employeasd instead requires such
transactions be accounted for using a fair-valisetanethod. The Company will recognize stock-basetbensation expense on all awards
on a straightine basis over the requisite service period usiiregmodified prospective method. In January 2086 3EC issued SAB No. 1(C
which provides supplemental implementation guidgoc&SFAS No. 123R. SFAS No. 123R will be effectfee the Company beginning in
the first quarter of fiscal 2006. The Company expéce adoption of SFAS No. 123R will result irealuction of diluted earnings per comn
share of approximately $0.03 for the first quadkfiscal 2006.

In March 2005, the FASB issued Interpretation NdN( 47, Accounting for Conditional Asset Retirement Obiigias, to clarify the
requirement to record liabilities stemming fromegdl obligation to perform an asset retirementgtin which the timing or method of
settlement is conditional on a future event. Then@any plans to adopt FIN 47 in the first quartefisdal 2006, and does not expect the
application of FIN 47 to have a material impactitsrresults of operations, cash flows or finanpiasition.

In May 2005, the FASB issued SFAS No. 1B4¢counting Changes and Error Correctionkich replaces APB Opinion No. Z&counting
Changesand SFAS No. 3Reporting Accounting Changes in Interim Financi@t&ments—An Amendment of APB Opinion No. 28

SFAS No. 154 requires retrospective applicatioprior periods’ financial statements of a voluntahange in accounting principal unless it is
not practicable. SFAS No. 154 is effective for aotiing changes and corrections of errors madesaafiyears beginning after December 15,
2005 and is required to be adopted by the Compattei first quarter of fiscal 2007. Although then@many will continue to evaluate the
application of SFAS No. 154, management does noently believe adoption will have a material impan the Company’s results of
operations or financial position.

Liquidity and Capital Resources
The following table presents selected financiabinfation and statistics for each of the last thismal years (dollars in millions):

September 24 September 25 September 27

2005 2004 2003
Cash, cash equivalents, and short-term investments $8,261 $5,464 $ 4,56¢
Accounts receivable, n $ 895 $ 774 $ 766
Inventory $ 165 $ 101 $ 56
Working capital $6,81€ $4,404 $3,53(C
Days sales in accounts receivable (DSO 22 30 41
Days of supply in inventory (t 6 5 4
Days payables outstanding (DPO) 62 76 82
Annual operating cash flo $2,53¢F $ 934 $ 289

(a) DSO is based on ending net trade receivables astliacent quarterly net sales for each period.
(b) Days supply of inventory is based on ending invenémd most recent quarterly cost of sales for gacliod.
(c) DPO is based on ending accounts payable and nmuesitrquarterly cost of sales adjusted for the chamgnventory.

As of September 24, 2005, the Company had $8.2Bdrbin cash, cash equivalents, and short-ternestments, an increase of $2.797 billion
over the same balances at the end of 2004. Theipaircomponents of this increase were cash gestblat operating activities of $2.535
billion and proceeds of $543 million from the issoa of common stock under stock plans, partialfgeifoy cash used to
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purchase property, plant, and equipment of $260anilThe Company’s short-term investment portfasigprimarily invested in high credit
quality, liquid investments. As of September 24020approximately $4.3 billion of the Company’slttasash equivalents, and short-term
investments were held by foreign subsidiaries aedyanerally based in U.S. dollar-denominated Ingisli Amounts held by foreign
subsidiaries are generally subject to U.S. incamatton on repatriation to the U.S. The Comparguisently assessing the impact of the one-
time favorable foreign dividend provisions recerghacted as part of the American Jobs Creatiorof2004, and may decide to repatriate
earnings from some of its foreign subsidiaries.

The Company believes its existing balances of ceath equivalents, and short-term investmentsbeilufficient to satisfy its working
capital needs, capital expenditures, stock repsechativity, outstanding commitments, and otheridlify requirements associated with its
existing operations over the next 12 months.

Capital Expenditures

The Company’s total capital expenditures were $2@lon during 2005, $132 million of which were foetail store facilities and equipment
related to the Company’s Retail segment and $12&mbf which were primarily for corporate infrastture, including information systems
enhancements and operating facilities enhanceraedtgxpansions. The Company currently anticipatedliutilize approximately

$390 million for capital expenditures during 20@6proximately $210 million of which is expectedo® utilized for further expansion of the
Company'’s Retail segment and the remainder utilinexipport normal replacement of existing cagitslets and enhancements to general
information technology infrastructure.

Stock Repurchase Plan

In July 1999, the CompanyBoard of Directors authorized a plan for the Camypto repurchase up to $500 million of its comrstotk. This
repurchase plan does not obligate the Companygircany specific number of shares or acquireeshaver any specified period of time.
Since inception of the stock repurchase plan, thegany had repurchased a total of 13.1 millioneshat a cost of $217 million. The
Company has not engaged in any transactions toalease its common stock during 2005 or 2004. Thm@2my was authorized to
repurchase up to an additional $283 million otidssnmon stock as of September 24, 2005.

On February 28, 2005, the Company effected a twaii@ stock split to shareholders of record asetir&ary 18, 2005. All share and per
share information has been retroactively adjusteeflect the stock split.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements and Contractual Obgjations

The Company has not entered into any transactighsunconsolidated entities whereby the Companyfinasicial guarantees, subordinated
retained interests, derivative instruments, or otoatingent arrangements that expose the Commamaterial continuing risks, contingent
liabilities, or any other obligation under a val@amterest in an unconsolidated entity that presifinancing, liquidity, market risk, or credit
risk support to the Company.
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The following table presents certain payments duthb Company under contractual obligations withimum firm commitments as of
September 24, 2005 and excludes amounts alreadsdeston the Company’s balance sheet as currdilitizs (in millions):

Payments
Payments Payments Payments Due in More
Due in Less
Than Due in Due in Than

Total 1 year 1-3 years 4-5 years 5 years
Operating Leases $ 865 $ 108 $211 $192 $354
Purchase Obligatior 1,994 1,994 — — —
Asset Retirement Obligatior 14 — 2 2 10
Other Obligations 4 4 — — —
Total $2,877 $2,10€ $213 $194 364

Lease Commitmen
As of September 24, 2005, the Company had totatauting commitments on noncancelable operatirgpteaf approximately $865 million,
$606 million of which related to the lease of regpiace and related facilities. Lease terms orChapany’s existing major facility operating

leases range from 5 to 20 years.

Purchase Commitments with Contract Manufacturerd @mponent Supplie

The Company utilizes several contract manufactuersanufacture sub-assemblies for the Compangdumts and to perform final
assembly and test of finished products. These aohtnanufacturers acquire components and buildystdthsed on demand information
supplied by the Company, which typically coversigds ranging from 30 to 150 days. The Company algains individual components for
its products from a wide variety of individual slipps. Consistent with industry practice, the Compacquires components through a
combination of purchase orders, supplier contraetd,open orders based on projected demand infam&uch purchase commitments
typically cover the Company’s forecasted compomeat manufacturing requirements for periods rangioig 30 to 150 days. As of
September 24, 2005, the Company had outstandirdyparty manufacturing commitments and componenttpase commitments of
approximately $2.0 billion.

Subsequent to September 24, 2005, the Companyedritéo longterm supply agreements with Hynix Semiconductar,,Imtel Corporatior
Micron Technology, Inc., Samsung Electronics Cad, Land Toshiba Corporation to secure supply oNBlash memory through calendar
year 2010. As part of these agreements, the Comipgenyds to prepay a total of $1.25 billion forstiememory components by the end of
second quarter of 2006.

Asset Retirement Obligatio

The Company’s asset retirement obligations arecéea with commitments to return property subjeabperating leases to original
condition upon lease termination. As of Septemlder2D05, the Company estimates that gross expédie®@ cash flows of approximately
$14 million will be required to fulfill these oblégions.

Other Obligations
The Company’s other obligations of approximatelyn§iflion are primarily related to Internet and @enmunications services.

Indemnifications
The Company generally does not indemnify end-uskits operating system and application softwaraieg legal claims that the software
infringes third-party intellectual property righther agreements entered into by the Company soe®include indemnification provisions

under which the Company
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could be subject to costs and/or damages in thet @fen infringement claim against the Compangmindemnified third-party. However,
the Company has not been required to make anyfisinti payments resulting from such an infringenmsaim asserted against itself or an
indemnified third-party and, in the opinion of mgeaent, does not have a liability related to urlxesbinfringement claims subject to
indemnification that would have a material advesBect on its financial condition, liquidity or neks of operations.

Factors That May Affect Future Results and Financid Condition

Because of the following factors, as well as ofaetors affecting the Company’s operating resutis fnancial condition, past financial
performance should not be considered to be a teliaicator of future performance, and investdrswdd not use historical trends to
anticipate results or trends in future periods.

General economic conditions and current economgt paiitical uncertainty could adversely affect themand for the Company’s products
and the financial health of its suppliers, distribts, and resellers.

The Company’s operating performance depends signifiy on general economic conditions in the Urfél abroad. At times in the past,
demand for the Company’s products has been negiaimpacted by difficult global economic conditionsdditionally, some of the
Company’s education customers appeared to be dglégthnology purchases due to concerns about#ralbimpact of the weaker
economy and state budget deficits on their avalélohding. Although recent macroeconomic trendsnsieeindicate an economic recovery,
continued uncertainty about future economic coadgimakes it difficult to forecast future demandtfee Company’s products and related
operating results. Should global and/or regionahemic conditions deteriorate, demand for the Camijsaproducts could be adversely
affected, as could the financial health of its digpp, distributors, and resellers.

War, terrorism, public health issues or other besis interruptions could disrupt supply, deliverydemand of products, which could
negatively affect the Company’s operations andgoerénce.

War, terrorism, public health issues and otherrmss interruptions whether in the U.S. or abroadeltaused and could cause damage or
disruption to international commerce by creatingrexnic and political uncertainties that may hawtrang negative impact on the global
economy, the Company, and the Company’s suppliecagtomers. The Company’s major business opesatios subject to interruption by
earthquake, other natural disasters, fire, powertapes, terrorist attacks and other hostile amt®r disputes, public health issues, and other
events beyond its control. The majority of the Camygs research and development activities, its m@te headquarters, information
technology systems, and other critical businessatipgs, including certain component suppliers arahufacturing vendors, are located near
major seismic faults. Because the Company doesarof earthquake insurance for direct quake-rellteses, the Company’s operating
results and financial condition could be materialtiversely affected in the event of a major eaidkquor other natural or manmade disaster.

Although it is impossible to predict the occurremioe consequences of any such events, such evmiitsresult in a decrease in demand for
the Companys products, make it difficult or impossible for tBempany to deliver products to its customers ageteive components from
suppliers, and could create delays and inefficena the Company’s supply chain. In addition, $th@oajor public health issues, including
pandemics, arise, the Company could be negativghacted by the need for more stringent employeeltrastrictions, additional limitations
in the availability of freight services, governmaraictions limiting the movement of products betwearious regions, delays in production
ramps of new products, and disruptions in the dpars of the Company’s manufacturing vendors andpmment suppliers. The Company’s
operating results and financial condition have bee in the future may be, adversely affectechiegé events.
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The market for personal computers and related fenipls and services, as well as digital music devignd related services, is highly
competitive. If the Company is unable to effegficelmpete in these markets, its results of oparatoamuld be adversely affected.

The personal computer industry is highly compegitind is characterized by aggressive pricing pestidownward pressure on gross
margins, frequent introduction of new products,rspooduct life cycles, evolving industry standardsntinual improvement in product
price/performance characteristics, rapid adoptioiechnological and product advancements by congustiprice sensitivity on the part of
consumers, and a large number of competitors. eepast several years, price competition in theketdor personal computers and related
peripherals has been particularly intense as camopetho sell Windows and Linux based personal mot@rs have aggressively cut prices
and lowered their product margins for personal aaing products. The Company’s results of operateams financial condition have been,
and in the future may continue to be, adverselgcfd by these and other industry-wide pricingguess and downward pressures on gross
margins.

The personal computer industry has also been dieaized by rapid technological advances in softWanetionality, hardware performance,
and features based on existing or emerging indgstéirydards. Further, as the personal computertirydasd its customers place more relia
on the Internet, an increasing number of Intere@iaks that are smaller and simpler than traditipresonal computers may compete for
market share with the Company’s existing produses/eral competitors of the Company have eitheetathor announced their intention to
target certain of the Company’s key market segmémtiiding consumer, education, professional amtsumer digital video editing, and
design and publishing. Several of the Company’speditors have introduced or announced plans todiotce digital music products and/or
online stores offering digital music distributidmat mimic many of the unique design, technicaldfesg, and solutions of the Company’s
products. The Company has a significant numbepofpetitors, many of whom have greater financialkkatng, manufacturing, and
technological resources, as well as broader prdithest and larger installed customer bases thasetbbthe Company. Additionally, there |
been a trend towards consolidation in the perscoralputer industry that has resulted in larger astémntially stronger competitors in the
Company'’s markets.

The Company is currently the only maker of hardweasiag the Mac OS. The Mac OS has a minority magkate in the personal computer
market, which is dominated by makers of computétizing other competing operating systems, inchgdiVindows and Linux. The
Company’s future operating results and financialdition are substantially dependent on its abtlitgontinue to develop improvements to
the Macintosh platform in order to maintain peregidesign and functional advantages over compeptatéprms. Additionally, if
unauthorized copies of the Mac OS are used on ctirapanies’ hardware products and result in deeckdemand for the Company’s
hardware products, the Company’s results of opmratmay be adversely affected.

The Company is currently focused on market oppdiasrelated to digital music distribution andateld consumer electronic devices,
including iPods. The Company faces increasing caitiqre from other companies promoting their ownitiigmusic products, including

music enabled cell phones, distribution servicad,feee peer-to-peer music services. These competiiclude both new entrants with
different market approaches, such as subscripgorices models, and also larger companies thathraag greater technical, marketing,
distribution, and other resources than those ohimpany, as well as established hardware, soffwarkdigital content supplier
relationships. Failure to effectively compete couddjatively affect the Company’s operating resaittd financial position. There can be no
assurance that the Company will be able to contiayeovide products and services that effectivelgnpete in these markets or successfully
distribute and sell digital music outside the UlBe Company may also have to respond to price cttigmeby lowering prices and/or
increasing features which could adversely affeet@ompany’s music product gross margins as wellvagsall Company gross margins.
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The Company also faces increased competition itUtBe education market. U.S. elementary and secgrsgaools, as well as college and
university customers, remain a core market forGbenpany. Uncertainty in this channel remains asrsdwompetitors of the Company have
either targeted or announced their intention tgethe education market for personal computergsiwtould negatively affect the
Company’s market share. In an effort to regain reaskare and remain competitive, the Company hexs &ed will continue to pursue one-
to-one (1:1) learning solutions in education. &arhing solutions typically consist of iBook poiteabystems for every student and teacher
along with a wireless network connected to a céstrver. These 1:1 learning solutions and othatesgic sales are generally priced more
aggressively and could result in significantly Ipssfitability or even in financial losses, partiady for larger deals. Although the Company
believes it has taken certain steps to strengtisguosition in the education market, there candagsurance that the Company will be able to
increase or maintain its share of the educatiorketar execute profitably on large strategic areangnts. Failure to do so may have an
adverse impact on the Company’s operating resntifiaancial condition.

The Company'’s transition from PowerPC microprocesssed by Macintosh computers to microprocessoiis tiy Intel is subject to
numerous risks.

In June 2005, the Company announced its intentidransition from the use of PowerPC microprocessmthe use of Intel microprocessors
in all of its Macintosh computers by the end ofcalar year 2007. This transition is subject to mamerisks and uncertainties, including the
Company’s ability to timely develop and deliver npmducts using Intel microprocessors, the timehowvation and delivery of related
hardware and software products, including the Camigaapplications, to support Intel microprocessararket acceptance of Intel-based
Macintosh computers, the development and avaitghilh acceptable terms of components and servasnéal to enable the Company to
timely deliver Intel-based Macintosh computers, theleffective management of inventory levels e lwith anticipated product demand for
both PowerPC and Intel-based Macintosh computeraddlition, the Company is dependent on third-psofjware developers such as
Microsoft and Adobe continuing to support currgmpléecations that run on PowerPC-based computerdiaredy developing versions of
current and future applications that run on Intel owerPC-based Macintosh computers. The Comparghdity to timely deliver new
Intel-based products or obtain developer commitrbetit to continue supporting applications thatearPowerPC microprocessors and
timely transition their applications to run natiyein Intel-based products may have an adverse ingpathe Company'’s results of operations.
The Company’s announcement of its intention tositéom to Intel microprocessors may negatively ictpsales of current and future
Macintosh products containing PowerPC microproassss customers may elect to delay purchasesthatihtel-based products are
available. Additionally, there can be no assurahatthe Company will be able to maintain its higtal gross margin percentages on its
products, including Intel-based Macintosh compytetich may adversely impact the Company’s resafltsperations.

Future operating results are dependent upon the @omy's ability to obtain a sufficient supply of compate including microprocessors,
some of which are in short supply or available dnityn limited sources.

Although most components essential to the Compamnysiness are generally available from multiplerses, certain key components
including microprocessors and ASICs are currenbiaimed by the Company from single or limited segtcSome key components (including
without limitation DRAM, NAND flash-memory, and TFICD flat-panel displays), while currently availakib the Company from multiple
sources, are at times subject to industry-widelabiity and pricing pressures. In addition, newghucts introduced by the Company often
initially utilize custom components obtained fromlyoone source until the Company has evaluatedivenehere is a need for, and
subsequently qualifies, additional suppliers. toations where a component or product utilizes teslinologies, initial capacity constraints
may exist until such time as the suppliers’ yididse matured. The Company and other producer®ipéhsonal computer industry also
compete for various components with other industtat have
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experienced increased demand for their products.ddmpany uses some components that are not comantioa rest of the personal
computer industry including certain microprocessord ASICs. Continued availability of these compudaenay be affected if producers w
to decide to concentrate on the production of camepts other than those customized to meet the Quyigoeequirements. If the supply of a
key component were to be delayed or constraineal mew or existing product, the Company’s resultspaErations and financial condition
could be adversely affected.

The Company'’s ability to produce and market contipetiproducts is dependent on the ability and @esidiBM and Freescale
Semiconductor, Inc. (Freescale) to supply PowerRCaprocessors and Intel to supply its microprooces$or the Company’s Macintosh
computers and to provide the Company with a sefficsupply of microprocessors with price/perfornefeatures that compare favorably to
those supplied to the Company’s competitors. WhhiéeCompany has supply agreements with IBM andgéede, the Company’s recent
announcement of plans to transition to Intel micogpssors may impact the continued availabilityaoceptable terms of certain components
and services, including PowerPC G4 and G5 micrassars, which are essential to the Company’s bssiaed are currently obtained by the
Company from sole or limited sources. Additionathere have been instances in recent years wheiadbility of the Company’s suppliers
to provide advanced PowerPC microprocessors incgft quantity has had significant adverse effectshe Company’s results of
operations. In addition, IBM is currently the Comp® sole supplier of the PowerPC G5 processorciwis used in the Company’s current
Power Mac, Xserve, and iMac G5 products. Freegsdlee sole supplier of the G4 processor, whialsisd in the Company’s eMac, Mac
mini, and portable products. IBM experienced maatufidng problems with the PowerPC G5 processorciwhesulted in the Company
delaying the shipment of various products and caimstd certain product shipments during the sedwmtidof 2004 and the first quarter of
2005. Manufacturing problems experienced by arthefCompany’s suppliers in the future or failurethgm to deliver components to the
Company in sufficient quantities with competitivece/performance features could adversely affeeiGbmpany’s results of operations and
financial condition.

The Company must successfully manage frequent grodroductions and transitions to remain compeditand effectively stimulate
customer demand.

Due to the highly volatile and competitive natuféh® personal computer and consumer electronaissimies, which are characterized by
dynamic customer demand patterns and rapid tecbitaloadvances, the Company must continually intoedhew products and technolog
enhance existing products in order to remain coitiyestand effectively stimulate customer demandrfew products and upgraded versions
of the Company’s existing products. The succeswwof product introductions is dependent on a nurabéactors, including market
acceptance; the Company’s ability to manage tlks associated with product transitions, including transition to Intel-based Macintosh
computers, and production ramp issues; the avhilabf application software for new products; teiective management of inventory levels
in line with anticipated product demand, includargicipated demand for PowerPC-based and Inteldslseintosh computers; the
availability of products in appropriate quantitteameet anticipated demand; and the risk that medyzts may have quality or other defects
in the early stages of introduction. Accordinglye tCompany cannot determine in advance the ultieféet that new products will have on
its sales or results of operations.

The Company’s products from time to time experieuadity problems that can result in decreasedsad¢s and operating profits.

The Company sells highly complex hardware and softvproducts that can contain defects in desigmeartufacture. Sophisticated
operating system software and applications, su¢hase sold by the Company, often contain “bugat tan unexpectedly interfere with the
operation of the software. Defects may also oatwomponents and products the Company purchasestficd-parties. There can be no
assurance that the Company will be able to detetfia all defects in the hardware and softwarseits.
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Failure to do so could result in lost revenue, liseputation, and significant warranty and otbepense to remedy.

Because orders for components, and in some casesitments to purchase components, must be placati/amce of customer orders,
Company faces substantial inventory risk.

The Company records a write-down for inventoriesamhponents and products that have become obswlate in excess of anticipated
demand or net realizable value and accrues negassarves for cancellation fees of orders for mwges that have been cancelled. Altho
the Company believes its inventory and related igions are currently adequate, given the rapiduarmtedictable pace of product
obsolescence in the computer and consumer elecsrordustries and the transition to Intel-basediMash computers, no assurance can be
given that the Company will not incur additionalémtory and related charges. In addition, suchgdshave had, and may have, a material
effect on the Company’s financial position and tessof operations.

The Company must order components for its prodametsbuild inventory in advance of product shipmeBtcause the Company’s markets
are volatile and subject to rapid technology andepchanges, and because of the transition to-hate¢d Macintosh computers, there is a risk
the Company will forecast incorrectly and producemler from third parties excess or insufficiamténtories of particular products.
Consistent with industry practice, components amenally acquired through a combination of purchaskers, supplier contracts, and open
orders based on projected demand information. puothase commitments typically cover the Compaforscasted component and
manufacturing requirements for periods ranging f&drto 150 days. The Compasyoperating results and financial condition havenbea the
past and may in the future be materially adveraéfiscted by the Company’s ability to manage itemwory levels and respond to short-term
shifts in customer demand patterns.

The Company is dependent on manufacturing andtiogjiservices provided by third parties, many obmhare located outside of the U.S.
Most of the Company’s products are manufacturesdhole or in part by third-party manufacturers. tddion, the Company has outsourced
much of its transportation and logistics managemafhtile outsourcing arrangements may lower the absperations, they also reduce the
Company’s direct control over production and disttion. It is uncertain what effect such diministoaehtrol will have on the quality or
quantity of the products manufactured or servieeslered, or the flexibility of the Company to resgdo changing market conditions.
Moreover, although arrangements with such manufactunay contain provisions for warranty expengalarsement, the Company may
remain at least initially responsible to the consuifior warranty service in the event of productedés. Any unanticipated product defect or
warranty liability, whether pursuant to arrangensemith contract manufacturers or otherwise, codhdeasely affect the Company’s future
operating results and financial condition.

Final assembly of products sold by the Companwisently performed in the Company’s manufacturiagility in Cork, Ireland, and by
external vendors in Fremont, California, Fullert®alifornia, Taiwan, Korea, the People’s Repubfi€bina, and the Czech Republic.
Currently, manufacturing of many of the componerstsd in the Company'’s products is performed byltparty vendors in Taiwan, China,
Japan, Korea, and Singapore. Final assembly otanuiily all of the Companyg portable products including PowerBooks, iBooksi #ods
is performed by third-party vendors in China. If &my reason manufacturing or logistics in anyhefse locations is disrupted by regional
economic, business, labor, environmental, publatheor political issues, as well as informatienhnology system failures or military
actions, the Company’s results of operations amahitial condition could be adversely affected.
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The Company'’s future operating performance is ddpahon the performance of distributors and otresredlers of the Company’s products.
The Company distributes its products through whadkes, resellers, national and regional retaikensl, cataloguers, many of whom distribute
products from competing manufacturers. In addittbe,Company sells many of its products and reseltsin third-party products in most of
its major markets directly to end users, certaincation customers, and certain resellers throwgybriline stores around the world and its r
stores. Many of the Company’s resellers operateasrow product margins and have been negativectetl by weak economic conditions
over the last several years. Considerable tradsvaales that are not covered by collateral oritiegdurance are outstanding with the
Company'’s distribution and retail channel partn@see Company’s business and financial results cbalddversely affected if the financial
condition of these resellers weakens, if resellgtisin consumer channels were to cease distribudfache Company’s products, or if
uncertainty regarding demand for the Company’s petsicaused resellers to reduce their orderingraariteting of the Company’s products.
The Company has invested and will continue to ihiresarious programs to enhance reseller saleyding staffing selected resellestbres
with Company employees and contractors. These anogicould require a substantial investment fronbmpany, while providing no
assurance of return or incremental revenue to offée investment.

Over the past several years, an increasing prapodti the Company’s net sales has been made bBgdhmany directly to end-users through
its online stores around the world and throughetail stores in the U.S., Canada, Japan, and iie&ébme of the Company’s resellers have
perceived this expansion of the Company’s direlgissas conflicting with their own businesses armhemic interests as distributors and
resellers of the Company'’s products. Perceptiosuoh a conflict could discourage the Company’sliersefrom investing additional
resources in the distribution and sale of the Camisaproducts or lead them to limit or cease distiion of the Company’s products. The
Company’s business and financial results coulddwversely affected if expansion of its direct sateend-users causes some or all of its
resellers to cease or limit distribution of the Gramy’s products.

Further information regarding risks associated \Wtrketing and Distribution may be found in Paidtém 1 of this Form 10-K under the
heading “Markets and Distribution.”

The Company relies on third-party digital contemhich may not be available to the Company on corialgr reasonable terms or at all.
The Company contracts with third parties to offegit digital content to customers through the ComyfsiTunes Music Store. The Company
pays substantial fees to obtain the rights to dffeéts customers this third-party digital contefibhe Company’s licensing arrangements with
these third-party content providers are short-termature and do not guarantee the future renefsthlese arrangements at commercially
reasonable terms, if at all. Certain parties inrthesic industry have consolidated and formed atkanwhich could limit the availability and
increase the fees required to offer digital conterdustomers through the iTunes Music Store. leurtbome third-party content providers
currently, or may in the future, offer music protiuand services that compete with the Compamyuisic products and services, and could
action to make it more difficult or impossible fine Company to license their digital content infiltare. If the Company is unable to
continue to offer a wide variety of digital contexttreasonable prices with acceptable usage ieantinue to expand its geographic reach
outside the U.S., then sales and gross margirteed€bmpany’s iTunes Music Store as well as relatgdware and peripherals, including
iPods, may be adversely affected.

Third-party content providers and artists requir@ the Company provide certain digital rights nggemaent solutions and other security
mechanisms. If the requirements from content prergidr artists change, then the Company may béreeqto further develop or license
technology to address such new rights and requinesn&here is no assurance that the Company wildbe to develop or license
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such solutions at a reasonable cost and in a timalyner, if at all, which could have a materialiverse effect on the Company’s operating
results and financial position.

The Company'’s future performance is dependent sppport from third-party software developers. ifdhparty software applications cease
to be developed or available for the Company’s hane products, then customers may choose not teheu¢€ompany’s products.

The Company believes that decisions by customegusitthase the Company’s personal computers, aseggo Windowdased systems, ¢
often based on the availability of third-party sedte for particular applications such as Microsafitice. The Company also believes the
availability of third-party application softwarerfthe Company’s hardware products depends in petthicd-party developers’ perception and
analysis of the relative benefits of developingjntaning, and upgrading such software for the Canys products versus software for the
larger Windows market or growing Linux market. Thigalysis may be based on factors such as theipedcgtrength of the Company and its
products, the anticipated potential revenue that beagenerated, continued acceptance by custorhbtamOS X, and the costs of
developing such software products. To the extemtimority market share held by the Company ingiiesonal computer market has caused
software developers to question the Company’s grispn the personal computer market, developarsldie less inclined to develop new
application software or upgrade existing softwanetfie Company’s products and more inclined to tetlweir resources to developing and
upgrading software for the larger Windows markegmwing Linux market. Moreover, there can be nsusance software developers will
continue to develop software for Mac OS X, the Canyjs operating system, on a timely basis or at all

In June 2005, the Company announced its plan tmhesing Intel microprocessors in its Macintosh poters. The Company plans to begin
shipping certain models with Intel microprocesdnyslune 2006 and to complete this transition tellmticroprocessors for all of its
Macintosh computers by the end of calendar yea7 200e Company depends on third-party software l[dpees to timely develop current
and future applications that run on Intel and P&®@microprocessors. The Company’s inability to tindeliver new Intel-based products, or
a decline in available applications that run on@oenpany’s PowerPC products or the lack of appbioatthat run on Intel-based Macintosh
systems could have a materially adverse effecherCompany’s operating results and financial positi

In addition, past and future development by the gamy of its own software applications and solutioray negatively impact the decision of
software developers, such as Microsoft and Adabdgetelop, maintain, and upgrade similar or contipetsoftware for the Company’s
products. The Company currently markets and selbriety of software applications for use by prefesals, consumers, and education
customers that could influence the decisions afltharty software developers to develop or upgiddeintosheompatible software produc
Software applications currently marketed by the @any include software for professional film andeaddediting, professional compositing
and visual effects for large format film and vidgoductions, professional music production and mpsst production, professional and
consumer DVD encoding and authoring, professioigatad photo editing and workflow management, cansu digital video and digital
photo editing and management, digital music manamgendesktop-based database management, word girggesnd high-quality
presentations. The Company also markets an ineypabductivity application that incorporates wprdcessing, page layout, image
manipulation, spreadsheets, databases, and présesta a single application. Discontinuance afd¥party products for the Macintosh
platform, including Microsoft Office could have adverse effect on the Company’s net sales andtsesubperations.
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The Company’s business relies on access to paedtmtellectual property obtained from third p&di and the Company’s future results
could be adversely affected if it is alleged omfdto have infringed on the intellectual properights of others.

Many of the Company’s products are designed taiohelintellectual property obtained from third pastiWhile it may be necessary in the
future to seek or renew licenses relating to variaspects of its products and business method€dimpany believes that based upon past
experience and industry practice, such licenseergy could be obtained on commercially reasonédai@s. However, there can be no
assurance that the necessary licenses would bataezor available on acceptable terms.

Because of technological changes in the compukcansumer electronics industries, current extengatent coverage, and the rapid rate of
issuance of new patents, it is possible certainpmrants of the Comparg/products and business methods may unknowinglyngd existing
patents of others. The Company has from time te tigen notified that it may be infringing certaatemts or other intellectual property rig
of others. Responding to such claims, regardlesisedf merit, can be time-consuming, result in gigant expenses, and cause the diversion
of management and technical personnel. Severaimgothims are in various stages of evaluation. Thenpany may consider the
desirability of entering into licensing agreemeintsertain of these cases. However, no assuramcbecgiven that such licenses can be
obtained on acceptable terms or that litigation mok occur. In the event there is a temporaryarm@anent injunction entered prohibiting the
Company from marketing or selling certain of itegucts or a successful claim of infringement agdims Company requiring it to pay
royalties to a third-party, the Company’s futureeging results and financial condition could beaadely affected. Information regarding
certain claims and litigation involving the Compamjated to alleged patent infringement and othaftens is set forth in Part I, Iltem 3 of this
Form 10-K. In the opinion of management, the Comypdes not have a potential liability for damagesoyalties from any current legal
proceedings or claims related to the infringemémqadent or other intellectual property rights d¢ii@rs that would individually or in the
aggregate have a material adverse effect on itstsesf operations, or financial condition. Howewvie results of such legal proceedings
cannot be predicted with certainty. Should the Canyfail to prevail in any of the matters relatedrifringement of patent or other
intellectual property rights of others describedPart I, Item 3 of this Form 10-K or should severathese matters be resolved against the
Company in the same reporting period, the operagsglts of a particular reporting period couldnbaterially adversely affected.

The Company'’s retail initiative has required andlwbntinue to require a substantial investment aadhmitment of resources and is subject
to numerous risks and uncertainties.

Through October 2005, the Company had opened 18# stores. The Company’s retall initiative haquieed substantial investment in
equipment and leasehold improvements, informatysitesns, inventory, and personnel. The Company Isaseatered into substantial
operating lease commitments for retail space waitsé terms ranging from 5 to 20 years, the majofityhich are for 10 years. The Comps
could incur substantial costs should it choosetminate this initiative or close individual stor&sich costs could adversely affect the
Company'’s results of operations and financial ctimli Additionally, a relatively high proportion ¢iie Retail segment’s costs are fixed
because of depreciation on store construction erstdease expense. As a result, significant lossed result should the Retail segment
experience a significant decline in sales for aason.

Certain of the Company’s stores have been designéduilt to serve as high profile venues that fiemcas vehicles for general corporate
marketing, corporate events, and brand awarenessiuBe of their unique design elements, locatindssi&e, these stores require
substantially more investment in equipment anddbakl improvements than the Company’s more typialil stores. The Company has
opened seven such stores through October 2005uBecd their location and size, these high prdfitees also require the Company to enter
into substantially larger operating lease committseompared to those required for its more typstates. Current leases on such locations
have terms ranging from 10 to 14 years with total
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remaining commitments per location ranging frorm§ilion to $46 million. Closure or poor performancgone of these high profile stores
could have a particularly significant negative irojpan the Company’s results of operations and firrcondition.

Many of the general risks and uncertainties the amyg faces could also have an adverse impact &teitsl segment. Also, many factors
unique to retail operations present risks and uaigies, some of which are beyond the Companyrgrof that could adversely affect the
Retail segment’s future results, cause its aceallts to differ from those currently expected,/antiave an adverse effect on the Company’s
consolidated results of operations. Potential raghks uncertainties unique to retail operations ¢batd have an adverse impact on the Retail
segment include, among other things, macro-econtantors that have a negative impact on generail @ttivity; inability to manage costs
associated with store construction and operatailyre to attract new users to the Macintosh ptatfdnability to sell third-party hardware

and software products at adequate margins; faitureanage relationships with existing retail chamaetners; lack of experience in
managing retail operations outside the U.S.; castsciated with unanticipated fluctuations in thkig of Apple-branded and thighrty retai
inventory; and inability to obtain quality retaildations at reasonable cost.

Investment in new business strategies and inigatoould disrupt the Compé's ongoing business and may present risks not roaityi
contemplated.

The Company has and may in the future invest in pesiness strategies or engage in acquisitionstmplement the Company’s strategic
direction and product roadmap. Such endeavors maphie significant risks and uncertainties, inchgldistraction of management’s
attention away from normal business operationgiffitsent revenue generation to offset liabilit@ssumed and expenses associated with the
strategy; and unidentified issues not discoveraiénCompany’s due diligence process. Because ttmgerentures are inherently risky, no
assurance can be given that such strategies dradiugs will be successful and will not materiadiglversely affect the Company’s business,
operating results or financial condition.

Declines in the sales of the Comp’s professional products, software, accessoriesesvice and support contracts, or increases iesalf
consumer products, including iPods, may negatiirajyact the Company’s gross margin and operatinggimpercentages.

The Company'’s professional products, including RoWacintosh and PowerBook systems, software, aodess and service and support
contracts, generally have higher gross margins tfri€ompany’s consumer products, including iM&8soks, iPods, and content from the
iTunes Music Store. A shift in sales mix away frbigher margin professional products towards lowargim consumer products could
adversely affect the Company’s future gross maagih operating margin percentages. The Companylgitwaal professional customers may
choose to buy consumer products, specifically Meci G5 and iBook, instead of professional produetefessional users may choose to buy
the iMac G5 due to its relative price performang® of the same PowerPC G5 processor used in the&y’s Power Macs, and unique
design featuring a flat panel screen. Potentialé?Bwok customers may also choose to purchase iBosetead due to their price performa
and screen size. Additionally, significant futurewth in iPod sales without corresponding growthiigher margin product sales could also
reduce gross margin and operating margin percesitage

It is likely that some of the Company’s current grodentialprofessional, creative, and small business custmaéro are most likely to utiliz
professional systembglieve that the relatively slower MHz rating ooait speed of the microprocessors the Company esiliz its Macintos
systems compares unfavorably to those utilizedtbgracomputer manufacturers and translates to slowerall system performance. These
factors may result in an adverse impact to saléseoCompany’s professional products as well agdss margin and operating margin
percentages.
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The Company expects its quarterly revenue and tipgreesults to fluctuate for a variety of reasons.

The Company’s profit margins vary among its produstd its distribution channels. The Company’safisales, primarily through its retail
and online stores, generally have higher assocatitability than its indirect sales. Additiongllthe Company’s direct channels have
traditionally had more sales of software and higiréred hardware products, which generally havadrigiross margins, than its indirect
channels. As a result, the Compangross margin and operating margin percentageslaas overall profitability may be adversely incped
as a result of a shift in product, geographic,f@mel mix, or new product announcements, incluthegransition to Intel-based Macintosh
computers. In addition, the Company generally salise products during the third month of each auattan it does during either of the first
two months, a pattern typical in the personal campimdustry. This sales pattern can produce pressuthe Company’s internal
infrastructure during the third month of a quagad may adversely impact the Company'’s abilityredpet its financial results accurately.
Developments late in a quarter, such as lower-trditipated demand for the Company’s productsngernal systems failure, or failure of
one of the Company’s key logistics, components keig or manufacturing partners, can have sigaift@dverse impacts on the Company
and its results of operations and financial cooditi

The Company has higher research and developmenseitidg, general and administrative costs, as eceetage of revenue, than many of its
competitors.

The Company'’s ability to compete successfully amintain attractive gross margins and revenue grasmtieavily dependent upon its ability
to ensure a continuing and timely flow of innovatand competitive products and technologies tortheketplace. As a result, the Company
incurs higher research and development costs ascamtage of revenue than its competitors whapsetional computers based on other
operating systems. Many of these competitors seekrpete aggressively on price and maintain vamydost structures. Further, as a result
of the expansion of the Company’s Retail segmedtcasts associated with marketing the Company’sdiacluding its unique operating
system, the Company incurs higher selling costs garcentage of revenue than many of its compstitbthe Company is unable to continue
to develop and sell innovative new products withaative gross margins, its results of operatioay tme materially adversely affected by its
operating cost structure.

The Company is exposed to credit risk on its actorateivable and prepayments related to long-teupply agreements. This risk is
heightened during periods when economic conditiemisen.

The Company distributes its products through tipiagty computer resellers and retailers and dirdotisertain educational institutions and
commercial customers. A substantial majority of @@npany’s outstanding trade receivables are natrea by collateral or credit insurance.
The Company also has unsecured non-trade recesveibla certain of its manufacturing vendors resgltirom the sale by the Company of
raw material components to these manufacturing @enagho manufacture sub-assemblies or assemblepfioducts for the Company. In
addition, the Company has entered into long-terppsuagreements to secure supply of NAND flash-mgnamd intends to prepay a total of
$1.25 billion under these agreements. While the o1y has procedures in place to monitor and limpbeure to credit risk on its trade and
non-trade receivables as well as long-term prepagsnénere can be no assurance that such procedlilirbs effective in limiting its credit
risk and avoiding losses. Additionally, if the gédleconomy and regional economies fail to improwveamtinue to deteriorate, it becomes
more likely that the Company will incur a matelli@ds or losses as a result of the weakening fimhcondition of one or more of its
customers or manufacturing vendors.

The Company’s success depends largely on itsyabiliattract and retain key personnel.

Much of the future success of the Company dependiecontinued service and availability of skilfgetsonnel, including its Chief
Executive Officer, members of its executive teand those in technical, marketing and staff pos#idixperienced personnel in the
information technology industry are in high demamdl competition for their talents is intense, eslycin the Silicon Valley, where the
majority of
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the Company'’s key employees are located. The Coynipas relied on its ability to grant stock opti@ssone mechanism for recruiting and
retaining this highly skilled talent. Recent accting regulations requiring the expensing of stopkans will impair the Company'’s future
ability to provide these incentives without incagisignificant compensation costs. There can bassarance that the Company will continue
to successfully attract and retain key personnel.

The Company is subject to risks associated withséthection, availability, and cost of insurance.

The Company has observed rapidly changing conditionhe insurance markets relating to nearly r@ha of traditional commercial
insurance. Such conditions have and may continuestalt in higher premium costs, higher policy detihles, lower coverage limits and may
also yield possible policy form exclusions. For gorisks, because of cost and/or availability, teenfany does not have insurance coverage.
Because the Company retains some portion of itg@de risks, and in some cases self insures cdetypleinforeseen or catastrophic losse
excess of insured limits may have a material adveffect on the Company’s results of operationsfarahcial position.

Failure of information technology systems and bhesin the security of data upon which the Compaligs could adversely affect t
Company’s future operating results.

Information technology system failures and breaaifekata security could disrupt the Company’s apild function in the normal course of
business by potentially causing delays or candefiaf customer orders, impeding the manufacturghigment of products, or resulting in
unintentional disclosure of customer or Compangrimfation. Management has taken steps to address tioacerns for its own systems by
implementing sophisticated network security andrimal control measures. However, there can be sirasce that a system failure or data
security breach of the Company or a third-partydegrwill not have a material adverse effect onGlmenpany’s results of operations.

The Company’s business is subject to the riskstefriational operations.

A large portion of the Company’s revenue is derifreth its international operations. As a resule @ompany’s operating results and
financial condition could be significantly affectbg risks associated with international activitieg]uding economic and labor conditions,
political instability, tax laws (including U.S. tax on foreign subsidiaries), and changes in theevad the U.S. dollar versus the local curre
in which the products are sold and goods and ses\ace purchased. The Company’s primary exposur@t@ments in foreign currency
exchange rates relate to non-dollar denominatexs $alEurope, Japan, Australia, Canada, and ceyéats of Asia and non-dollar
denominated operating expenses incurred throughewvorld. Weaknesses in foreign currencies, paeity the Japanese Yen and the Euro,
can adversely impact consumer demand for the Copgproducts and the U.S. dollar value of the Conypaforeign currency denominated
sales. Conversely, a strengthening in these arad @dheign currencies can cause the Company tofsnodernational pricing and affect the
value of the Company’s foreign denominated saled,ia some cases, may also increase the cost toalmpany of some product
components.

Margins on sales of the Company’s products in fpreiountries, and on sales of products that inchasieponents obtained from foreign
suppliers, can be adversely affected by foreigmnetury exchange rate fluctuations and by internatitnade regulations, including tariffs and
antidumping penalties.

Derivative instruments, such as foreign exchangedead and option positions have been utilized ly@ompany to hedge exposures to
fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates Uike of such hedging activities may not offsetentban a portion of the adverse financial
impact resulting from unfavorable movements in iigmeexchange rates.
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Further information related to the Company’s glabalrket risks may be found in Part Il, Item 7AletForm 10-K under the subheading
“Foreign Currency Risk” and may be found in Paritém 8 of this Form 10-K at Notes 1 and 2 of Natie Consolidated Financial
Statements.

The Company is subject to risks associated witlr@mwmental regulations.

Production and marketing of products in certaitestand countries may subject the Company to emviemtal and other regulations
including, in some instances, the requirement twigle customers the ability to return product até¢nd of its useful life, and place
responsibility for environmentally safe disposalecycling with the Company. Such laws and regofetihave recently been passed in se
jurisdictions in which the Company operates, inglgdvarious European Union member countries, Jagrach certain states within the U.S.
the future, these laws could have a material agveffect on the Company'’s results of operations.

Changes in accounting rules could affect the Comjsafiuture operating results.

Financial statements are prepared in accordantel@. generally accepted accounting principlegs€éhprinciples are subject to
interpretation by various governing bodies, inchgdihe FASB and the SEC, who create and interpgato@riate accounting standards. A
change from current accounting standards could haignificant effect on the Compasyesults of operations. In December 2004, the F
issued new guidance that addresses the accountispdre-based payments, SFAS No. 123R. In Apfib2the SEC deferred the effective
date of SFAS No. 123R to years beginning after 1i»ne&005. Therefore, SFAS No. 123R will be effeetior the Company beginning in its
first quarter of fiscal 2006. The Company expeltsadoption of SFAS No. 123R will result in a refitue of diluted earnings per common
share of approximately $0.03 for the first quadkfiscal 2006. Although the effect from the adoptiof SFAS No. 123R is expected to ha
material impact on the Company’s results of operej future changes to various assumptions useetésmine the fair-value of awards
issued or the amount and type of equity awardstgdacreate uncertainty as to the amount of futtoeksbased compensation expense.

Changes in the Company'’s tax rates could affedtittgre results.

The Company'’s future effective tax rates coulddefably or unfavorably affected by changes inrttie of earnings in countries with
differing statutory tax rates, changes in the viaduneof the Company’s deferred tax assets andliiiegsi, or by changes in tax laws or their
interpretation. In addition, the Company is subjedhe continuous examination of its income teimes by the Internal Revenue Service and
other tax authorities. The Company regularly assetie likelihood of adverse outcomes resultinghftbese examinations to determine the
adequacy of its provision for income taxes. Thexe lze no assurance that the outcomes from thes@wouns examinations will not have an
adverse affect on the Company’s net income anadiaicondition.

The Company’s stock price may be volatile.

The Company’s stock has at times experienced sulirtarice volatility as a result of variationstiveen its actual and anticipated financial
results and as a result of announcements by thep@wmyrand its competitors. The stock market hasréesqpeed extreme price and volume
fluctuations that have affected the market pricenafhy technology companies in ways that may haee barelated to the operating
performance of these companies. These factorsidimg) lack of positive general economic and pditiconditions and investors’ concerns
regarding the credibility of corporate financiapogting and integrity of financial markets, may evélly adversely affect the market price of
the Company’s stock in the future. In addition reases in the Company’s stock price may resulteéatgr dilution of earnings per share.
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ltem 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures Aout Market Risk

Interest Rate and Foreign Currency Risk Manager

The Company regularly reviews its foreign exchaftgeard and option positions and its interest st@p and option positions, both on a
stand-alone basis and in conjunction with its ulyileg foreign currency and interest rate relatedasures. However, given the effective
horizons of the Company’s risk management actwiied the anticipatory nature of the exposurese tb@n be no assurance the hedges will
offset more than a portion of the financial impaegulting from movements in either foreign exchaagmterest rates. In addition, the timing
of the accounting for recognition of gains and ésseelated to mark-to-market instruments for amggiperiod may not coincide with the
timing of gains and losses related to the undeglgoonomic exposures and, therefore, may adveaffelgt the Company’s operating results
and financial position.

Interest Rate Ris

While the Company is exposed to interest rate Glaitbns in many of the world’s leading industrializcountries, the Company’s interest
income and expense is most sensitive to fluctuatiorthe general level of U.S. interest rateshla tegard, changes in U.S. interest rates
affect the interest earned on the Company’s cash equivalents, and shoetm investments as well as costs associated wiitfigh currenc
hedges.

The Company'’s short-term investment policy andisgis to ensure the preservation of capital, rigeidity requirements, and optimize
return in light of the current credit and intereste environment. The Company benchmarks its padace by utilizing external money
managers to manage a small portion of the aggrémagstment portfolio. The external managers adtetee Companyg investment policie
and also provide occasional research and marlaniation that supplements internal research usetht@ credit decisions in the investm
process.

The Company’s exposure to market risk for changeésterest rates relates primarily to the Companwsstment portfolio. The Company
places its short-term investments in highly ligeéturities issued by high credit quality issuerd, &y policy, limits the amount of credit
exposure to any one issuer. The Company’s genelialyps to limit the risk of principal loss and ure the safety of invested funds by
limiting market and credit risk. All highly liquithvestments with maturities of three months or Ergsclassified as cash equivalents; highly
liquid investments with maturities greater tharethmonths are classified as short-term investmastsf September 24, 2005, approximately
$287 million of the Company’s short-term investnselmad underlying maturities ranging from 1 to 5rgedAs of September 25, 2004, $180
million of the Company’s investment portfolio cld&d as short-term investments had maturities irgnérom 1 to 5 years. The remainder all
had underlying maturities between 3 and 12 moriths.Company may sell its investments prior to teted maturities, due to liquidity
needs, in anticipation of credit deteriorationfarduration management. The Company recognizest éss before taxes of $137,000 in
2005, and net gains before taxes of $1 million $24 million in 2004, and 2003, respectively assulteof such sales.

In order to provide a meaningful assessment oirttagest rate risk associated with the Companyestment portfolio, the Company
performed a sensitivity analysis to determine thpdct that a change in interest rates would hawb®ralue of the investment portfolio
assuming a 100 basis point parallel shift in tleddycurve. Based on investment positions as ofedelper 24, 2005, a hypothetical 100 basis
point increase in interest rates across all mésrivould result in a $19.9 million decline in fladr market value of the portfolio. As of
September 25, 2004, a similar 100 basis point shtfie yield curve would have resulted in a $1#illion decline in fair value. Such losses
would only be realized if the Company sold the Btwgents prior to maturity. Except in instances datkove, the Comparg/policy is to hols
investments to maturity.
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From time to time, the Company has entered inera@dt rate derivative transactions with finanaiatitutions in order to better match the
Company’s floating-rate interest income on its caghivalents and short-term investments with iedirate interest expense on its debt,
and/or to diversify a portion of the Company’s espi@ away from fluctuations in short-term U.S. iiagt rates. The Company did not enter
into any interest rate derivatives during 2005@d42and had no open interest rate derivatives @te8der 24, 2005.

Foreign Currency Ris

In general, the Company is a net receiver of caiesnother than the U.S. dollar. Accordingly, cheswin exchange rates, and in particular a
strengthening of the U.S. dollar, may negativefectfthe Company’s net sales and gross marging@essed in U.S. dollars. There is also a
risk that the Company will have to adjust localrency product pricing due to competitive presswhsn there has been significant volatility
in foreign currency exchange rates.

The Company may enter into foreign currency forwaand option contracts with financial institutiosgrotect against foreign exchange risks
associated with existing assets and liabilitiestage firmly committed transactions, forecastedifetcash flows, and net investments in
foreign subsidiaries. Generally, the Company’s fitads to hedge a majority of its existing matefimeign exchange transaction exposures.
However, the Company may not hedge certain foreigiange transaction exposures due to immateriplibhibitive economic cost of
hedging particular exposures, and limited avaiigbdf appropriate hedging instruments.

In order to provide a meaningful assessment ofdregn currency risk associated with certain & @ompany’s foreign currency derivative
positions, the Company performed a sensitivity gsialusing a value-at-risk (VAR) model to assesspibtential impact of fluctuations in
exchange rates. The VAR model consisted of usikigate Carlo simulation to generate 3000 random etgukice paths. The VAR is the
maximum expected loss in fair value, for a givenfience interval, to the Company’s foreign exchapgrtfolio due to adverse movements
in rates. The VAR model is not intended to représetual losses but is used as a risk estimatidmaanagement tool. The model assumes
normal market conditions. Forecasted transactiimns,commitments, and assets and liabilities dematgd in foreign currencies were
excluded from the model. Based on the results@hibdel, the Company estimates with 95% confideneaximum one-day loss in fair
value of $10.0 million as of September 24, 2005 parad to a maximum one-day loss of $3.2 milliom@&September 25, 2004. Because the
Company uses foreign currency instruments for heglgurposes, losses incurred on those instrumeatgeaerally offset by increases in the
fair value of the underlying exposures.

Actual future gains and losses associated wittCimapany’s investment portfolio and derivative piosis may differ materially from the
sensitivity analyses performed as of Septembe2@d5 due to the inherent limitations associateti wiedicting the changes in the timing
amount of interest rates, foreign currency exchamgtes, and the Company’s actual exposures atiiiopes
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Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(In millions, except share amounts)

ASSETS:
Current asset:
Cash and cash equivalel
Shor-term investment

Accounts receivable, less allowances of $46 and &$pectively

Inventories
Deferred tax asse
Other current assets
Total current assets
Property, plant, and equipment, |
Goodwill
Acquired intangible assets, r
Other assets
Total assets

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY:

Current liabilities:
Accounts payabl
Accrued expenses

Total current liabilities

Nonr-current liabilities

Total liabilities

Commitments and contingenci

Shareholder equity:

Common stock, no par value; 1,800,000,000 shartoazed;
835,019,364 and 782,887,234 shares issued ancuoditsd),
respectively

Deferred stock compensati

Retained earning

Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)

Total shareholders’ equity
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity

September 24, 200!

September 25, 200-

$ 3,491
4,770
895

165

331

648
10,300
817

69

27

338

$ 11,551

$ 1,77¢
1,705
3,484
601
4,085

3,521
(60)
4,005

7,466
$ 11,551

See accompanying notes to consolidated finanassients.
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$2,96¢
2,495
774
101
231
485
7,055
707
80

17
191




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(In millions, except share and per share amounts)

Three fiscal years ended September 24, 20!
Net sales
Cost of sales
Gross margin
Operating expense
Research and developm
Selling, general, and administrati
Restructuring costs
Total operating expenses
Operating income (loss)

Other income and expens

Gains on no-current investments, n

Interest and other income, net

Total other income and expense

Income before provision for income taxes
Provision for income taxes
Income before accounting changes
Cumulative effects of accounting changes, net cbrime taxes
Net income

Earnings per common share before accounting cha
Basic
Diluted

Earnings per common sha
Basic
Diluted

Shares used in computing earnings per share (usémuls)
Basic
Diluted

See accompanying notes to consolidated financgsients.
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2005 2004 2003

$ 13931 $ 827¢ $ 6,207
9,888 6,020 4,499
4,043 2,259 1,708
534 489 471
1,859 1,421 1,212

— 23 26

2,393 1,933 1,708
1,650 326 1)

— 4 10

165 53 83

165 57 93
1,815 383 92
480 107 24
1,335 276 68

— — 1

$ 133 % 2716 % 69
$ 165 $ 037 $ 0.0
$ 156 $ 036 $ 0.08
$ 165 $ 037 $ 0.C
$ 156 $ 03€ $ 0.0S
808,43¢ 743,18( 721,262
856,78( 774,622 726,93z




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
(In millions, except share amounts which are in thasands)

Balances as of September 28, 2002
Components of comprehensive incor
Net income
Change in foreign currency translati
Change in unrealized gain on available-fc
sale securities, net of t:
Change in unrealized gain on derivative
investments, net of te
Total comprehensive incon
Amortization of deferred stock compensat
Write-off of deferred stock
compensatiol
Common stock issued under stock pl
Settlement of forward purchase
agreemen
Tax benefit related to stock optio
Balances as of September 27, 2003
Components of comprehensive incor
Net income
Change in foreign currency translati
Change in unrealized gain on available-fc
sale securities, net of t:
Change in unrealized loss on derivative
investments, net of te
Total comprehensive incon
Issuance of restricted stock ur
Adjustment to common stock related to a pi
year acquisitior
Amortization of deferred stock compensat
Common stock issued under stock pl
Tax benefit related to stock optio
Balances as of September 25, 2004
Components of comprehensive incor
Net income
Change in foreign currency translati
Change in unrealized gain on derivative
investments, net of te
Total comprehensive incon
Issuance of restricted stock units,
Amortization of deferred stock compensat
Common stock issued under stock pl
Tax benefit related to stock options
Balances as of September 24, 2005

Accumulated

See accompanying notes to consolidated financitdsients.
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Other Total
Common Stock Deferred Stock Retained Comprehensive Shareholder¢
Shares  Amount Compensation  Earnings Income (Loss) Equity
717,91¢ $1,82€ $ (7) $2,32 $ (49) $ 4,095
— — — 69 — 69
— — — — 31 31
— — — — 12) a2)
— — — — ®) 5)
83
— — 15 — — 15
— — 5 — — 5
18,59¢ 128 (75) — — 53
(3,062) (35) — — — (35)
— 7 — — — 7
733,45¢  $1,92€ $ (62) $2,394 $ (35) $4,223
— — — 276 — 276
— — — — 13 13
— — — — (5) (5)
— — — — 12 12
296
— 64 (64) — — —
(159) (2) — — — (2)
— — 33 — — 33
49,592 427 — — — 427
— 99 — — — 99
782,887 $2,514 $ (93) $2,67C $ (15) $5,07€
— — — 1,335 — 1,335
_ — — — 7 7
— — — — 8 8
1,350
— 7 @) — — _
— — 40 — — 40
52,132 547 — — — 547
— 453 — — — 453
835,01¢ $3,521 $ (60) $ 4,005 $ — $7,46€




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(In millions)
Three fiscal years ended September 24, 20! 2005 2004 2003
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of the year $ 2,96¢ $ 3,396 $ 2,257
Operating Activities
Net income 1,335 276 69
Cumulative effects of accounting changes, netxsd#g — — (1)
Adjustments to reconcile net income to cash geedray operating
activities:
Depreciation, amortization and accret 179 150 113
Stocl-based compensation expel 42 33 16
Non-cash restructurin — 5 12
Provision for (benefit from) deferred income ta 52 20 (11)
Tax benefit from stock optior 453 99 7
Loss on disposition of property, plant, and equiph 9 7 2
Gains on sales of sh-term investments, n — (1) (21)
Gains on no-current investments, n — (4) (20)
Gain on forward purchase agreem — — (6)
Changes in operating assets and liabilit
Accounts receivabl (121) (8) (201)
Inventories (64) (45) (11)
Other current asse (150) (176) (34)
Other asset (61) (39) (30)
Accounts payabl 328 297 243
Other liabilities 533 320 152
Cash generated by operating activities 2,535 934 289
Investing Activities:
Purchases of shi-term investment (11,470) (3,270) (2,648)
Proceeds from maturities of sk-term investment 8,609 1,141 2,446
Proceeds from sales of si-term investment 586 801 1,116
Proceeds from sales of r-current investment — 5 45
Purchases of property, plant, and equipn (260) (176) (164)
Other (21) 11 33
Cash (used for) generated by investing activities (2,556)  (1,488) 828
Financing Activities
Payment of lon-term debt — (300) —
Proceeds from issuance of common st 543 427 53
Cash used for repurchase of common stock — — (26)
Cash generated by financing activities 543 127 27
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 522 (427) 1,144
Cash and cash equivalents, end of the year $ 3491 $ 2,96 $ 3,39€
Supplemental cash flow disclosur
Cash paid during the year for inter $ — $ 10 $ 20
Cash paid (received) for income taxes, $ 17 % 7y $ 45

See accompanying notes to consolidated financassients.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 1—Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Apple Computer, Inc. and its subsidiaries (the Cany) designs, manufactures, and markets persongluters and related software,
services, peripherals, and networking solutiong Tbmpany also designs, develops, and markets afliportable digital music players
along with related accessories and services inofuttie online distribution of third-party music,dé@ books, music videos, short films, and
television shows. The Company sells its productddwade through its online stores, its own retadrss, its direct sales force, and thiyarty
wholesalers, resellers, and value-added reselfeesldition to its own hardware, software, and piegral products, the Company sells a
variety of third-party hardware and software pradubrough its online and retail stores. The Congpsalls to education, consumer, creative
professional, business, and government customers.

Basis of Presentation and Preparation

The accompanying consolidated financial statemientade the accounts of the Company. Intercompaepants and transactions have been
eliminated. The preparation of these consolidaiteahtial statements in conformity with U.S. genlgratcepted accounting principles
requires management to make estimates and assasfhit affect the amounts reported in these cimtzdet! financial statements and
accompanying notes. Actual results could differeriatly from those estimates. Certain prior yeapants in the consolidated financial
statements and notes thereto have been reclagsifehform to the current year presentation.

Typically, the Company’s fiscal year ends on thst Baturday of September. Fiscal years 2005, 20032003 were each 52-week years.
However, approximately every six years, the Compapprts a 53veek fiscal year to align its fiscal quarters wédlendar quarters by add
a week to its first fiscal quarter. The Companyl aild this additional week in the first fiscal qugairof its fiscal year 2006. All information
presented herein is based on the Company’s fis¢ahdar.

Common Stock Split
On February 28, 2005, the Company effected a twaifi@ stock split to shareholders of record asatir&rary 18, 2005. All share and per
share information has been retroactively adjusteéflect the stock split.

Financial Instruments

Cash Equivalents and Short-term Investments

All highly liquid investments with maturities ofse months or less at the date of purchase arsifiddlsas cash equivalents. Highly liquid
investments with maturities greater than three imoate classified as short-term investments. Thap2aoy’s debt and marketable equity
securities have been classified and accountedsfarvailable-for-sale. Management determines theogpiate classification of its investments
in debt and marketable equity securities at the tifnpurchase and reevaluates available-for-saligaation as of each balance sheet date.
These securities are carried at fair value, withithrealized gains and losses, net of taxes, egbag a component of shareholders’ equity.
The cost of securities sold is based upon the pédéntification method.

Derivative Financial Instrument

The Company accounts for its derivative instrumesteither assets or liabilities and carries thefaievalue. Derivatives that are not defir
as hedges in SFAS 13&¢counting for Derivative Instruments and Hedgirgjivities, must be adjusted to fair value through earningthdf
derivative is a hedge, depending on the naturbeohedge, changes in fair value will either beaiftgyainst the change in fair value of the
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hedged assets, liabilities, or firm commitmentstigh earnings, or recognized in other comprehensaa@me until the hedged item is
recognized in earnings.

For derivative instruments that hedge the exposuvariability in expected future cash flows thet designated as cash flow hedges, the net
gain or loss on the derivative instrument is regb@s a component of accumulated other compreleeimgisme in shareholders’ equity and
reclassified into earnings in the same period oiogs during which the hedged transaction affeatsiegs. To receive hedge accounting
treatment, cash flow hedges must be highly effedtivoffsetting changes to expected future cashsflon hedged transactions. For derivative
instruments that hedge the exposure to changée ifatr value of an asset or a liability and that designated as fair value hedges, the net
gain or loss on the derivative instrument as welihe offsetting gain or loss on the hedged itenbatable to the hedged risk are recognized
in earnings in the current period. The net gaitoss on the effective portion of a derivative instient that is designated as an economic t

of the foreign currency translation exposure ofrieeinvestment in a foreign operation is repoitethe same manner as a foreign currency
translation adjustment. For forward contracts destied as net investment hedges, the Company exctidages in fair value relating to
changes in the forward carry component from itsnitedn of effectiveness. Accordingly, any gainslasses related to this component are
recognized in current earnings.

The Company may enter into foreign currency forwardtracts to hedge the translation and econongosxe of a net investment positiol
a foreign subsidiary. For such contracts, hedgectffeness is measured based on changes in thafag of the contract attributable to
changes in the spot exchange rate. The effectisépaf the net gain or loss on a derivative instent designated as a hedge of the net
investment position in a foreign subsidiary is ré@d in the same manner as a foreign currencylatms adjustment. Any residual change
fair value of the forward contract, including chasdn fair value based on the differential betwtsenspot and forward exchange rates, are
recognized in current earnings in other incomeexpense.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost, coregbusking the first-in, first-out method, or markéthe cost of the inventories exceeds their
market value, provisions are made currently fordifference between the cost and the market vdlne.Company’s inventories consist
primarily of finished goods for all periods preseuht

Property, Plant, and Equipment

Property, plant, and equipment are stated at Begireciation is computed by use of the straigtg-fimethod over the estimated useful lives of
the assets, which are 30 years for buildings, Upyears for equipment, and the shorter of leasester 10 years for leasehold improvements.
The Company capitalizes eligible costs to acquirdevelop internalise software that are incurred subsequent to #ierpnary project stag
Capitalized costs related to internal-use softvesecamortized using the straight-line method olergstimated useful lives of the assets,
which range from 3 to 5 years. Depreciation andréizadion expense on property and equipment wad $dittion, $126 million, and $108
million during 2005, 2004, and 2003, respectively.
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Asset Retirement Obligations

The Company records obligations associated witlatiement of tangible long-lived assets and $soaiated asset retirement costs in
accordance with SFAS No. 14&¢counting for Asset Retirement Obligatioi$ie Company reviews legal obligations associafi¢tl the
retirement of long-lived assets that result from #lcquisition, construction, development and/omadruse of the assets. If it is determined
that a legal obligation exists, the fair valuelod tiability for an asset retirement obligationégognized in the period in which it is incurred if
a reasonable estimate of fair value can be madefdihvalue of the liability is added to the camg amount of the associated asset and this
additional carrying amount is depreciated oveilifieeof the asset. The difference between the geagected future cash flow and its present
value is accreted over the life of the relateddems an operating expense. All of the Company'stiexj asset retirement obligations are
associated with commitments to return property extitip operating leases to original condition ufg@se termination.

The following table reconciles changes in the Comyfsmasset retirement liabilities for fiscal 2004da2005 (in millions):

Asset retirement liability as of September 27, 2 $ 7.2
Additional asset retirement obligations recogni 0.5
Accretion recognized 0.5

Asset retirement liability as of September 25, 2004 $ 8.2
Additional asset retirement obligations recogni 2.8
Accretion recognized 0.7

©~
(SN
=
~l

Asset retirement liability as of September 24, 2005

Cumulative Effects of Accounting Changes
In 2003, the Company recognized a net favorableutatme effect type adjustment of approximatelyrfillion from the adoption of SFAS
No. 150,Accounting for Certain Financial Instruments witha&acteristic of Both Liabilities and Equignd SFAS No. 143.

Long-Lived Assets Including Goodwill and Other Acqured Intangible Assets

The Company reviews property, plant, and equipraadtcertain identifiable intangibles, excluding dadl, for impairment whenever ever
or changes in circumstances indicate the carryinguent of an asset may not be recoverable. Recoligralf these assets is measured by
comparison of its carrying amount to future undistded cash flows the assets are expected to genHrptoperty, plant, and equipment and
certain identifiable intangibles are consideretiédmpaired, the impairment to be recognized eghalsmount by which the carrying value
of the assets exceeds its fair market value. Fothtee fiscal years ended September 24, 200%;dhgany had no material impairment of its
long-lived assets, except for the impairment ofaiarassets in connection with the restructuringpas described in Note 5 of these Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements.

SFAS No. 142Goodwill and Other Intangible Assatsquires that goodwill and intangible assets wittefinite useful lives should not be
amortized but rather be tested for impairmentagti@annually or sooner whenever events or chamggscumstances indicate that they may
be impaired. The Company performs its goodwill impa&nt tests on or about August 30 of each yeae. Cbmpany did not recognize any
goodwill or intangible asset impairment charge2005, 2004, or 2003. The Company established riegauhits based on its current repor:
structure. For purposes of testing goodwill for
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impairment, goodwill has been allocated to thepenting units to the extent it relates to each répg unit. SFAS No. 142 also requires that
intangible assets with definite lives be amortipedr their estimated useful lives and reviewedrfgrairment in accordance with SFAS

No. 144,Accounting for the Impairment of Long-Lived Assetd for Long-Lived Assets to Be Disposed Tie Company is currently
amortizing its acquired intangible assets with wigdilives over periods ranging from 3 to 10 years.

Foreign Currency Translation

The Company translates the assets and liabilifigs mternational non-U.S. functional currencybsidiaries into U.S. dollars using exchange
rates in effect at the end of each period. Revamgeexpenses for these subsidiaries are translated rates that approximate those in effect
during the period. Gains and losses from theselxions are credited or charged to foreign cuydranslation included in “accumulated
other comprehensive income (loss)” in shareholdegsity. The Company’s foreign manufacturing suiasids and certain other international
subsidiaries that use the U.S. dollar as theirtfanal currency remeasure monetary assets anditiedbat exchange rates in effect at the end
of each period, and inventories, property, and rmmetary assets and liabilities at historical ra@sins and losses from these translations
were insignificant and have been included in then@any’s results of operations.

Revenue Recognition

Net sales consist primarily of revenue from the sdlhardware, software, peripherals, digital cofjtand service and support contracts.
Company recognizes revenue pursuant to applic@isleuating standards, including Statement of Posit®OP) No. 97-25oftware Revenue
Recognitior, as amended, and Securities and Exchange Commi&iC) Staff Accounting Bulletin (SAB) No. 10Revenue Recognitian

The Company recognizes revenue when persuasiveregdf an arrangement exists, delivery has oatutie sales price is fixed or
determinable, and collection is probable. Prodsicbinsidered delivered to the customer once ibkas shipped and title and risk of loss t
been transferred. For most of the Company’s proslaiets, these criteria are met at the time theymtdd shipped. For online sales to
individuals, for some sales to education custormetise U.S., and for certain other sales, the Camplefers revenue until the customer
receives the product because the Company lega#ineea portion of the risk of loss on these sdlg#ng transit. If at the outset of an
arrangement the Company determines the arrangdeeeist not, or is presumed to not be, fixed or mheteable, revenue is deferred and
subsequently recognized as amounts become dueagatlp.

Revenue from service and support contracts is gefemnd recognized ratably over the service coeepagiods. These contracts typically
include extended phone support, repair serviceb;lvesed support resources, diagnostic tools, ateh@xhe service coverage offered under
the Company’s one-year limited warranty.

The Company sells software and peripheral proclutigined from other companies. The Company eshkasigs own pricing and retains
related inventory risk, is the primary obligor @mes transactions with its customers, and assumeesrédit risk for amounts billed to its
customers. Accordingly, the Company recognizesmegdor the sale of products obtained from othenganies at the gross amount billed.
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Revenue on arrangements that include multiple aeisrsuch as hardware, software, and servicesosadéid to each element based on the
relative fair value of each element. Each elemaaittscated revenue is recognized when revenue rethg criteria for that element has been
met. Fair value is generally determined by vengeccgic objective evidence (VSOE), which is basediee price charged when each element
is sold separately. If the Company cannot objebtidetermine the fair value of any undelivered edeirincluded in a multiple-element
arrangement, the Company defers revenue untilatients are delivered and services have been perthror until fair value can objectively
be determined for any remaining undelivered elemafthen the fair value of a delivered element lren established, the Company uses
the residual method to recognize revenue if theviaue of all undelivered elements is determinableder the residual method, the fair value
of the undelivered elements is deferred and thaiing portion of the arrangement fee is allocdtethe delivered elements and is
recognized as revenue.

The Company records reductions to revenue for estéidhcommitments related to price protection angdstomer incentive programs,
including reseller and end user rebates, and s#iles programs and volurbased incentives. The estimated cost of these gmugis accrue
as a reduction to revenue in the period the Compasysold the product and committed to a plan.Jdmpany also records reductions to
revenue for expected future product returns basati® Company’s historical experience.

Generally, the Company does not offer specifiedrapecified upgrade rights to its customers in ecotian with software sales or the sale of
extended warranty and support contracts. When tmepgany does offer specified upgrade rights, the @om defers revenue for the fair
value of the specified upgrade right until the fetobligation is fulfilled or when the right to tepecified upgrade expires. Additionally, a
limited number of the Company’s software producesavailable with maintenance agreements that guastbmers rights to unspecified
future upgrades over the maintenance term on a whdiif available basis. Revenue associated with swaintenance is recognized ratably
over the maintenance term.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

The Company records its allowance for doubtful acte based upon its assessment of various fadteesCompany considers historical
experience, the age of the accounts receivabledada credit quality of the Company’s customersietit economic conditions and other
factors that may affect customers’ ability to pay.

Shipping Costs
The Company’s shipping and handling costs are dfegluin cost of sales for all periods presented.

Warranty Expense

The Company provides currently for the estimatest ar product warranties at the time the relamanue is recognized. The Company
assesses the adequacy of its preexisting warrnafiijities and adjusts the amounts as necessapdb@s actual experience and changes in
future estimates.

Software Development Costs

Research and development costs are expensed aedhddevelopment costs of computer software tedie, leased, or otherwise marketed
are subject to capitalization beginning when a pobd technological feasibility has been established ending when a product is available
for general release to customers
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pursuant to SFAS No. 86€omputer Software to be Sold, Leased, or Otheriizketed. In most instances, the Company’s products are
released soon after technological feasibility hesrbestablished. Therefore, costs incurred subsetpachievement of technological
feasibility are usually not significant, and genigrall software development costs have been exgxbns

In the fourth quarter of 2004, the Company beganriring substantial development costs associatddMac OS X version 10.4 Tiger
subsequent to achievement of technological fedgilis evidenced by public demonstration in Audd4 and the subsequent release of a
developer beta version of the product. The Compamjtalized approximately $29.7 and $4.5 milliomidg 2005 and 2004, respectively, of
costs associated with the development of Tigeackordance with SFAS No. 86, amortization of tisised to cost of sales began in April 2
when the Company began shipping Tiger and is beioggnized on a straight-line basis over a 3 ystimated useful life.

During the second quarter of 2004, the Companyriedusubstantial development costs associatedRilgMaker Pro 7 subsequent to
achievement of technological feasibility as evid=hby public demonstration and release of a deeelbgta version, and prior to the release
of the final version of the product in March 2004erefore, during the second quarter of 2004, e @any capitalized approximately $2.3
million of costs associated with the developmerfitdMaker Pro 7. In accordance with SFAS No. 86pgization of this asset to cost of
sales began in March 2004 when the Company bedppisty FileMaker Pro 7 and is being recognized atraight-line basis over a 3 year
estimated useful life.

During the third and fourth quarters of 2003, tt@r@any incurred substantial development costs atedowith the development of Mac OS
X version 10.3 (code-named “Panther”), subsequeathievement of technological feasibility as ewitkd by public demonstration and
release of a developer beta in June 2003, and tori@lease of the final version of the produdhia first quarter of 2004. Therefore, during
2003 the Company capitalized approximately $14Maniof development costs associated with the tigraent of Panther. Amortization of
this asset began in the first quarter of 2004 wiPanther was shipped and is being recognized amiglstline basis in accordance with SF,
No. 86 over a 3 year estimated useful |

Total amortization related to capitalized softwdexelopment costs was $15.7 million, $10.7 milliand $5.8 million in 2005, 2004, and
2003, respectively.

Advertising Costs
Advertising costs are expensed as incurred. Adsiegtiexpense was $287 million, $206 million, an8@3®illion for 2005, 2004, and 2003,
respectively.

Stock-Based Compensation

The Company currently measures compensation expenigs employee stock-based compensation plaing dlse intrinsic value method
prescribed by Accounting Principles Board (APB) @@n No. 25Accounting for Stock Issued to Employe&he Company applies the
disclosure provisions of SFAS No. 128;counting for Stock-based Compensatias amended by SFAS No. 14&counting for Stock-
based Compensation—Transition and Disclosagéf the fair-value-based method had been appiieteasuring compensation expense.
Under APB Opinion No. 25, when the exercise pricthe Company’s employee stock options equals thket price of the underlying stock
on the date of the grant, no compensation expsn&eognized.
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As required under SFAS No. 123, the pro forma ésfe€ stock-based compensation on net income amihga per common share for
employee stock options granted and employee stoathpse plan share purchases have been estimakbeddate of grant and beginning of
the period, respectively, using a Black-Scholesooppricing model. For purposes of pro forma disol@s, the estimated fair value of the
options and shares is amortized to pro forma reemire over the options’ vesting period and the shalan period.

The Company’s pro forma information for each of ld&t three fiscal years follows (in millions, ept@er share amounts):

2005 2004 2003

Net incom—as reported $133E $ 276 $ 69
Add: Stock-based employee compensation expensgdiedlin reported

net income, net of ta 38 33 15
Deduct: Stock-based employee compensation expatssrined unde

the fair value based method for all awards, néax (114) (141) (181)
Net income (los—pro forma $1,25¢ $ 168 $ (97)
Net income per common sh—as reported

Basic $ 1.65 $037 $ 0.1C

Diluted $ 156 $0.36 $ 0.09
Net income (loss) per common sk—pro forma

Basic $ 156 $0.23 $(0.13

Diluted $ 147 $0.22 $(0.13

In December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 1239eev2004) (SFAS No. 123R3hare-Based Paymenivhich addresses the accounting
for share-based payment transactions in which targnise receives employee services in exchang@Jjarquity instruments of the enterprise
or (b) liabilities that are based on the fair vati¢he enterprise’s equity instruments or that maysettled by the issuance of such equity
instruments. SFAS No. 123R eliminates the abiitat¢count for sharbased compensation transactions using the intriadice method und
APB Opinion No. 25, and requires instead that drauhsactions be accounted for using a fair-valiselanethod. In January 2005, the SEC
issued SAB No. 107, which provides supplementalémgntation guidance for SFAS No. 123R. SFAS N@RL&ill be effective for the
Company beginning in the first quarter of its fis2@06. The Company’s assessment of the estimé&bell-based compensation expense is
affected by the Company’s stock price as well asiaptions regarding a number of complex variabhekthe related tax impact. These
variables include, but are not limited to, the Camgs stock price, volatility, and employee stock optéxercise behaviors and the relatec
impact. The Company will recognize stock-based camsption expense on all awards on a straight-lséstover the requisite service period
using the modified prospective method. Althoughateption of SFAS No. 123R is expected to have e effect on the Company’s
results of operations, future changes to variosaragtions used to determine the fair-value of aw@sued or the amount and type of equity
awards granted create uncertainty as to whetherefigtock-based compensation expense will be sitaildne historical SFAS No. 123 pro
forma expense.
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Earnings Per Common Share

Basic earnings per common share is computed bylidiyiincome available to common shareholders bywhbghtedaverage number
shares of common stock outstanding during the gefdluted earnings per common share is computedlibigling income available
common shareholders by the weightagtrage number of shares of common stock outstgralining the period increased to include
number of additional shares of common stock thatild/thave been outstanding if the dilutive potenslahres of common stock had b
issued. The dilutive effect of outstanding optiorsstricted stock and restricted stock units iseotéd in diluted earnings per share
application of the treasury stock method. Undertthasury stock method, an increase in the faikketaralue of the Company’commoil
stock can result in a greater dilutive effect fromtstanding options, restricted stock and resttist®ck units. Additionally, the exercise
employee stock options and the vesting of resttisteck and restricted stock units can resultgneater dilutive effect on earnings per share.

The following table sets forth the computation asizc and diluted earnings per share:

2005 2004 2003
Numerator (in millions)
Income before accounting chang $ 133k $ 276 $ 68
Cumulative effects of accounting changes, netxf ta — — 1
Net income $ 1,33 $ 276 $ 69

Denominator (in thousands):
Weighte-average shares outstanding, excluding unvestetctedtstocl  808,43¢  743,18C 721,26:

Effect of dilutive options, restricted stock urdtsd restricted stock 48,341 31,442 5,670
Denominator for diluted earnings per share 856,78C 774,62z 726,932
Basic earnings per share before accounting changes $ 165 $ 037 $ 0.09
Basic earnings per share after accounting cha $ 165 $ 037 $ 0.1C
Diluted earnings per share before accounting che $ 156 $ 036 $ 0.0¢
Diluted earnings per share after accounting cha $ 156 $ 036 $ 0.0¢

Potentially dilutive securities representing appmea¢ely 12.4 million, 8.7 million, and 101.6 millicshares of common stock for the years
ended September 24, 2005, September 25, 2004, entensber 27, 2003, respectively, were excluded tlamcomputation of diluted
earnings per share for these periods becauseefifieit would have been antidilutive. These potdigtiilutive securities include stock
options, restricted stock, and restricted stocksuni

Comprehensive Income

Comprehensive income consists of two componentsnoeme and other comprehensive income. Other celnemsive income refers to
revenue, expenses, gains and losses that undealigmecepted accounting principles are recordedraelement of shareholders’ equity but
are excluded from net income. The Company’s otbermehensive income is comprised of foreign curyeéranslation adjustments from
those subsidiaries not using the U.S. dollar ais thectional currency, unrealized gains and logsesnarketable securities categorized as
available-for-sale, and net deferred gains ancelbes certain derivative instruments accounte@g$arash flow hedges.
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Segment Information

The Company reports segment information based efifanagement” approach. The management approatndées the internal reporting
used by management for making decisions and aeggssiformance as the source of the Company’s t&gersegments. Information about
the Company’s products, major customers, and gpbgrareas on a company-wide basis is also distlose

Note 2—Financial Instruments
The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalaot®unts receivable, accounts payable, and acesymhses approximate their fair value
due to the short maturities of those instruments.

Cash, Cash Equivalents and Short-Term Investments
The following table summarizes the fair value af ompany’s cash and available-for-sale secutiéd in its short-term investment
portfolio, recorded as cash and cash equivalengbant-term investments (in millions):

September 24 September 25

2005 2004
Cash $ 127 $ 200
U.S. Treasury and Agency securities 89 87
U.S. corporate securitit 2,030 1,795
Foreign securities 1,245 887
Total cash equivalents 3,364 2,769
U.S. Treasury and Agency securities 216 1,080
U.S. corporate securiti¢ 3,662 1,352
Foreign securities 892 63
Total short-term investments 4,770 2,495
Total cash, cash equivalents, and short-term invests $8,261 $5,464

The Company’s U.S. corporate securities consistgnily of commercial paper, certificates of depasihe deposits and corporate debt
securities. Foreign securities consist primarilyareign commercial paper, certificates of depasi time deposits with foreign institutions,
most of which are denominated in U.S. dollars. Teenpany had net unrealized losses totaling $5.Bomibn its investment portfolio,
approximately half of which related to investmentith stated maturities less than 1 year as of $eipee 24, 2005 and net unrealized losse
$6.3 million on its investment portfolio, primariiglated to investments with stated maturities thas 1 year as of September 25, 2004. The
Company occasionally sells short-term investmerits fo their stated maturities. The Company reéogpha net loss before taxes of
$137,000 in 2005 and net gains before taxes of iiibmand $21 million in 2004 and 2003, respechivas a result of such sales. These net
gains were included in interest and other incoreg, n

As of September 24, 2005, approximately $287 nmiltdd the Company’s shoterm investments had underlying maturities randiog 1 to £
years. The remaining sh-term investments as of September 24, 2005 hadriti@suof 3 to 12 months. As of September 25, 2004,
approximately $180 million of the Company’s shantr investments had underlying maturities rangmgifl to 5 years. The remaining
short-term investments as of September 25, 2004rtsdrities of 3 to 12 months.
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In accordance with EITF 03-The Meaning of Other-Than-Temporary Impairment Bsd\pplication to Certain Investmentthe following
table shows gross unrealized losses and fair atufiose investments that were in an unrealized fwsition as of September 24, 2005 and
September 25, 2004, aggregated by investment agtagd the length of time that individual secustieave been in a continuous loss pos
(in millions):

2005
Less than 12 12 Months or
Months Greater Total
Unrealized Unrealized Unrealized
Fair Fair Fair

Security Description Value Loss Value Loss Value Loss
U.S. Treasury and Agenci $ 160 $(1) $ 2 $— $ 162 $(1)
Corporate bond 468 3) 26 — 494 3)

Certificate of deposit 288 — — — 288 —
Asset backed securitir 60 1) — — 60 1)
Commercial paper 4,526 (1) — — 4,526 (1)
Total $550z $(6) $28 $—  $553C $(6)

2004
Less than 12 12 Months or
Months Greater Total
Unrealized Unrealized Unrealized
Fair Fair Fair

Security Description Value Loss Value Loss Value Loss
U.S. Treasury and Agenci $1,12¢€ $(4) $ — $— $1,12¢ $4)
Corporate bond 134 — 144 1) 278 Q)
Certificate of deposit 420 Q) — — 420 Q)

Asset backed securitir 426 — — — 426 —
Commercial paper 2,407 1) — — 2,407 (1)
Total $4,51¢2 $6) $144 $(1) $4,657 $(7)

Market values were determined for each individealusity in the investment portfolio. The declinevelue of these investments is primarily
related to changes in interest rates and is coreside be temporary in nature. Investments arevestl periodically to identify possible
impairment. When evaluating the investments, then@any reviews factors such as the length of tintkeattent to which fair value has been
below cost basis, the financial condition of theuisr, and the Company’s ability and intent to ltbllinvestment for a period of time which
may be sufficient for anticipated recovery in mankaue.

Accounts Receivable

Trade Receivables

The Company distributes its products through tipiagty resellers and directly to certain educat@mmsumer, and commercial customers. The
Company generally does not require collateral fitsngustomers. However, when possible the Compaeyg dttempt to limit credit risk on
trade receivables with credit insurance for certaistomers in Latin America, Europe, and Asia andirbanging with third-party financing
companies to provide flooring arrangements andrdta and lease programs to the Company’s dirgstbmers. These credit financing
arrangements are directly between the third-pamgnicing company and the end customer. As suctCtimepany generally does not assume
any recourse or credit risk sharing related to @frthese arrangements. However, considerable tesmgvables that
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are not covered by collateral, third-party flooremgangements, or credit insurance are outstanditigthe Company’s distribution and retail
channel partners. No customer accounted for mane 10% of trade receivables as of September 24 @08eptember 25, 2004.

The following table summarizes the activity in @ilwance for doubtful accounts (in millions):

September 24 September 25 September 27

2005 2004 2003
Beginning allowance balance $47 $49 $51
Charged to costs and expen 8 3 4
Deductions (a) _ 9 _® _(©6)
Ending allowance balance $46 $47 $49

(&) Represents amounts written off against the allowanet of recoveries.

Vendor Non-Trade Receivables

The Company has non-trade receivables from ceofais manufacturing vendors resulting from theesafl raw material components to these
manufacturing vendors who manufacture sub-assesntiassemble final products for the Company. The@any purchases these raw
material components directly from suppliers. These-trade receivables, which are included in thesobdated balance sheets in other
current assets, totaled $417 million and $276 arillks of September 24, 2005 and September 25, &fXpkctively. The Company does not

reflect the sale of these components in net saléslaes not recognize any profits on these saltsthim products are sold through to the end
customer at which time the profit is recognizedasduction of cost of sales.

Derivative Financial Instruments

The Company uses derivatives to partially offsebitsiness exposure to foreign exchange and ibtatesrisk. Foreign currency forward and
option contracts are used to offset the foreigrharge risk on certain existing assets and liagdlitind to hedge the foreign exchange risk on
expected future cash flows on certain forecastedmee and cost of sales. From time to time, the 2o enters into interest rate derivative
agreements to modify the interest rate profileestain investments and debt. The Company’s accogiptdlicies for these instruments are

based on whether the instruments are designateedag or non-hedge instruments. The Company readirderivatives on the balance sheet
at fair value.
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Note 2—Financial Instruments (Continued)

The following table shows the notional principadt fair value, and credit risk amounts of the Conyp&foreign currency instruments as of
September 24, 2005 and September 25, 2004 (ironsli

September 24, 200! September 25, 200
Credit Risk Credit Risk
Notional Fair Notional Fair
Principal Value Amounts Principal Value Amounts
Foreign exchange instruments qualifying
accounting hedge
Spot/Forward contrac $ 662 $10 $10 $598 $ (3) $ 3
Purchased optior $1,66¢ $17 $17 $482 $ 4 $ 4
Sold options $1,087 $ (5) $— $521 $(3) $—
Foreign exchange instruments other
than accounting hedge
Spot/Forward contrac $ 833 $@3) $1 $ 609 $ 3 $ 4
Purchased optior $ 115 $— $— $ — $— $—
Sold options $ — $— $— $ — $— $—

The notional principal amounts for derivative instients provide one measure of the transaction wloutstanding as of year-end, and do
not represent the amount of the Company’s expdsureedit or market loss. The credit risk amourdvsh in the table above represents the
Companys gross exposure to potential accounting loss esetlransactions if all counterparties failed tdgren according to the terms of t
contract, based on then-current currency exchaatgs at each respective date. The Company’s exptsaredit loss and market risk will
vary over time as a function of currency excharges.

The estimates of fair value are based on applicatdecommonly used pricing models and prevailingrcial market information as of
September 24, 2005 and September 25, 2004. Alththegtable above reflects the notional principail, ¥alue, and credit risk amounts of the
Company’s foreign exchange instruments, it doegeftgct the gains or losses associated with tippgxres and transactions that the foreign
exchange instruments are intended to hedge. Theammaltimately realized upon settlement of thésaricial instruments, together with the
gains and losses on the underlying exposuresdefliend on actual market conditions during the reimgilife of the instruments.

Foreign Exchange Risk Managem

The Company may enter into foreign currency forwaand option contracts with financial institutiosgrotect against foreign exchange risk
associated with existing assets and liabilitiestage firmly committed transactions, forecastedifetcash flows, and net investments in
foreign subsidiaries. Generally, the Company’s fitads to hedge a majority of its existing matefimeign exchange transaction exposures.
However, the Company may not hedge certain foreiginange transaction exposures due to immaterigliphibitive economic cost of
hedging particular exposures, or limited avail&pitif appropriate hedging instruments.

To help protect gross margins from fluctuation$oireign currency exchange rates, the Company’s dbBar functional subsidiaries hedge a
portion of forecasted foreign currency revenuesd, thie Company’'s non-U.S. dollar functional subsidmselling in local currencies hedge a
portion of forecasted inventory purchases not denated in the subsidiaries’ functional currencyh@tcomprehensive income associated
with hedges of foreign currency revenues is recogghas a component of net sales in the same
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Note 2—Financial Instruments (Continued)

period as the related sales are recognized, ard otimprehensive income related to inventory pueebas recognized as a component of
of sales in the same period as the related costseaognized. Typically, the Company hedges paostufrits forecasted foreign currency
exposure associated with revenues and inventoghpaes over a time horizon of 3 to 6 months.

Derivative instruments designated as cash flow égagust be de-designated as hedges when it ishpedibat the forecasted hedged
transaction will not occur in the initially idengf time period or within a subsequent 2 month tpegod. Deferred gains and losses in other
comprehensive income associated with such deratistruments are immediately reclassified intmiggys in other income and expense.
Any subsequent changes in fair value of such diéviwanstruments are also reflected in current isgsiunless they are re-designated as
hedges of other transactions. The Company recogimeelosses of $1.6 million and $2.8 million ir080and 2004, respectively, in other
income and expense related to the loss of heddgn@gi®n on discontinued cash flow hedges due #mghs in the Company’s forecast of
future net sales and cost of sales and due to ifirevenarket conditions. No net gains, or lossésa similar nature were recorded in 2003. As
of September 24, 2005, the Company had a net éefgain associated with cash flow hedges of appratély $3.6 million, net of taxes,
substantially all of which is expected to be resiffesd to earnings by the end of the second quaiftéscal 2006.

The net gain or loss on the effective portion deavative instrument designated as a net investimexhge is included in the cumulative
translation adjustment account of accumulated atbarprehensive income within shareholders’ equis/of September 24, 2005 and
September 25, 2004, the Company had a net gai67#,800 and a net loss of $1.8 million, respedfivieicluded in the cumulative
translation adjustment.

The Company may also enter into foreign currencyw#od and option contracts to offset the foreigol@nge gains and losses generated by
the re-measurement of certain assets and liabilideorded in non-functional currencies. Changéikeérfair value of these derivatives are
recognized in current earnings in other incomeexpense as offsets to the changes in the fair wdlthe related assets or liabilities. Due to
currency market movements, changes in option tialeevcan lead to increased volatility in other imeocand expense.

Interest Rate Risk Managem

From time to time, the Company historically enteirgtd interest rate derivative transactions witkaficial institutions in order to better match
the Company’s floating-rate interest income orcétsh equivalents and short-term investments vatfixed-rate interest expense on any
outstanding long-term debt, and/or to diversifyoatipn of the Company’s exposure away from fludtuad in short-term U.S. interest rates.

During 2001 and 2002, the Company entered intotlaed subsequently terminated various interestdal swap agreements generating a
realized gain of $23 million. These gains were deféand amortized over the remaining life of theerlying debt, which matured and was
repaid in February 2004.

As of September 24, 2005 and September 25, 2084 dimpany had no interest rate derivatives outsignd
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Non-Current Debt and Equity Investments and Relatedsains and Losses

The Company previously held significant investmentdRM Holdings plc (ARM), Akamai Technologies,dn(Akamai), and EarthLink
Network, Inc. (EarthLink). The Company sold all of the remaining holdings iesthnon-current investments in 2004 and 2003. Pgetias
recorded upon the sale of these non-current invargBrwere $4 million and $10 million in 2004 and20respectively.

Note 3—Consolidated Financial Statement Details (imillions)

Other Current Assets

2005 2004
Vendor nor-trade receivable $ 417 $ 276
Other current assets 231 209
Total other current assets $ 648 $ 485
Property, Plant, and Equipmer
2005 2004
Land and buildings $ 361 $ 351
Machinery, equipment, and inter-use softwar: 494 422
Office furniture and equipme 81 79
Leasehold improvements 545 446
1,481 1,298
Accumulated depreciation and amortization (664) (591)
Net property, plant, and equipme $ 817 $ 707
Other Assets
2005 2004
Non-current deferred tax asst $ 183 $ 86
Capitalized software development costs, 38 25
Other assets 117 80
Total other assets $ 338 $ 191
Accrued Expense
2005 2004
Deferred revenue—current $ 501 $ 342
Accrued marketing and distributic 221 147
Accrued compensation and employee ben 167 134
Accrued warranty and related co 188 105
Other current liabilities 628 472
Total accrued expenses $1,705 $1,20C
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Note 3—Consolidated Financial Statement Details (imillions) (Continued)

Non-current Liabilities

2005 2004
Deferred revenue—non-current $281 $202
Deferred tax liabilities 308 113
Other non-current liabilities 12 8
Total non-current liabilities $601 $323

Interest and Other Income, ne

2005 2004 2003

Interest income $183 $64 $69
Interest expens — 3) (8)
Gains on sales of short term investme — 1 21
Other income (expense), net (18) (9) 1
Total interest and other income, net $165 $53 $83

Note 4—Goodwill and Other intangible Assets
The Company is currently amortizing its acquiretdmgible assets with definite lives over periodsyiag from 3 to 10 years.

The following table summarizes the components oégand net intangible asset balances (in millions)

September 24, 200! September 25, 200
Gross Net Gross Net
Carrying Accumulated Carrying Carrying Accumulated Carrying

Amount Amortization Amount Amount Amortization Amount
Goodwiill $ 69 $ — $69 $ 80 $ — $80
Other acquired intangible ass 5 (5) — 5 (5) —
Acquired technology 61 (34) 27 42 (25) 17
Total acquired intangible assets $135 $(39) $96 $127 $ (30) $97

During the fourth quarter of 2005, the Company rded an adjustment of approximately $11 milliorgtmdwill relating to a reduction of
valuation allowances that were recorded at the tier&ain net operating loss carryforwards (NOLs)enscquired in previous business
combinations. During the fourth quarter of 200%sh NOLs were deemed to be more likely than nbeteealized and accordingly the
valuation allowances were reversed against théectlgoodwill that was recognized at the time ofahguisitions.

During the third quarter of 2004, the Company rdedran adjustment of approximately $5 million togdwill related to the acquisition of
PowerSchool, Inc. (PowerSchool) in 2001. This réidncof goodwill included the cancellation of 15843shares of the Company’s common
stock, valued at approximately $2 million, that eereviously held in escrow and were refunded upsnlution of certain matters arising out
of the acquisition of PowerSchool. This adjustmedat included approximately $3 million to adjust thriginal estimates of the pre-
acquisition PowerSchool restructuring liabilityactual costs incurred.
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Note 4—Goodwill and Other intangible Assets (Contined)

Expected annual amortization expense related toitjtechnology is as follows (in millions):

Fiscal Years
2006
2007
2008
2009
2010
Thereafter
Total expected annual amortization expense

©»
NR R OToS

&
N
~

Amortization expense related to acquired intanggtsigets was $9 million, $7 million, and $10 millior2005, 2004, and 2003, respectively.

Note 5—Restructuring Charges

Fiscal 2004 Restructuring Actiol

The Company recorded total restructuring chargegppfoximately $23 million during the year ende@t8mber 25, 2004, including
approximately $14 million in severance costs, $Bilion in asset impairments, and a $3.5 millioraxe for lease cancellations in
conjunction with the vacating of a leased sale#ifiacelated to a European workforce reductionidgrthe fourth quarter of 2004. Of the
$23 million charge, $19.7 million had been utilizedthe end of 2005, with the remaining $3.3 millimnsisting of $0.7 million for employ
severance benefits and $2.6 million for lease ditmns. These actions will result in the terminatof 461 employees, 448 of which had
been terminated prior to the end of 2005.

The following table summarizes activity associatétth restructuring actions initiated during 2004 (nillions):

Employee

Severance Asset Lease

Benefits Impairments Cancellations Totals
Total charge $ 14.0 $ 55 $ 35 $ 23.0
Total spending through September 24, 2 (12.4) — (0.9) (13.3)
Total nor-cash item: — (5.2) — (5.2)
Adjustments (0.9) (0.3) — (1.2)
Accrual at September 24, 2005 $ 07 $ — $ 2.6 $ 33

Fiscal 2003 Restructuring Actiol

The Company recorded total restructuring chargegppfoximately $26.8 million during the year en@&=ptember 27, 2003, including
approximately $7.4 million in severance costs, & $billion charge to writeff deferred compensation, $7.1 million in assgbainments, an
a $7.3 million charge for lease cancellations primaelated to the closure of the Company’s Sirgragmanufacturing operations during the
first quarter of 2003. Of the $26.8 million charg#,had been utilized by the end of 2005, excepapproximately $1.7 million related to
operating lease costs on abandoned facilities.nguhe third quarter of 2003, approximately $500,60the amount originally accrued for
lease cancellations was determined to be in exdigss$o the sublease of a property sooner thamatigiexpected and a shortfall
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Note 5—Restructuring Charges (Continued)

of approximately $500,000 was identified in theesawnce accrual due to higher than expected sevecarsts related to the closure of the
Company'’s Singapore manufacturing operations. Thdgestments had no net effect on reported operatipense. These actions resulted in
the termination of 353 employees.

The following table summarizes activity associatétth restructuring actions initiated during 2008 (nillions):

Employee Deferred
Severance Compensation Asset Lease
Benefits Write -off Impairments Cancellations Totals
Total charge $ 7.4 $ 5.0 $ 7.1 $ 7.3 $ 26.8
Total spending through
September 24, 20( (7.9) — — (5.1) (13.0)
Total nor-cash item: — (5.0) (7.2) — (12.2)
Adjustments 0.5 — — (0.5) —
Accrual at September 24, 2005 $ — $ — $ — $ 1.7 $ 1.7
Note 6—Income Taxes
The provision for income taxes consisted of théofeing (in millions):
2005 2004 2003
Federal
Current $303 $ 34 $ 18
Deferred 146 56 (7)
449 90 11
State:
Current 66 5 4
Deferred (92) (18) (11)
(25) _(13) ()
Foreign:
Current 59 46 21
Deferred 3) (16) (1)
56 30 20
Provision for income taxes $480 $107 $ 24

The foreign provision for income taxes is basedavaign pretax earnings of approximately $922 miilli $384 million, and $250 million in
2005, 2004, and 2003, respectively. As of SepteraheR005, approximately $4.3 billion of the Comgarcash, cash equivalents, and short-
term investments were held by foreign subsidiaai®ed are generally based in U.S. dollar-denominbatédings. Amounts held by foreign
subsidiaries are generally subject to U.S. incamatton on repatriation to the U.S. The Companyissolidated financial statements fully
provide for any related tax liability on amountatimay be repatriated, aside from undistributediegs of certain of the Company’s foreign
subsidiaries that are intended to be indefiniteipvested in operations outside the U.S. U.S. irctares have not been provided on a
cumulative total of $1.2 billion of such earningss not practicable to determine the income takility that might be incurred if these
earnings were to be distributed.
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Note 6—Income Taxes (Continued)

On October 22, 2004, the American Jobs Creation(A2€A) was signed into law. The AJCA includes avision for the deduction of 85%
of certain foreign earnings that are repatriatsdjefined in the AJCA. The legislation provided @empany with the option to apply this
provision to repatriations of qualifying earningsdither 2005 or 2006. The Company is continuingvaluate the effects of the repatriation
provision and expects to complete the evaluatid?0i6. A maximum of $755 million may be eligible fepatriation under the reduced tax
rate provided by AJCA. However, given the uncettagiand complexities of the repatriation proviséod the Company’s continuing
evaluation, the Company has not yet determineaunheunt that may be repatriated or the related piatencome tax effects of such
repatriation.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities reflect theaf of tax losses, credits, and the future inctameffects of temporary differences between
the consolidated financial statement carrying anmohexisting assets and liabilities and theipessive tax bases and are measured using
enacted tax rates that apply to taxable incombdryears in which those temporary differences mpe&ed to be recovered or settled.

As of September 24, 2005 and September 25, 2084jdhnificant components of the Company’s defetagdassets and liabilities were (in
millions):

2005 2004
Deferred tax asset
Accrued liabilities and other reserv $321 $195
Tax losses and credi 305 329
Basis of capital assets and investm 96 65
Accounts receivable and inventory reser 36 32
Other 9 26
Total deferred tax assets 767 647
Less valuation allowance 5 30
Net deferred tax asse 762 617
Deferred tax liabilities
Unremitted earnings of subsidiaries 557 413
Total deferred tax liabilities 557 413
Net deferred tax ass $205 204

As of September 24, 2005, the Company had operktisgcarryforwards for federal tax purposes ofrapimately $62 million, which expire
from 2011 through 2024. A portion of these carryfards was acquired from the Company’s previous iad@pns, the utilization of which is
subject to certain limitations imposed by the In&#Revenue Code. The Company also has Federét caed/forwards and various state and
foreign tax loss and credit carryforwards, thedérct of which is approximately $206 million andhish expire between 2010 and 2025. The
remaining benefits from tax losses and creditsatcerpire. As of September 24, 2005 and Septenthe2@4, a valuation allowance of $5
million and $30 million, respectively, was recordaghinst the deferred tax asset for the benefitaolosses that may not be realized. The
remaining valuation allowance relates principatlyttie state operating losses. Management beliei@mbre likely than not that forecasted
income, including income that may be generatedrasuit of certain tax planning strategies, togettith the tax effects of the deferred tax
liabilities, will be sufficient to fully recover thremaining deferred tax assets.
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A reconciliation of the provision for income taxesth the amount computed by applying the statufederal income tax rate (35% in 2005,
2004, and 2003) to income before provision for medaxes, is as follows (in millions):

2005 2004 2003

Computed expected tax $636 $134 $ 32
State taxes, net of federal effi (29) (5) 4)
Indefinitely invested earnings of foreign subsiia (98) (31) (13)
Nondeductible executive compensat 11 10 5
Research and development credit, (26) (5) (7)
Other items (24) 4 11
Provision for income taxes $480 $107 $ 24
Effective tax rate 26% 28% 26%

During 2005, the Company reversed certain tax ngeticy reserves and recorded a corresponding bemefcome tax expense primarily as
a result of a change in the estimated outcomertdiogtax disputes. Additionally, during the fougharter of 2005, the Company recorded a
benefit to tax expense to adjust its net deferagdassets as a result of the Company’s year-enewef its deferred tax accounts, the impact
of which was not material to the current or prieripds’ results of operations. The total benefinmome tax expense from the reversal of
these tax contingency reserves and adjustmentst eferred tax assets was $67 million. The Compaédstyrecorded a $14 million credit to
income tax expense resulting from a reduction efuthluation allowance.

The Internal Revenue Service (IRS) has complegefieitd audit of the Company’s federal income taturns for all years prior to 2002 and
proposed certain adjustments. Certain of thesesadpnts are being contested through the IRS Apj@ffite. Substantially all IRS audit
issues for these years have been resolved. In@udite Company is also subject to audits by statal, and foreign tax authorities.
Management believes that adequate provisions hese tmade for any adjustments that may result feonexaminations. However, the
outcome of tax audits cannot be predicted withatety. Should any issues addressed in the Compéay'audits be resolved in a manner not
consistent with management'’s expectations, the @ospould be required to adjust its provision farxame tax in the period such resolution
occurs.

Note 7—Shareholders’ Equity

Preferred Stock

The Company has 5 million shares of authorizedaprefl stock, none of which is outstanding. Undertéims of the Company’s Restated
Articles of Incorporation, the Board of Directossduthorized to determine or alter the rights,qrexices, privileges and restrictions of the
Company'’s authorized but unissued shares of peafestock.
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Restricted Stock Unit

During 2005 and 2004, the Company’s Board of Doectpproved the grant of 230,000 and 5.03 millestricted stock units, respectively,
to members of the Company’s senior management tectyding its CEO. These restricted stock unitsegally vest over four years either in
two equal installments on the second and fourttivensaries of the date of grant or in equal instalts on each of the first through fourth
anniversaries of the grant date. Upon vestingrébtricted stock units will convert into an equiawatl number of shares of common stock. The
Company has recorded $10.3 million and $64.4 millrn2005 and 2004, respectively, in value for ¢hesstricted stock units as a component
of shareholders’ equity and is amortizing the ant®am a straight-line basis over the four-year igtpiservice period. The value of the
restricted stock units was based on the closindetgrice of the Company’s common stock on the datgant. The restricted stock units
have been included in the calculation of dilutethemys per share utilizing the treasury stock métho

CEO Restricted Stock Award

On March 19, 2003, the Company entered into and@iancellation and Restricted Stock Award Agredr(tbe Agreement) with

Mr. Steven P. Jobs, its CEO. The Agreement cartcetieck option awards for the purchase of 55 nnilkbares of the Company’s common
stock previously granted to Mr. Jobs in 2000 and12®/r. Jobs retained options to purchase 120,88€es of the Company’s common stock
granted in August of 1997 in his capacity as a mamolh the Company’s Board of Directors, prior tetming the Company’s CEO. The
Agreement replaced the cancelled options with &icesd stock award of 10 million shares of the @amy’s common stock. The restricted
stock award generally vests three years from tie afegrant. Vesting of some or all of the restitshares will be accelerated in the event
Mr. Jobs is terminated without cause, dies, ortigsnanagement role reduced following a changeintrol of the Company.

The Company determined the value of the restristeck award in accordance with APB Opinion No. 88 has recorded the value as
deferred stock compensation as a component of lsblders’ equity and is amortizing that amount @traight-line basis over the 3 year
service period. The value of the restricted stoglird was based on the closing market price of t@@&ny’s common stock on the date of
the award. The 10 million restricted shares haenbecluded in the calculation of diluted earnipgs share utilizing the treasury stock
method.

Stock Repurchase Pla
In July 1999, the Comparg/Board of Directors authorized a plan for the Canypto repurchase up to $500 million of its comrstotk. This
repurchase plan does not obligate the Companycfoirgcany specific number of shares or acquireeshaver any specified period of time.

During the fourth quarter of 2001, the Company ettento a forward purchase agreement to acquirenfilion shares of its common stock
in September of 2003 at an average price of $882lpare for a total cost of $25.5 million. In Asg2003, the Company settled this
agreement prior to its maturity, at which time @@mpany’s common stock had a fair value of $11Gther than this forward purchase
transaction, the Company has not engaged in angacéions to repurchase its common stock since.Zifi0e inception of the stock
repurchase plan, the Company had repurchased @tdta.1 million shares at a cost of $217 millidine Company was authorized to
repurchase up to an additional $283 million otidsnmon stock as of September 24, 2005.
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Comprehensive Income

Comprehensive income consists of two componentsnoeme and other comprehensive income. Other celnemsive income refers to
revenue, expenses, gains and losses that undegé&hé&rally accepted accounting principles are dembas an element of shareholdexity
but are excluded from net income. The Company’srotibmprehensive income consists of foreign cugréranslation adjustments from
those subsidiaries not using the U.S. dollar ais thectional currency, unrealized gains and logsesnarketable securities categorized as
available-for-sale, and net deferred gains ancelbes certain derivative instruments accounte@$arash flow hedges.

The following table summarizes the components ofiawlated other comprehensive income (loss), neba@s (in millions):

2005 2004 2003

Unrealized gains/(losses) on available-for-salesgées $@4) $ 4 $ 1
Unrealized gains/(losses) on derivative investm 4 4) (@6
Cumulative foreign currency translation — (7) (20)
Accumulated other comprehensive income/(loss) $— $(15 $(35)

The following table summarizes activity in othermgarehensive income related to available-for-sabeises, net of taxes (in millions):

2005 2004 2003

Change in fair value of available-for-sale secesiti $— $(Q1Q) $ 11
Adjustment for net gains realized and includedehincome — (4) (23)
Change in unrealized gain/loss on available-foe-selurities $— $B) $12

The tax effect related to the change in unrealgad on available-for-sale securities was $4 millesmd $6 million for 2004 and 2003,
respectively. The tax effect on the reclassifiaa@oljustment for net gains/losses included in meirne was $1 million and $(8) million for
2004 and 2003, respectively.

The following table summarizes activity in othermgarehensive income related to derivatives, neaxés, held by the Company (in millions):

2005 2004 2003

Changes in fair value of derivatives $7 $(21) $(29
Adjustment for net gains realized and includedehincome 1 33 19
Change in unrealized gain/loss on derivative imsents $8 $12 $ (5

The tax effect related to the changes in fair valuéerivatives was $(3) million, $10 million, ad1 million for 2005, 2004, and 2003,
respectively. The tax effect related to derivatjaéns/losses reclassified from other compreherisn@me to net income was $(2) million,
$(13) million, and $(7) million for 2005, 2004, a@d03, respectively.

84




NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)

Note 8—Employee Benefit Plans

2003 Employee Stock Plan

The 2003 Employee Stock Plan (the 2003 Plan) imsebiolder approved plan that provides for broakbdarants to employees, including
executive officers. Based on the terms of individhtion grants, options granted under the 2008 B&nerally expire 7 to 10 years after the
grant date and generally become exercisable operiad of 4 years, based on continued employmeéitit, @ither annual or quarterly vesting.
The 2003 Plan permits the granting of incentivelstaptions, nonstatutory stock options, restrictextk units, stock appreciation rights, and
stock purchase rights.

1997 Employee Stock Option Plan

In August 1997, the Company’s Board of Directorpraped the 1997 Employee Stock Option Plan (th&/ F38n), a non-shareholder
approved plan for grants of stock options to em@ésywho are not officers of the Company. Basedhenerms of individual option grants,
options granted under the 1997 Plan generally expto 10 years after the grant date and gendyattpme exercisable over a period of

4 years, based on continued employment, with edhaucal or quarterly vesting. In October 2003,Gloenpany terminated the 1997
Employee Stock Option Plan and cancelled all remginnissued shares totaling 28,590,702. No newiap can be granted from the 1997
Plan.

Employee Stock Option Exchange Progre

On March 20, 2003, the Company announced a volpetaployee stock option exchange program (the Engb&@rogram) whereby eligible
employees, other than executive officers and mesntiiethe Board of Directors, had an opportunitgxehange outstanding options with
exercise prices at or above $12.50 per share fioedetermined smaller number of new stock optiesged with exercise prices equal to the
fair market value of one share of the Company’smoam stock on the day the new awards were issueidhwias to be at least six months
plus one day after the exchange options were daxcén April 17, 2003, in accordance with the Exafpe Program, the Company cancelled
options to purchase 33,138,386 shares of its conmstomk. On October 22, 2003, new stock optionditmd 3,394,736 shares were issued to
employees at an exercise price of $11.38 per shéaieh is equivalent to the closing price of then@pany’s stock on that date. No financia
accounting impact to the Company’s financial positiresults of operations or cash flow was assegiaith this transaction.

1997 Director Stock Option Plan

In August 1997, the Company’s Board of Directorsgdd a shareholder approved Director Stock Optian (DSOP) for non-employee
directors of the Company. Initial grants of 30,@@ions under the DSOP vest in three equal ins&itsion each of the first through third
anniversaries of the date of grant, and subsegmmtal grants of 10,000 options are fully vestegrait.

Rule 10b*-1 Trading Plans

Certain of the Compang’executive officers, including Mr. Timothy D. CqdWr. Peter Oppenheimer, Mr. Jonathan Rubinstein,Rilip W.
Schiller, Dr. Bertrand Serlet, and Dr. Avadis Teiegany Jr., have entered into trading plans purstaRule 10b5-1(c)(1) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. A trading plawisitten document that pre-establishes the ansppnices and dates (or formula for
determining the amounts, prices and dates) of édyturchases or sales of the Company’s stock inuduttiie exercise and sale of employee
stock options and shares acquired pursuant to dhgp@ny’s employee stock purchase plan and upomgest restricted stock units.
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Employee Stock Purchase Ple

The Company has a shareholder approved employele gtiochase plan (the Purchase Plan), under whisstantially all employees may
purchase common stock through payroll deductiosspaitce equal to 85% of the lower of the fair rerkalues as of the beginning and er
six month offering periods. Stock purchases undemurchase Plan are limited to 10% of an empleye@hpensation, up to a maximum of
$25,000 in any calendar year. Beginning with tlxensonth offering period that started on June 3@32@he number of shares authorized for
issuance is limited to a total of 1 million shapes offering period. During 2005, 2004, and 20@8ysted for the February 2005 stock split
2.3 million, 3.9 million, and 4.3 million sharegspectively, were issued under the Purchase Pk&of September 24, 2005, approximately
3.8 million shares were reserved for future isseamuder the Purchase Plan.

Employee Savings Pla

The Company has an employee savings plan (the &fAlan) qualifying as a deferred salary arrangémneder Section 401(k) of the
Internal Revenue Code. Under the Savings Planicjgating U.S. employees may defer a portion ofrthee-tax earnings, up to the Internal
Revenue Service annual contribution limit ($14,8@0calendar year 2005). The Company matches 5020086 of each employee’s
contributions, depending on length of service,ap maximum 6% of the employee’s earnings. The Gamis matching contributions to the
Savings Plan were approximately $28 million, $24iam, and $21 million in 2005, 2004, and 2003 pedtively.
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Note 8—Employee Benefit Plans (Continued)

Stock Option Activity
A summary of the Company’s stock option activitylaalated information for the last three fiscal ngefmllows (share amounts are presented
in thousands):

Shares Outstanding Options
Available Number of Weighted Average
for Grant Shares Exercise Price
Balance at September 28, 2002 13,142 218,86( $14.0¢
Restricted Stock Grante (10,000 — —
Options Grante: (8,35¢) 8,35¢ $ 8.19
Options Cancelle 96,88¢ (96,88¢€) $19.8C
Options Exercise — (4,30¢) $ 7.02
Plan Shares Expire (10) — —
Balance at September 27, 2003 91,66( 126,02¢ $ 9.54
Restricted Stock Units Grant (5,030 — —
Options Grante: (36,399 36,392 $11.4¢€
Options Cancelle 6,01C (6,010 $10.3¢
Options Exercise — (45,68¢€) $ 8.60
Plan Shares Expire (32,19¢) — —
Balance at September 25, 2004 24,05( 110,722 $10.52
Additional Options Authorize 49,00( — —
Restricted Stock Units Grant (460) — —
Options Grante: (16,219 16,21¢ $42.52
Options Cancelle 3,844 (3,849 $13.2¢
Restricted Stock Units Cancell 230 — —
Options Exercise — (49,8717) $10.0E
Plan Shares Expire (1,499 — —
Balance at September 24, 2005 58,957 73,221 $17.7¢€

In conjunction with the amendments to the 2003 Fanbwere approved at the Annual Meeting of Shaldehrs held on April 21, 2005, the
number of shares available for grant under the Z&lag will be reduced by two times the number sfrieted shares and restricted stock u
granted. This amendment is effective for all gran&le after April 21, 2005.
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Note 8—Employee Benefit Plans (Continued)

The options outstanding as of September 24, 2008 been segregated into eight ranges for additidisalosure as follows (option amounts
are presented in thousands):

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable
Weighted- Options
Options Average Weighted Exercisable as of
Outstanding as of Remaining Average Weighted
September 24, Contractual Exercise September 24, Average
2005 Life in Years Price 2005 Exercise Price

$0.62-$9.13 10,092 4.29 $ 7.33 8,31C $ 7.26
$9.14$10.20 14,954 5.65 $ 9.7€ 13,51¢ $ 9.73
$10.2:-$10.80 2,284 5.18 $10.31 996 $10.37
$10.8-$10.90 11,72¢ 5.36 $10.8¢ 2,85¢ $10.8¢
$10.9--$11.38 9,151 5.1C $11.37 2,92C $11.37
$11.3¢-$23.72 9,622 5.39 $16.52 5,797 $17.5C
$23.7:-$46.10 4,791 6.38 $36.04 406 $31.62
$46.11-$49.87 10,601 6.94 $46.7¢ — $ —
$0.62-$49.87 73,221 5.53 $17.7¢€ 34,802 $10.94

As of September 25, 2004, the Company had exeteisgitions outstanding to purchase 60.0 milliorrebavith a weighted average exercise
price of $10.30 per share. As of September 27, 20@3Company had exercisable options outstandipgitchase 77.5 million shares with a
weighted average exercise price of $9.38 per share.

The Company had 5.03 million restricted stock uaittstanding as of September 24, 2005, which werkided from the options outstanding
balances in the preceding tables. None of theseates! stock units was vested as of Septembe2@35. These restricted stock units have
been deducted from the shares available for graé¢the Company’s stock option plans.

Note 9—Stock-Based Compensation

The Company has provided pro forma disclosuresate M of these Notes to Consolidated Financiak8tanhts of the effect on net income
and earnings per share as if the fair value metti@gcounting for stock compensation had been fadts employee stock option grants and
employee stock purchase plan purchases. Thesemna effects have been estimated at the date of gral beginning of the period,
respectively, using the Black-Scholes option pdaimodel.

For purposes of the pro forma disclosures provigaduant to SFAS No. 123, the option awards isgu€xttober 2003 and the awards
cancelled as part of the Employee Stock Option Brghk Program have been accounted for using mailificaccounting. In accordance w
SFAS No. 123, the grant date of the awards isssitftti date of acceptance of the exchange offeaticipating employees. The cancellation
of certain of the Company’s CEQ'’s options and reptaent with restricted shares in March 2003 is b&ing accounted for using
modification accounting for purposes of the prarfardisclosures provided pursuant to SFAS No. 123.
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Note 9—Stock-Based Compensation (Continued)

The assumptions used for each of the last threalfigars and the resulting estimate of weighteztaye fair value per share of options
granted during those years are as follows:

2005 2004 2003

Expected life of stock options 3.5- 3.6 year: 3.5 year: 3.5- 4 years
Expected life of stock purchas 6 months 6 months 6 months
Interest rat—stock options 3.13%- 3.88% 2.33%- 3.15% 2.14%- 2.45%
Interest rat—stock purchase 1.67%- 3.30% 0.96%- 1.67% 1.10%- 1.77%
Volatility—stock options 39%- 40% 40% 40%- 63%
Volatility —stock purchase 32%- 48% 32%- 44 % 35%- 44%
Dividend yields — — —
Weightedaverage fair value of options granted during

year $ 1441 $ 369 $ 3.32
Weighted-average fair value of stock purchases

during the yea $ 755 % 278 $ 2.12

For purposes of the pro forma disclosures provigladuant to SFAS No. 123, the expected volatiktsuanptions used by the Company are
based on the historical volatility of the Compang@snmon stock over the most recent period commateswith the estimated expected life
of the Company’s stock options and other relevaatdrs including implied volatility in market tradl@ptions on the Company’s common
stock and the impact of unusual fluctuations nasomably expected to recur on the historical vdlatf the Company’s common stock. The
Company bases its expected life assumption oristerical experience and on the terms and conditadrthe stock options it grants to

employees.

Note 10—Commitments and Contingencies

Lease Commitments
The Company leases various equipment and facjlitietuding retail space, under noncancelable dpgrdease arrangements. The Company

does not currently utilize any other off-balanceettfinancing arrangements. The major facility ésaare for terms of 5 to 15 years and
generally provide renewal options for terms of B tadditional years. Leases for retail space aréefons of 5 to 20 years, the majority of
which are for 10 years, and often contain multiryemewal options. As of September 24, 2005, the@my’s total future minimum lease
payments under noncancelable operating leases$86gemillion, of which $606 million related to lesssfor retail space.
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Note 10—Commitments and Contingencies (Continued)

Rent expense under all operating leases, incluuliig cancelable and noncancelable leases, wasriillith, $103 million, and $97 million
in 2005, 2004, and 2003, respectively. Future mimniease payments under noncancelable operatisgddeaving remaining terms in exc
of one year as of September 24, 2005, are as fsl{owmillions):

Fiscal Years

2006 $108
2007 110
2008 101
2009 97
2010 95
Later years 354
Total minimum lease payments 865

Accrued Warranty and Indemnifications

The Company offers a basic limited parts and latmranty on its hardware products. The basic wayrpariod for hardware products is
typically one year from the date of purchase byehd-user. The Company also offers a 90-day baaicanty for its service parts used to
repair the Company’s hardware products. The Companyides currently for the estimated cost that f@yncurred under its basic limited
product warranties at the time related revenuedsgnized. Factors considered in determining apfaigpaccruals for product warranty
obligations include the size of the installed balsproducts subject to warranty protection, histakiand projected warranty claim rates,
historical and projected cost-per-claim, and knalgkeof specific product failures that are outsifithe Company’s typical experience. The
Company assesses the adequacy of its preexistimgnaliabilities and adjusts the amounts as reargsbased on actual experience and
changes in future estimates.

The following table reconciles changes in the Comyfsaccrued warranties and related costs (in omifl):

2005 2004 2003

Beginning accrued warranty and related costs $ 105 $ 67 $ 69
Cost of warranty claim (188) (105 (71)
Accruals for product warranties 271 143 69
Ending accrued warranty and related costs $ 188 $ 105 $ 67

The Company generally does not indemnify end-uskits operating system and application softwararst legal claims that the software
infringes third-party intellectual property righther agreements entered into by the Company soe®include indemnification provisions
under which the Company could be subject to casiéos damages in the event of an infringement clagminst the Company or an
indemnified third-party. However, the Company hasleen required to make any significant paymesgslting from such an infringement
claim asserted against itself or an indemnifieddtipiarty and, in the opinion of management, dogésawge a potential liability related to
unresolved infringement claims subject to indencatfion that would have a material adverse effedtsofinancial condition, liquidity or
results of operations. Therefore, the Company did@cord a liability for infringement costs asaither September 24, 2005 or Septembe
2004.
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Note 10—Commitments and Contingencies (Continued)

Concentrations in the Available Sources of SupplyfdMaterials and Product

Although most components essential to the Compamnysiness are generally available from multiplerses, other key components
(including microprocessors and application-spediftegrated circuits (“ASICs”)) are currently obitad by the Company from single or
limited sources. Some other key components, whiteeatly available to the Company from multiple sms, are at times subject to industry-
wide availability and pricing pressures. In additithe Company uses some components that are mohap to the rest of the personal
computer industry, and new products introducedchieyGompany often initially utilize custom comporsabtained from only one source u
the Company has evaluated whether there is a meeaél subsequently qualifies additional supplidrhe supply of a key single-sourced
component to the Company were to be delayed oaitedt or in the event a key manufacturing vendaagks shipments of completed
products to the Company, the Company'’s abilitytip selated products in desired quantities andtimaly manner could be adversely
affected. The Company’s business and financialoperénce could also be adversely affected deperatirthe time required to obtain
sufficient quantities from the original source toiidentify and obtain sufficient quantities from alternative source. Continued availability of
these components may be affected if producers watecide to concentrate on the production of compamponents instead of components
customized to meet the Company’s requirements lijrsagnificant portions of the Company’s CPUsggilo boards, and assembled products
are now manufactured by outsourcing partners, pifynia various parts of Asia. Although the Compangrks closely with its outsourcing
partners on manufacturing schedules, the Compapgsating results could be adversely affecteaibiitsourcing partners were unable to
meet their production obligations.

Long-Term Supply Agreements

Subsequent to September 24, 2005, the Companyedritéo longterm supply agreements with Hynix Semiconductar,,Imtel Corporatior
Micron Technology, Inc., Samsung Electronics Cad, Land Toshiba Corporation to secure supply oN®Alash memory through calendar
year 2010. As part of these agreements, the Comipsanyds to prepay a total of $1.25 billion forstiememory components by the end of
second quarter of 2006.

Contingencies

The Company is subject to certain other legal prdoegs and claims that have arisen in the ordinatyse of business and have not been
fully adjudicated. In the opinion of managemeng @ompany does not have a potential liability elab any current legal proceedings and
claims that would individually or in the aggregateve a material adverse effect on its financialdatoon, liquidity, or results of operations.
However, the results of legal proceedings canngitrbdicted with certainty. Should the Company tiprevail in any of these legal matters
or should several of these legal matters be redagainst the Company in the same reporting petitedpperating results of a particular
reporting period could be materially adversely etéel.

Production and marketing of products in certaitestand countries may subject the Company to emviemtal and other regulations
including, in some instances, the requirement ¢widle customers the ability to return product atéimd of its useful life, and place
responsibility for environmentally safe disposalecycling with the Company. Such laws and regofetihave recently been passed in se
jurisdictions in which the Company operates inahgdvarious European Union member countries, Japdrcertain states within the U.
Although the Company does not anticipate any matadverse effects in the future based on the eatiits operations and the thrust of such
laws, there is no assurance that
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Note 10—Commitments and Contingencies (Continued)

such existing laws or future laws will not have aterial adverse effect on the Company’s finanagdition, liquidity, or results of
operations.

Note 11—Segment Information and Geographic Data

In accordance with SFAS No. 13isclosures about Segments of an Enterprise anat&elnformation the Company reports segment
information based on the “management” approach.raeagement approach designates the internal ipoted by management for
making decisions and assessing performance agtineesof the Company’s reportable segments.

The Company manages its business primarily on grgebic basis. The Company’s reportable operagggnents are comprised of the
Americas, Europe, Japan, and Retail. The AmeriEasmpe, and Japan reportable segments do not melctivities related to the Retail
segment. The Americas segment includes both NodiSauth America. The Europe segment includes Eamopountries as well as the
Middle East and Africa. The Retail segment operafgsle-owned retail stores in the U.S., Canadaadapnd the U.K. Other operating
segments include Asia-Pacific, which includes Aaiggrand Asia except for Japan, and the Comparnygsidiary, FileMaker, Inc. Each
reportable geographic operating segment providesasihardware and software products and similarises, and the accounting policies of
the various segments are the same as those debsiribete 1, “Summary of Significant Accounting Rads,” except as described below for
the Retail segment.

The Company evaluates the performance of its opgraegments based on net sales. The Retail segmpenfiormance is also evaluated
based on operating income. Net sales for geogragigiments are generally based on the locatioreafubtomers. Operating income for each
segment includes net sales to third parties, ledst of sales, and operating expenses diredtlpatable to the segment. Operating income
for each segment excludes other income and examkeertain expenses that are managed outsid@#nating segments. Costs excluded
from segment operating income include various c@jgoexpenses, manufacturing costs and variantesaheded in standard costs, income
taxes, and various nonrecurring charges. Corpergienses include research and development, cogpoaketing expenses, manufacturing
costs and variances not included in standard castspther separately managed general and adnathistexpenses including certain
corporate expenses associated with support of ¢é@lRegment. The Company does not include intepamy transfers between segment:
management reporting purposes. Segment assetslexaporate assets. Corporate assets includedastterm and longerm investment:
manufacturing facilities, miscellaneous corporafeaistructure, goodwill and other acquired intafg#ssets, and retail store construction-in-
progress that is not subject to depreciation. Exforthe Retail segment, capital expenditureddog-lived assets are not reported to
management by segment. Capital expenditures bireétel segment were $132 million, $104 million, &8 million for 2005, 2004, and
2003 respectively.

Operating income for all segments, except Retailuides cost of sales at manufacturing standart] atheer cost of sales, related sales and
marketing costs, and certain general and admitiigtraosts. This measure of operating income, whicludes manufacturing profit, provic
a comparable basis for comparison between the Coyfgpaarious geographic segments. Certain manufactexpenses and related
adjustments not included in segment cost of salekiding variances between standard and actuatifaaturing costs and the mauip-above
standard cost for product supplied to the Retajirsent, are included in corporate expenses.
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Note 11—Segment Information and Geographic Data (Gdinued)

Management assesses the operating performance Betiail segment differently than it assesses pleeating performance of the Company’s
geographic segments. The Retail segment revenuepmrdting income is intended to depict a measomgparable to that of the Company’s
major channel partners in the U.S. operating retailes so the Company can evaluate the Retailesgigmerformance as if it were a channel
partner. Therefore, the Company makes three sigmifiadjustments to the Retail segment for managereporting purposes that are not
included in the results of the Company’s other segis

First, the Retail segmestoperating income includes cost of sales for Appdelucts at an amount normally charged to majanobl partner

in the U.S. operating retail stores, less the obstles programs and incentives provided to tkbs@nel partners and the Company’s cost to
support those partners. For the years ended Septedib2005, September 25, 2004, and Septemb@0R3, this resulted in the recognition
of additional cost of sales above standard coshéyRetail segment and an offsetting benefit tpemte expenses of approximately $435
million, $213 million, and $106 million, respectiye

Second, the Company’s service and support conteaetsansferred to the Retail segment at the sasieas that charged to the Company’s
major retail channel partners in the U.S., resgltima measure of revenue and gross margin foetliemss that is comparable between the
Company’s Retail stores and those retail chanméhees. The Retail segment recognizes the full athofirevenue and cost of sales of the
Company’s service and support contracts at the dihsale. Because the Company has not yet earea@g¥ienue or incurred the costs
associated with the sale of these contracts, @etofh these amounts is recognized in other opgraggments’ net sales and cost of sales. Fol
the year ended September 24, 2005, this resultégkirecognition of net sales and cost of salethéyRetail segment, with corresponding
offsets in other operating segments, of $92 milkod $64 million, respectively. For the year enBegtember 25, 2004, the net sales and cos
of sales recognized by the Retail segment for s#lesrvice and support contracts were $54 miliiod $37 million, respectively. For the y
ended September 27, 2003, this resulted in theyrétion of net sales and cost of sales by the Reggiment of $30 million and $20 million,
respectively.

Third, the Company has opened seven high profileestin New York, Los Angeles, Chicago, San Frangi§ okyo, Japan, Osaka, Japan,
London, England as of September 24, 2005. Thedeprifile stores are larger than the Company’sciyipietail stores and were designed to
further promote brand awareness and provide a viemwertain corporate sales and marketing actigjtincluding corporate briefings. As
such, the Company allocates certain operating esqeeassociated with these stores to corporate timaylexpense to reflect the estimated
benefit realized Companyide. The allocation of these operating costs seHaon the amount incurred for a high profile storexcess of thi
incurred by a more typical Company retail locatiBRpenses allocated to corporate marketing regultom the operations of these stores
were $31 million, $16 million, and $6 million fdn¢ years ended September 24, 2005, September @5, &t September 27, 2003,
respectively.
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Summary information by operating segment followsnillions):

2005 2004 2003
Americas:
Net sales $6,59C $4,01¢ $3,181
Operating incom: $ 798 $ 465 $ 323
Depreciation, amortization, and accret $ 6 $ 6 $ 5
Segment assets ( $ 705 $ 563 $ 494
Europe:
Net sales $3,07c $1,79¢ $1,30¢
Operating incom: $ 454 $ 280 $ 130
Depreciation, amortization, and accret $ 4 $ 4 3$ 4
Segment asse $ 289 $ 259 $ 252
Japan
Net sales $ 920 $ 677 $ 698
Operating incom: $ 140 $ 115 $ 121
Depreciation, amortization, and accret $ 3 % 2 % 3
Segment asse $ 199 $ 114 $ 130
Retail:
Net sales $2,35C $1,18: $ 621
Operating income (los: $ 150 $ 39 $ (5
Depreciation, amortization, and accretion $ 43 $ 35 $ 25
Segment assets ( $ 555 $ 351 $ 243
Other Segments (c
Net sales $ 998 $ 599 $ 398
Operating incom: $ 118 $ 90 $ 51
Depreciation, amortization, and accret $ 2 % 2 $ 2
Segment asse $ 133 $ 124 $ 78

(@) The Americas asset figures do not include fixe@tasseld in the U.S. Such fixed assets are natatial specifically to the
Americas segment and are included in the corpasgets figures below.

(b) Retail segment depreciation and asset figuresctdfie cost and related depreciation of its retmites and related infrastructure.
Retail store construction-in-progress, which is suthject to depreciation, is reflected in corpoessets.

(c) Other Segments include Asia-Pacific and FileMaker.
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A reconciliation of the Company’s segment operatingpme and assets to the consolidated financsstents follows (in millions):

2005 2004 2003
Segment operating income $ 1661 $ 989 $ 620
Retail manufacturing margin ( 435 213 106
Corporate expenses, net (446) (853) (701)
Restructuring costs — (23) (26)
Consolidated operating income (loss) $ 165C $ 326 $ (1)
Segment assets $ 1,881 $1,411 $1,197
Corporate assets 9,670 6,639 $5,61¢
Consolidated assets $11,551 $8,05C $6,81F
Segment depreciation, amortization, and accretion $ 58 $ 49 $ 39
Corporate depreciation, amortization, and accretion 121 101 74
Consolidated depreciation, amortization, and amet $ 179 $ 150 $ 113

(&) Represents the excess of the Retail segment'©teates over the Company’s standard cost of $atgeoducts sold through the
Retail segment.

(b) Corporate expenses include research and developooepbrate marketing expenses, manufacturing esgts/ariances not
included in standard costs, and other separatehaged general and administrative expenses includirtgin corporate expenses
associated with support of the Retail segment.

No single customer accounted for more than 10%ebsales in 2005, 2004, or 2003. Net sales anc-lived assets related to operations in
the U.S., Japan, and other foreign countries afellasvs (in millions):

2005 2004 2003
Net Sales
u.sS. $ 8,194 $4,89: $3,627
Japar 1,021 738 698
Other Countries 4,716 2,648 1,882
Total Net Sales $13,931 $8,27¢ $6,207
Long-Lived Assets
u.s. $ 738 $ 637 $ 635
Japar 63 52 19
Other Countries 112 72 60
Total Long-Lived Assets $ 913 $ 761 $ 714
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Information regarding net sales by product is #isies (in millions):

2005 2004 2003

Net Sales
Desktops (a $ 3,43€ $2,377 $2,47¢
Portables (b) 2,839 2,550 2,016

Total Macintosh net sales 6,275 4,923 4,491
iPod 4,540 1,306 345
Other music related products and service: 899 278 36
Peripherals and other hardware 1,126 951 691
Software, service, and other net sales (e) 1,091 821 644

Total Net Sales $13,931 $8,27¢ $6,207

(@) Includes iMac, eMac, Mac mini, Power Mac and Xseukaduct lines.
(b) Includes iBook and PowerBook product lines.
(c) Consists of iTunes Music Store sales and iPod aesyiand Apple-branded and third-party iPod acciesso

(d) Includes sales of Apple-branded and third-partpldigs, wireless connectivity and networking solosipand other hardware
accessories.

(e) Includes sales of Apple-branded operating syst@mljation software, third-party software, Apple€aand Internet services.

Note 12—Related Party Transactions and Certain OtheTransactions

In March 2002, the Company entered into a Reimlmoess Agreement with its CEO, Mr. Steven P. Johistife reimbursement of expenses
incurred by Mr. Jobs in the operation of his prevptane when used for Apple business. The ReimmeseAgreement became effective for
expenses incurred by Mr. Jobs for Apple businesggaes since he took delivery of the plane in M@®12 The Company recognized a total
of $1.1 million, $483,000, and $404,000 in expermm@suant to the Reimbursement Agreement durin® 22004, and 2003, respectively.
expenses recognized pursuant to the Reimbursenggaefent have been included in selling, generdl agministrative expenses in the
consolidated statements of operations.

Subsequent to September 24, 2005, the Companyedritép an agreement with Pixar to sell certaiRiafr’s short films on the iTunes Mu:
Store. Mr. Steven P. Jobs, the Company’s CEO @sthlks CEO, Chairman, and a large shareholder @irPix
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Note 13—Selected Quarterly Financial Information (Whaudited)

Fourth Quarter Third Quarter Second Quarter  First Quarter
(Tabular amounts in millions, except per share amonts)

2005
Net sales $3,67¢ $3,52( $3,24: $3,49(
Gross margir $1,03¢ $1,04¢4 $ 96¢ $ 99¢
Net income $ 43C $ 32C $ 29C $ 29t
Earnings per common sha
Basic $ 0.52 $ 0.3¢ $ 0.3¢ $ 0.37
Diluted $ 0.5C $ 0.37 $ 0.34 $ 0.3t
2004
Net sales $2,35( $2,01¢ $1,90¢ $2,00¢
Gross margir $ 634 $ 55¢ $ 53C $ 53¢
Net income $ 10¢€ $ 61 $ 46 $ 63
Earnings per common sha
Basic $ 0.14 $ 0.0¢ $ 0.0¢ $ 0.0¢
Diluted $ 0.1c $ 0.0¢ $ 0.0¢ $ 0.0¢

Basic and diluted earnings per share are compuotigpendently for each of the quarters presenteereidre, the sum of quarterly basic and
diluted per share information may not equal aniaaic and diluted earnings per share.

Net income during the fourth quarter of 2005 berdfby $81 million from the reversal of certain t@ntingency reserves and adjustmen
net deferred tax assets, including reductions hoatimn allowances.

Net income during the fourth, third, and secondrtra of 2004 included restructuring charges, figdxy of $4 million, $6 million, and $
million, respectively. Net income during the fougharter of 2004 included after-tax gains relateddn-current investments of $3 million.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Shareholders
Apple Computer, Inc.:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balsineets of Apple Computer, Inc. and subsididtiesCompany) as of September 24,
2005 and September 25, 2004, and the related ¢dataal statements of operations, shareholderstyegnd cash flows for each of the years
in the three-year period ended September 24, Zl0Ese consolidated financial statements are thponsdility of the Company’s
management. Our responsibility is to express aniopion these consolidated financial statementsdas our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstals of the Public Company Accounting OversighamioUnited States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform thet &amdbtain reasonable assurance about whetheotisolidated financial statements are

of material misstatement. An audit includes exangnbn a test basis, evidence supporting the ara@ntt disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements. An audit also includes assgsbe accounting principles used and signifiesiimates made by management, as well as
evaluating the overall financial statement preg@raWe believe that our audits provide a reastmbhsis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statetagrferred to above present fairly, in all matenégpects, the financial position of the
Company as of September 24, 2005 and Septemb20@8, and the results of their operations and ttesh flows for each of the years in the
three-year period ended September 24, 2005, iroowmitfy with U.S. generally accepted accounting gipfes.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stasd# the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@nited States), the effectiveness
of the Company’s internal control over financigboeting as of September 24, 2005, based on crigstizblished itnternal Control-
Integrated Frameworissued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatidrise Treadway Commission (COSO), and our regated
November 29, 2005 expressed an unqualified opioiomanageme’s assessment of, and the effective operationtefrial control over
financial reporting.

As discussed in Note 1 to the consolidated findrst&ements, the Company changed its method ofuating for asset retirement obligatic
and for financial instruments with characteristiéboth liabilities and equity in 2003.

/sl KPMG LLP

Mountain View, Californie
November 29, 200
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Shareholders
Apple Computer, Inc.:

We have audited management’s assessment, inclnded accompanying Management’s Annual Report tarhial Control over Financial
Reporting, that Apple Computer, Inc. and subsidemaintained effective internal control over ficiahreporting as of September 24, 2005,
based on criteria establishedimernal Control-Integrated Framewoiksued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatidrike Treadway
Commission (COSO). Apple Computer, Inc.’s managdriseresponsible for maintaining effective internahtrol over financial reporting
and for its assessment of the effectiveness ofriateontrol over financial reporting. Our respduildy is to express an opinion on
management’s assessment and an opinion on theheffeess of Apple Computer, Inc.’s internal conweér financial reporting based on our
audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the stadwdof the Public Company Accounting OversightriBq@nited States). Those stande
require that we plan and perform the audit to ebtagsonable assurance about whether effectivenaiteontrol over financial reporting was
maintained in all material respects. Our auditudeld obtaining an understanding of internal cordver financial reporting, evaluating
management’s assessment, testing and evaluatirtpiign and operating effectiveness of internatrobrand performing such other
procedures as we considered necessary in the dtanoes. We believe that our audit provides a redse basis for our opinion.

A company'’s internal control over financial repogiis a process designed to provide reasonablesassuregarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of finahstatements for external purposes in accordanttlegenerally accepted accounting
principles. A company'’s internal control over fircéal reporting includes those policies and proceduhat (1) pertain to the maintenance of
records that, in reasonable detail, accuratelyfainky reflect the transactions and dispositionshaf assets of the company; (2) provide
reasonable assurance that transactions are recasdegtessary to permit preparation of financakestents in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles, and that receipdsexpenditures of the company are being madeinrdgcordance with authorizations of
management and directors of the company; and (8jige reasonable assurance regarding preventibmely detection of unauthorized
acquisition, use, or disposition of the companygseds that could have a material effect on then@iizé statements.

Because of inherent limitations, internal contreéiofinancial reporting may not prevent or detetgstatements. Also, projections of any
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods afgect to the risk that controls may become inadégbecause of changes in conditions, or
that the degree of compliance with the policieprocedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, management’s assessment that Apptaputer, Inc. maintained effective internal cohtreer financial reporting as of
September 24, 2005, is fairly stated, in all mategspects, based on criteria establishddtarnal Control-Integrated Framewoiksued by
COSO. Also, in our opinion, Apple Computer, Inc.intained, in all material respects, effective intdrcontrol over financial reporting as of
September 24, 2005, based on criteria establishiedernal Control-Integrated Framewoiksued by COSO.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stasd# the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@/nited States), the consolidated
balance sheets of Apple Computer, Inc. as of Sepge@d, 2005 and September 25, 2004, and the dedatesolidated statements of
operations, shareholders’ equity, and cash flowg#&zh of the years in the three-year period esdgdember 24, 2005, and our report dated
November 29, 2005 expressed an unqualified opiaiothose consolidated financial stateme

/sl KPMG LLP

Mountain View, Californie
November 29, 200
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountémon Accounting and Financial Disclosure

Not applicable

Iltem 9A. Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedu

Based on an evaluation under the supervision atidthe participation of the Company’s managemdat,Gompany’s principal executive
officer and principal financial officer have condkd that the Company’s disclosure controls andqutoes as defined in rules 13a-15(e) and
15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1884mended (Exchange Act) were effective as pteS®er 24, 2005 to ensure that
information required to be disclosed by the Compiamgports that it files or submits under the Exafpe Act is (i) recorded, processed,
summarized and reported within the time periodgi§iee in the Securities and Exchange Commissidasrand forms and (ii) accumulated
and communicated to the Company’s management,dimgjuits principal executive officer and princigalancial officer, as appropriate to
allow timely decisions regarding required discl@sur

Inherent Limitations Over Internal Contrc

The Company'’s internal control over financial repay is designed to provide reasonable assuram@ading the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statetsiéor external purposes in accordance with gelyesatepted accounting principles. The
Company’s internal control over financial reportingludes those policies and procedures that:

() pertain to the maintenance of records timateasonable detail, accurately and fairly reftbettransactions and dispositi
of the Company’s assets;

(i) provide reasonable assurance that trangastioe recorded as necessary to permit prepadtiomancial statements in
accordance with generally accepted accounting iples; and that the Company’s receipts and expereditare being
made only in accordance with authorizations ofGoepany’s management and directors; and

(iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding priéme or timely detection of unauthorized acqusitiuse, or disposition of
the Company'’s assets that could have a materettsdih the financial statements.

Management, including the Company’s Chief Execu@fticer and Chief Financial Officer, does not egpthat the Company’s internal
controls will prevent or detect all errors andfedud. A control system, no matter how well desitjaad operated, can provide only
reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the mggdf the control system are met. Further, thegiheof a control system must reflect the
that there are resource constraints, and the tieéftontrols must be considered relative to tbests. Because of the inherent limitations in
all control systems, no evaluation of internal colstcan provide absolute assurance that all cbissoes and instances of fraud, if any, have
been detected. Also, any evaluation of the effecidss of controls in future periods are subjethteaisk that those internal controls may
become inadequate because of changes in businedisi@os, or that the degree of compliance withgibkcies or procedures may deterior.

Managemer's Annual Report on Internal Control Over FinancRéporting

The Company’s management is responsible for estabfj and maintaining adequate internal controf fimancial reporting (as defined in
Rule 13a-15(f) under the Securities Exchange Adi9#4, as amended). Management conducted an dealwithe effectiveness of the
Company’s internal control over financial reportingsed on the criteria set forth in Internal Cdrtrimtegrated Framework issued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Tremd@ommission (COSO). Based on this evaluation,agament has concluded that the
Company’s internal control over financial reportings
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effective as of September 24, 2005. The Compamyglependent registered public accounting firm, KPM®, has issued an attestation
report on the Company’s assessment of its intexmatrol over financial reporting. The report on thelit of internal control over financial
reporting appears on page 99 of this Form 10-K.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Repogin

There were no significant changes in the Compaimggsnal control over financial reporting identidién management’s evaluation during the
fourth quarter of fiscal 2005 that have materialtiected, or are reasonably likely to materiallfeef, the Company’s internal control over
financial reporting.

Item 9B. Other Information

None.
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PART Il
Item 10. Directors and Executive Officers of the Rgistrant

Directors
Listed below are the Company’s seven directors whesns expire at the next annual meeting of sladdehs.

Name Position With the Company Age Director Since
Fred D. Anderson Director 61 2004
William V. Campbell Cco-lead Directol 65 1997
Millard S. Drexler Director 61 199¢
Albert A. Gore, Jr Director 57 2005
Steven P. Jok Director and Chief Executive Offic 50 1997
Arthur D. Levinsor Co-lead Directot 55 200C
Jerome B. Yorl Director 67 1997

Fred D. Andersonhas been a founding partner of Elevation Part@epsivate equity firm focused on the media and raitement industry,
since July 2004. Previously, Mr. Anderson servethasCompany’s Executive Vice President and Chieéfcial Officer from April 1996 to
June 2004. Mr. Anderson also serves on the BoaRirettors of eBay Inc.

William V. Campbell has been Chairman of the Board of Directors ofiipbuc. (“Intuit”) since August 1998. From September 1999 to
January 2000, Mr. Campbell acted as Chief Exec@ifieer of Intuit. From April 1994 to August 199B]r. Campbell was President and
Chief Executive Officer and a director of Intuitof January 1991 to December 1993, Mr. CampbellRvasident and Chief Executive
Officer of GO Corporation. Mr. Campbell also sereesthe Board of Directors of Opsware, Inc.

Millard S. Drexler has been Chairman and Chief Executive Officer &rdw Group, Inc. since January 2003. Previously,DMexler was
Chief Executive Officer of Gap Inc. from 1995 ane$ident from 1987 until September 2002. Mr. Drextas also a member of the Board of
Directors of Gap Inc. from November 1983 until Qo 2002.

Albert A. Gore, Jr. has served as a Senior Advisor to Google, Inces2®1. He has also served as Executive Chairm@umént TV since
2002 and as Chairman of Generation Investment Mamagt since 2004. He is a visiting professor atdiid’ennessee State University.

Mr. Gore was inaugurated as the 45th Vice Presioktite U.S. in 1993. He was re-elected in 1996 sarded for a total of eight years as
President of the Senate, a member of the CabimkethenNational Security Council. Prior to 1993 deeved eight years in the U.S. Senate and
eight years in the U.S. House of Representatives.

Steven P. Jobss one of the Company’s co-founders and currergtyes as its Chief Executive Officer. Mr. Jobslsmahe Chairman and
Chief Executive Officer of Pixar Animation Studios.

Arthur D. Levinson, Ph.D. has been Chief Executive Officer and a DirectoGefhentech Inc. (Genentech”) since July 1995. Dr. Levinson
has been Chairman of the Board of Directors of Gtwh since September 1999. He joined Genentet®88 and served in a number of
executive positions, including Senior Vice Prestdg#frR&D from 1993 to 1995. Dr. Levinson also sexwm the Board of Directors of
Google, Inc.

Jerome B. York has been Chief Executive Officer of Harwinton Cap@orporation, a private investment company tlatdntrols, since
September 2003. From January 2000 until Septentfi8, Mr. York was Chairman and Chief Executive €Hfiof MicroWarehouse, Inc., a
reseller of computer hardware, software and perahoducts. From September 1995 to October 188%as Vice Chairman of Tracinda
Corporation. From May 1993 to September 1995 heSeasor Vice President and Chief
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Financial Officer of IBM Corporation, and servedasember of IBM’s Board of Directors from Janua8g5 to August 1995. Mr. York is
also a director of Tyco International Ltd. and ExiBechnologies.

Role of the Board; Corporate Governance Matters

It is the paramount duty of the Board of Directtr®versee the Chief Executive Officer and oth@igemanagement in the competent and
ethical operation of the Company on a day-to-dajshand to assure that the long-term interestseofhareholders are being served. To
satisfy this duty, the directors take a proactfeeused approach to their position, and set stalsdarensure that the Company is committe
business success through maintenance of the higtaestards of responsibility and ethics.

Members of the Board bring to the Company a witgeaof experience, knowledge and judgment. Thesedsakills mean that governanc
far more than a “check the box” approach to stahglar procedures. The governance structure in ¢mep@ny is designed to be a working
structure for principled actions, effective decamsimaking and appropriate monitoring of both comptmand performance. The key practices
and procedures of the Board are outlined in th@@uaite Governance Guidelines available on the Cagipavebsite at
www.apple.com/investor.

Board Committees

The Board has a standing Compensation Committienginating and Corporate Governance Committéddfninating Committeej and an
Audit and Finance Committee gudit Committeé). All committee members are independent undelligtimg standards of the NASDAQ
Stock Market.

The Audit Committee is primarily responsible foreoseeing the services performed by the Compangepi@endent auditors and internal audit
department, evaluating the Company’s accountingigsland its system of internal controls and neing significant financial transactions.
Members of the Audit Committee are Messrs. Campbell York and Dr. Levinson.

The Compensation Committee is primarily respondittereviewing the compensation arrangements fertGbmpany’s executive officers,
including the Chief Executive Officer, and for adhistering the Company’s equity compensation pldembers of the Compensation
Committee are Messrs. Campbell, Drexler, and Gore.

The Nominating Committee assists the Board in ifigng qualified individuals to become directorgtdrmines the composition of the Board
and its committees, monitors the process to ageamsl effectiveness and helps develop and implethen€ompany’s corporate governance
guidelines. The Nominating Committee also consitersinees proposed by shareholders. Members Mdh@nating Committee are
Messrs. Drexler and Gore and Dr. Levinson.

The Audit, Compensation and Nominating Committgesrate under written charters adopted by the Bddrdse charters are available on
Apple’s website at www.apple.com/investor.

Audit Committee Financial Expert

All members of the Company’s Audit Committee, Maes€ampbell and York and Dr. Levinson, qualify asdit committee financial
experts” under Item 401 (h) of Regulation S-K arel@nsidered “independent” as the term is usdtim 7(d)(3)(iv) of Schedule 14A under
the Exchange Act.

Code of Ethics

The Company has a code of ethics that applied tf #Hie Company’s employees, including its prirtipxecutive officer, principal financial
officer, principal accounting officer and its BoastiDirectors. A copy of this code, “Ethics: The YW&/e Do Business Worldwide” is
available on the Company’s
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website at www.apple.com/investor. The Companynitiéeto disclose any changes in or waivers froradtie of ethics by posting such
information on its website or by filing a Form 8-K.

Executive Officers
The following sets forth certain information regagiexecutive officers of the Company. Informatjmertaining to Mr. Jobs, who is both a
director and an executive officer of the Compangyrhe found in the section entitledfrectors. ”

Timothy D. Cook , Chief Operating Officer (age 45), joined the Campin February 1998. Mr. Cook also served withGoenpany as
Executive Vice President, Worldwide Sales and Ogmra from 2002 to 2005. In 2004, his responsik#itwere expanded to include the
Company’s Macintosh hardware engineering. From 183802, Mr. Cook served in the position of SeMare President, Worldwide
Operations, Sales, Service and Support. Prioritinjg the Company, Mr. Cook held the position ot¥President, Corporate Materials for
Compag Computer CorporationCompag”). Previous to his work at Compag, Mr. Cook wasGéef Operating Officer of the Reseller
Division at Intelligent Electronics. Mr. Cook alspent 12 years with IBM, most recently as DirectioNorth American Fulfillment. Mr. Coc
also serves as a member of the Board of Directoxike, Inc.

Nancy R. Heinen, Senior Vice President, General Counsel and Sagréage 49), joined the Company in September 1B8ar to joining
the Company, Ms. Heinen held the position of VicesiRlent, General Counsel and Secretary of thedBafaDirectors at NeXT Software, Ir
(“ NeXT") from February 1994 until the acquisition of NeXy the Company in February 1997.

Ronald B. Johnson, Senior Vice President, Retail (age 47), joinedl@mpany in January 2000. Prior to joining the @any, Mr. Johnson
spent 16 years with Target Stores, most recent§easor Merchandising Executive.

Peter Oppenheimer, Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Offige 42), joined the Company in July 1996. Mr. @peimer also
served with the Company in the position of Vicedttent and Corporate Controller and as Senior Bireaf Finance for the Americas. Prior
to joining the Company, Mr. Oppenheimer was CFOrod of the four business units for Automatic DatacEssing, Inc. (ADP” ). Prior to
joining ADP, Mr. Oppenheimer spent six years in liffermation Technology Consulting Practice withdpers and Lybranc

Jonathan Rubinstein, Senior Vice President, iPod Division (age 49n¢a the Company in February 1997. Mr. Rubinstéso aerved with
the Company in the position of Senior Vice Presidelardware Engineering. Before joining the Compavy. Rubinstein was Executive

Vice President and Chief Operating Officer of Fmafer Systems Incorporated, from May 1993 to Aud@&6. Mr. Rubinstein also serves as
a member of the Board of Directors of Immersiongooation.

Philip W. Schiller , Senior Vice President, Worldwide Product Markgt{age 45), rejoined the Company in 1997. Prigejoining the
Company, Mr. Schiller was Vice President of Prodderketing at Macromedia, Inc. from December 139Mtarch 1997 and was Director
Product Marketing at FirePower Systems, Inc. fr@83lto December 1995. Prior to that, Mr. Schilleerst six years at the Company in
various marketing positions.

Bertrand Serlet, Ph.D., Senior Vice President, Software Engineering @é4je joined the Company in February 1997 upon tbe@any’s
acquisition of NeXT. At NeXT, Dr. Serlet held seakengineering and managerial positions, includdrgctor of Web Engineering. Prior to
NeXT, from 1985 to 1989, Dr. Serlet worked as &agsh engineer at Xerox PAR

Sina Tamaddon, Senior Vice President, Applications (age 48y¢ai the Company in September 1997. Mr. Tamaddorlkasserved with
the Company in the position of Senior Vice Presidéforidwide Service and Support, and Vice Predide General Manager, Newton
Group. Before joining the

104




Company, Mr. Tamaddon held the position of Vicesittent, Europe with NeXT from September 1996 thioltarch 1997. From
August 1994 to August 1996, Mr. Tamaddon held th&tfpn of Vice President, Professional Serviceth weXT.

Avadis Tevanian, Jr., Ph.D., Senior Vice President, Chief Software Technol@dficer (age 44), joined the Company in Februar97.@por
the Company’s acquisition of NeXT. Dr. Tevaniarveerwith the Company in the position of Senior ViRresident, Software Engineering
from 1997 to July 2003. With NeXT, Dr. Tevaniandekveral positions, including Vice President, Begring, from April 1995 to
February 1997. Prior to April 1995, Dr. Tevanianriked as an engineer with NeXT and held several gemant positions.

Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compdince

Section 16(a) of the Securities Exchange Act 04123 amended, requires the Company’s officerglardtors, and persons who own more
than ten percent of a registered class of the Cagip&quity securities, to file reports of sec@stiownership and changes in such ownership
with the Securities and Exchange CommissioBEC”). Officers, directors and greater than ten pershareholders also are required by
rules promulgated by the SEC to furnish the Compaitly copies of all Section 16(a) forms they file.

Based solely upon a review of the copies of sucmé$dfurnished to the Company or written represértatthat no Forms 5 were required, the
Company believes that all Section 16(a) filing riegiments were met during fiscal year 2005.
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Item 11. Executive Compensation

Information Regarding Executive Compensation

The following table summarizes compensation infdramafor the last three fiscal years for (i) Mrbdp Chief Executive Officer and (ii) the
four most highly compensated executive officereothan the Chief Executive Officer who were segvais executive officers of the
Company at the end of the fiscal year (collectiyéig “Named Executive Officerg’

SUMMARY COMPENSATION TABLE

Long-Term
Annual Compensation Compensation
Securities
Restricted Underlying
Stock Award All Other
Fiscal Salary Bonus Options* Compensation
Name and Principal Position Year ($) ($) ($) (#) ($)
Steven P. Jobs 200& 1 — — = =
Chief Executive Office 2004 1 — — — —
2003 1 — 74,750,00(1) — —
Timothy D. Cook 200t 602,43¢ 600,23¢ — — 12,60((3)
Chief Operating Office 2004 602,63: — 7,650,00((2) — 12,58¢(3)
2003 617,67: — — — 9,92¢(3)
Ronald B. Johnso 200k& 552,79¢ 550,20: — — —
Senior Vice President, Reti 2004 484,83¢ 1,500,00( 6,375,00((2) — —
2002 452,40¢ 1,500,00( — — —
Peter Oppenheime 200t 552,18¢ 550,20: — — 21,092(3)
Senior Vice President at 2004  450,73¢ —  6,375,00((2) — 3,80€(3)
Chief Financial Officel 2002  402,23; — — — —
Jonathan Rubinste 200k& 552,79¢ 551,23¢ — — 12,60((3)
Senior Vice Presiden 2004  485,21¢ —  6,375,00((2) — 12,30((3)
iPod Division 2003 452,93¢ — — — 11,98¢€(3)

(1) In March 2003, Mr. Jobs voluntarily cancelled dlh@s outstanding options, excluding those gramtekim in his capacity as a Director.
In March 2003, the Board awarded Mr. Jobs 10 nml(isplit-adjusted) restricted shares of the Comfga@pmmon Stock that generally
vest in full on the third anniversary of the grdate.

(2) Market value of restricted stock units granted caréh 24, 2004 (based on $12.75 per share, thenglgsice of the Compang’commot
stock on the NASDAQ National Market on the day @drd). Restricted stock units generally vest oeer fyears with 50% of the total
number of shares vesting on each of the secondbantth anniversaries of the grant date.

(3) Consists of matching contributions made by the Caimgn accordance with the terms of the 401(k) plan

Option Grants in Last Fiscal Year
There were no options, restricted stock, or rastlistock units granted to the Named Executivec®ffi during fiscal year 2005.
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Options Exercised and Year-End Option Holdings
The following table provides information about #t@ption exercises by the Named Executive Officknsng fiscal year 2005 and stock
options held by each of them at fiscal year-enat tHible has been adjusted to reflect the Compawgsor-one stock split in February 2005.

AGGREGATED OPTION EXERCISES IN THE LAST FISCAL YEAR
AND FISCAL YEAR-END OPTION VALUES

Number of Securities

Shares Underlying Unexercised Value of Unexercisec
Acquired on Value Options at Fiscal In-the-Money Options at

Exercise Realized Year-End (#) Fiscal Year-End ($)(1)
Name (#) ($) Exercisable Unexercisable Exercisable Unexercisable
Steven P. Jobs — — 120,00((2) —(@3) $ 5,694,00(2) —
Timothy D. Cook 500,000 $13,329,67 — —(3) — —
Ronald B. Johnso 1,350,000 $32,257,12° 2,100,00( 150,00((3) $61,910,62! $6,220,50(
Peter Oppenheime — — 1,107,50( 37,50((3) $45,994,85! $1,560,06.
Jonathan Rubinste 1,800,00( $31,012,81! — —(3) — —

(1) Market value of securities underlying in-the-momgyions at the end of fiscal year 2005 (based éhZEbper share, the closing price of
Common Stock on the NASDAQ National Market on Seffter 23, 2005), minus the exercise price.

(2) Consists of 120,000 options granted to Mr. Jolssrcapacity as a director pursuant to the 199@ddar Stock Option Plan. Since
accepting the position of CEO, Mr. Jobs is no larajigible to receive option grants under the Dioedlan. In March 2003, Mr. Jobs
voluntarily cancelled all of his outstanding opsoexcluding those granted to him in his capactg director.

(3) This does not include 10 million restricted shayemted to Mr. Jobs, 600,000 restricted stock \grasted to Mr. Cook, and 500,000
restricted stock units granted to each of Messitsndon, Oppenheimer, and Rubinstein.

Director Compensation

The form and amount of director compensation ismeined by the Board after a review of recommengiatmade by the Nominating
Committee. The current practice of the Board ibdee a substantial portion of a director’s annei@iner on equity. In 1998, shareholders
approved the 1997 Director Stock Option Plan (tReréctor Plan” ) and 1,600,000 shares were reserved for issuarceunder. Pursuant to
the Director Plan, the Company’s non-employee ttirscare granted an option to acquire 30,000 steir€®@mmon Stock upon their initial
election to the Board (hitial Options” ). The Initial Options vest and become exercisabtbree equal annual installments on each of the
first through third anniversaries of the grant d&a the fourth anniversary of a non-employee dinég initial election to the Board and on
each subsequent anniversary thereafter, the diredtde entitled to receive an option to acquix&000 shares of Common StockAfinual
Options”). Annual Options are fully vested and immediagtgrcisable on their date of grant. As of the entthe fiscal year, there were
options for 740,000 shares outstanding under theckir Plan. Since accepting the position of CE®@, Mbs is no longer eligible for grants
under the Director Plan. Non-employee directors aseive a $50,000 annual retainer paid in gqugriecrements. In addition, directors
receive up to two free computer systems per yedaam eligible to purchase additional equipmerat @iscount. Directors do not receive any
additional consideration for serving on committeeas committee chairperson.

Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Parttipation

The current members of the Compensation Commiteedassrs. Campbell, Drexler and Gore, none of whceremployees of the Company
and all of whom are considered “independent” doectinder the
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applicable NASDAQ rules. There were no interlockénsider participation between any member of tioaf® or Compensation Committee
and any member of the board of the directors orpsareation committee of another company.

Arrangements with Named Executive Officers

Change In Control Arrangements—Stock Options, Réstr Stock, and Restricted Stock Units

In the event of a “change in control” of the Compaaill outstanding options under the Company’sistution plans, except the Director
Plan, will, unless otherwise determined by the @ldministrator, become fully exercisable, and idlcashed out at an amount equal to the
difference between the applicable “change in cémqtrice” and the exercise price. The Director Rdanvides that upon a “change in control”
of the Company, all outstanding options held by-eomployee directors will automatically become fudlyercisable and will be cashed out at
an amount equal to the difference between the ek “change in control price” and the exercidegoof the options. A “change in control”
under these plans is generally defined as (i) tiggiaition by any person of 50% or more of the comad voting power of the Company’s
outstanding securities or (ii) the occurrence thasaction requiring shareholder approval andlinrg the sale of all or substantially all of
the assets of the Company or the merger of the @oynwith or into another corporation.

In addition, options, restricted stock grants, eemtricted stock units granted to the Named Exeeulifficers generally provide that in the
event there is a “change in control,” as definethenCompany’s stock option plans, and if in comieacwith or following such “change in
control,” their employment is terminated withoutd@se” or if they should resign for “Good Reasohgse options, restricted stock, and
restricted stock units outstanding that are notrgsted as of the date of such “change in consiudill become fully vested. Further, restricted
stock and restricted stock units granted to the &thExecutive Officers also provide that, in therathe Company terminates the Officer
without cause at any time, the restricted stocksuamd restricted stock will vest in full. GeneyaliCause” is defined to include a felony
conviction, willful disclosure of confidential infoation or willful and continued failure to performis or her employment duties. “Good
Reason” includes resignation of employment as @ltre$a substantial diminution in position or dagj or an adverse change in title or
reduction in annual base salary.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Qvners and Management

The following table sets forth certain informatias of October 31, 2005 (thel'able Date’) with respect to the beneficial ownership of the
Company’s Common Stock by (i) each person the Compalieves beneficially holds more than 5% of dliéstanding shares of Common
Stock; (ii) each director; (iii) each Named ExegatDfficer listed in the Summary Compensation Talvider the headingExecutive
Compensation;” and (iv) all directors and executive officersaagroup. On the Table Date, 839,776,934 share®oin®n Stock were
issued and outstanding. Unless otherwise indicalédersons named as beneficial owners of Comntock$have sole voting power and sole
investment power with respect to the shares inditas beneficially owned. In addition, unless o#l&s indicated, all persons named below
can be reached at Apple Computer, Inc., 1 Infibdep, Cupertino, CA 95014.
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Security Ownership of 5% Holders, Directors, Nomines and Executive Officers

Percent of Common Stock
Shares of Common Stocl
Beneficially Owned(1)

Name of Beneficial Owner QOutstanding

Fidelity Investments 58,552,91((2) 6.97%
Barclays Global Investol 55,223,98:(3) 6.58%
AXA 47,861,07(4) 5.70%
Steven P. Jok 10,120,0045) 1.21%
Fred D. Andersol 5,344 *
William V. Campbell 211,0046) *
Timothy D. Cook 12,59%(7) *
Millard S. Drexler 210,00((8) *
Albert A. Gore, Jr 40,000(9) *
Ronald B. Johnso 2,112,597(10) *
Arthur D. Levinsor 352,40((11) *
Peter Oppenheim¢ 396,645(12) *
Jonathan J. Rubinste 22,17413) *
Jerome B. Yorl 70,00((14) *
All executive officers and directors as a group g&8sons 16,307,62/(15) 1.94%

1)

(@)
(3)

(4)
()
(6)
(7)
(8)
(9)

Represents shares of Common Stock held and/omgpiield by such individuals that were exercisabtb@Table Date or within
60 days thereafter. This does not include optionestricted stock units that vest after 60 days $hare numbers have been adjusted to
reflect the Company’s two-for-one stock split irbRgary 2005.

Based on a Form 13F filed November 14, 2005 by FB&iRo. FMR Corp. lists its address as 82 Devonsireet, Boston, MA, 02109,
in such filing.

Based on a Form 13F filed November 14, 2005, bylBgs Global Investors. Barclays Global Invest@stslits address as 45 Fremont
Street, San Francisco, CA 94105.

Based on a Form 13F filed November 14, 2005, by AKXA lists its address as 25, Avenue Matigon, ®dfrance 10.
Includes 120,000 shares of Common Stock that Mrs fias the right to acquire by exercise of stotlonp.

Includes 210,000 shares of Common Stock that Mm@eell has the right to acquire by exercise of lstmations.
Excludes 600,000 restricted stock units.

Includes 170,000 shares of Common Stock that MexIer has the right to acquire by exercise of stations.

Consists of 40,000 shares of Common Stock that3dre has the right to acquire by exercise of stjtions.

(10) Includes 2,100,000 shares of Common Stock thatibtinson has the right to acquire by exercise akstptions and excludes 500,000

restricted stock units.

(11) Includes 2,000 shares of Common Stock that Dr.rison holds indirectly and 90,000 shares of ComntonkXhat Dr. Levinson has t

right to acquire by exercise of stock options.

(12) Includes 382,500 shares of Common Stock that Mpedpeimer has the right to acquire by exerciséoaksoptions and excludes

500,000 restricted stock units.
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(13) Excludes 500,000 restricted stock units.
(14) Includes 30,000 shares of Common Stock that MrkYwars the right to acquire by exercise of stockomst

(15) Includes 5,870,796 shares of Common Stock thatutixecofficers or directors have the right to acquy exercise of stock options.
Does not include 4.4 million of restricted stocktsn

* Represents less than 1% of the issued and outstasbares of Common Stock on the Table Date.
Equity Compensation Plan Information
The following table sets forth certain informati@s, of September 24, 2005, concerning shares ofmoonstock authorized for issuance ur

all of the Company’s equity compensation plans. fHide has been adjusted to reflect the Compamgsfor-one stock split in
February 2005.

(©)

(a) Number of Securities
Number of Securities (b) Remaining Available for
to be Issued Upon Weighted Average Future Issuance Under
Exercise of Exercise Price of Equity Compensation Plans
Outstanding Options, Outstanding Options, (Excluding Securities
Warrants and Rights Warrants and Rights Reflected in Column (a))
Equity compensation plans approved
shareholder 42,365,70! $23.27 62,791,72(1)
Equity compensation plans not appro
by shareholder 30,827,56! $10.27 —
Total equity compensation plans(2) 73,193,26! $17.7¢ 62,791,72:

(1) This number includes 3,834,300 shares of commark seserved for issuance under the Employee Staosh@se Plan, 440,000 shares
available for issuance under the 1997 Director IS@pgtion Plan, and 58,517,424 shares availablestarance under the 2003 Employee
Stock Plan. The grant of 5,260,000 shares of mdsttistock units has been deducted from the nuoftsrares available for future
issuance. Shares of restricted stock and restrattak units granted after April 2005 count agathstshares available for grant as two
shares for every share granted. This amount dategsclude shares under the 1990 Stock Option fPlanwas terminated in 1997. No
new options can be granted under the 1990 Stoclko@ptan.

(2) This table does not include 28,082 outstandingoogtassumed in connection with a prior acquisitiba company that originally
granted those options. These assumed options hae@hted average exercise price of $3.39 per shredditional options may be
granted under the assumed plan.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transadns

In March 2002, the Company entered into a Reimlmoesg Agreement with its Chief Executive Officer, Mateven P. Jobs, for the
reimbursement of expenses incurred by Mr. Jobkaroperation of his private plane when used forl&oisiness. The Reimbursement
Agreement is effective for expenses incurred by Mhbs for Apple business purposes since he todkedglof the plane in May 2001. During
2005, the Company recognized a total of $1,075i84%penses pursuant to this reimbursement agreaelated to expenses incurred by
Mr. Jobs during 2005.

In October 2005, the Company entered into an agraemith Pixar to sell certain of Pixar's shortrid on the iTunes Music Store. Mr. Jobs,
the Company’s Chief Executive Officer is also tHae Executive Officer, Chairman, and a large shaleer of Pixar.
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Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services

The following table sets forth the fees paid to @wmnpany’s independent registered public accourfiing KPMG LLP, during fiscal years
2005 and 2004.

Audit and Non-Audit Fees

2005 2004
Audit Fees $6,948,80((1) $3,402,30(
Audit-Related Fee 46,70C(2) 57,00C
Tax Fees 923,00((3)  784,50(C
All Other Fees — —
Total $7,918,50( $4,243,80(

(1) Audit fees relate to professional services rend@rednnection with the audit of the Company’s aarfinancial statements and internal
control over financial reporting, quarterly revieffinancial statements included in the Companygsis 10-Q, and audit services
provided in connection with other statutory andulatpry filings.

(2) Audit-related fees primarily relate to professiosatvices for the audits of employee benefit plans.

(3) Tax fees include $690,000 for professional servieaeslered in connection with tax compliance angaration relating to the
Company'’s expatriate program, tax audits and imatigonal tax compliance; and $233,000 for interrmrldax consulting and planning
services. The Company does not engage KPMG tonperfersonal tax services for its executive officers

Policy on Audit Committee Pre-Approval of Audit and Non-Audit Services Performed by the Independent Aditors

Prior to the enactment of the Sarbanes-Oxley AQOOR2 (the “Act”), the Company adopted an auditor independenaeyptilat banned its
auditors from performing non-financial consultirengces, such as information technology consuléing internal audit services. This auditor
policy also mandates that the audit and non-aeditices and related budget be approved by the Alaltmittee in advance, and that the
Audit Committee be provided with quarterly repogtion actual spending. In accordance with this gphdl services to be performed by
KPMG were pre-approved by the Audit Committee.

Subsequent to the enactment of the Act, the Audih@ittee met with KPMG to further understand thevigions of that Act as it relates to
auditor independence. KPMG rotated the lead awdthpr for fiscal year 2005 and will rotate othartpers as appropriate in compliance v
the Act. The Audit Committee will continue to mamithe activities undertaken by KPMG to comply wiiie Act.
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PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

(@) Index to Exhibits

Incorporated
by Reference
Exhibit Filing Date/ Filed
Number Exhibit Description Form Period End Date  herewith
3.1 Restated Articles of Incorporation, filed with tBecretary of S3 7/27/8¢
State of the State of California on January 27 81
3.2 Amendment to Restated Articles of Incorporatiolediwith the  10-Q 5/11/0C
Secretary of State of the State of California oryMa2000.
3.3 By-Laws of the Company, as amended through June 4, 10-Q 6/26/04
3.4 Certificate of Amendment to Restated Articles afdrporation, 10-Q 3/26/0t
as amended, filed with the Secretary of State @fState of
California on February 25, 200
4.2 Indenture dated as of February 1, 1994, betwee@timepany 10Q 4/01/94
and Morgan Guaranty Trust Company of New Y
4.3 Supplemental Indenture dated as of February 1,,18894ng 10Q 4/01/94
the Company, Morgan Guaranty Trust Company of NewskyY
as resigning trustee, and Citibank, N.A., as sismresustee
4.5 Form of the Compar's 6 1/2% Notes due 20C 10-Q 4/01/94
4.8 Registration Rights Agreement, dated June 7, 188@hg the S3 8/28/9¢
Company and Goldman, Sachs & Co. and Morgan Staley
Co. Incorporatec
4.9 Certificate of Determination of Preferences of & Non- 10K 9/26/97
Voting Convertible Preferred Stock of Apple Computac.
10.A.3 Apple Computer, Inc. Savings and Investment Plagmende 10K 9/27/91
and restated effective as of October 1, 1!
10.A.3-1  Amendment of Apple Computer, Inc. Savings and ltmest 10K 9/25/9z
Plan dated March 1, 199
10.A.3-2  Amendment No. 2 to the Apple Computer, Inc. Saviags 10Q 3/28/97
Investment Plar
10.A5 1990 Stock Option Plan, as amended through Novegber 10Q 12/26/97
1997.
10.A.6 Apple Computer, Inc. Employee Stock Purchase Rign, 10Q 3/26/0%
amended through April 21, 20C
10.A.8 Form of Indemnification Agreement between the Regig and 10K 9/26/97
each officer of the Registrat
10.A.43 NeXT Computer, Inc. 1990 Stock Option Plan, as atedr S-8 3/21/97
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10.A.49

10.A.50
10.A.51

10.A.52

10.A.53

10.A.54

10.A.541
10.A.55

10.A.56
10.A.57
10.B.18*

10.B.19*

14.1
21

23.1
311

31.2

32.1

1997 Employee Stock Option Plan, as amended through
October 19, 2001

1997 Director Stock Option Pla

2003 Employee Stock Plan, as amended through Nozethb
2005.

Reimbursement Agreement dated as of May 25, 20Gindy
between the Registrant and Steven P. {

Option Cancellation and Restricted Stock Award Agnent
dated as of March 19, 2003 by and between The Ragisand
Steven P. Job:

Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreeme
Alternative Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award A&gment

Apple Computer, Inc. Performance Bonus Plan datedl 21,
2005.

Form of Election to Satisfy Tax Withholding withdgk.
Form of Option Agreement

Custom Sales Agreement effective October 21, 2@d&den
the Registrant and International Business Machines
Corporation.

Purchase Agreement effective August 10, 2005 betwee
Registrant and Freescale Semiconductor,

Code of Ethics of the Compar
Subsidiaries of Apple Computer, Ir
Consent of Independent Registered Public Accourking.

Rulel3a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certification of Chief Extee
Officer.
Rulel13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certification of Chief Hineal
Officer.

Section 1350 Certifications of Chief Executive ©fi and
Chief Financial Officer

* Confidential Treatment requested as to certaiigas of this exhibit.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&f(the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the reaiigthas duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, theredalp authorized, this 2% day of November 2005.

APPLE COMPUTER, INC
By: /sl PETER OPPENHEIMEI
Peter Oppenheimer
Senior Vice President and
Chief Financial Officel

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each pemsbose signature appears below constitutes analrgpsteven P. Jobs a
Peter Oppenheimer, jointly and severally, his attgs-in-fact, each with the power of substitutifam,him in any and all capacities, to sign
any amendments to this Annual Report on Form 18+, to file the same, with exhibits thereto andeottocuments in connection therewith,
with the Securities and Exchange Commission, heratifying and confirming all that each of saidoatteys-in-fact, or his substitute or
substitutes, may do or cause to be done by virtnedt.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgh Act of 1934, this report has been signed bélpthe following persons on behalf of
the registrant and in the capacities and on thesdatlicated:

Name Title Date

/s STEVEN P. JOBS Chief Executive Officer and Director

STEVEN P. JOBS (Principal Executive Officer) November 29, 2005

Senior Vice President and Chief

/sl PETER OPPENHEIMER Financial Officer (Principal _ November 29. 2005

PETER OPPENHEIMER Financial and Principal Accounting '
Officer)

/SI/:;EEDAI\?I’D\IEDFE;‘)SSN Director November 29, 2005
“WILLIAM V. CAPEELL Director Noverber 29, 2005
“WILLARD S, DREXLER Director Novernber 20, 2005
/S,Q\ﬁ;ii?zggg EJR;]R Director November 29, 2005
“ARTHUR 5. LEVINSON Direcor Novernber 20, 2005

/S\;éggf\)/ll!EBBY(\;CR)EK Director November 29, 2005
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Exhibit 10.A.51
APPLE COMPUTER, INC.

2003 Employee Stock Plan
(amended and restated effective as of Novembei0952

1. Purposes of the PlanThe purposes of this Stock Plan are:

e  to attract and retain talented Employees

e to further align Employee and shareholder interestd



e to closely link Employee compensation with Compaeyformance.

Awards granted under the Plan may be Incentivek3Bmtions, Nonstatutory Stock Options, Restrictéatk subject to
Stock Purchase Rights, Stock Appreciation RightsfdPmance Shares or Restricted Stock Units, asmi@ted by the Administrator at the
time of grant.

2. Definitions. As used herein, the following definitions stegliply:

€)) “ Administrator” means the Board or any of its Committees as sfe#dministering the Plan, in accordance with
Section 4 of the Plan.

(b) “ Annual Revenué means the Company’s or a business unit's nesdalethe Fiscal Year, determined in
accordance with generally accepted accounting iptes

(©) “ Applicable Laws” means the requirements relating to the admirtistneof stock plans under U.S. state corporate
laws, U.S. federal and state securities laws, th@eCany stock exchange or quotation system onhathiee Common Stock is listed or quoted
and the applicable laws of any foreign countryusisdiction where Awards are, or will be, grantedier the Plan.

(d) “ Award " means, individually or collectively, a grant umdiee Plan of Options, Restricted Stock subje@tuck
Purchase Rights, Stock Appreciation Rights, Perfmrte Shares or Restricted Stock Units.

(e) “ Award Agreement means the written or electronic agreement settintp the terms and provisions applicabl
each Award granted under the Plan. The Award Agess is subject to the terms and conditions ofRtlae.

® “ Awarded StocK' means the Common Stock subject to an Award.

(9) “ Board” means the Board of Directors of the Company.

(h) “ Cash Positiori means the Company’s level of cash and cash elguitsa
0] “ Chairman” means the Chairman of the Board.

)] “ Code” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as aatkend




(k) “ Committee” means a committee of Directors appointed by tbarH in accordance with Section 4 of the Plan.

()] “ Common StocK means the common stock of the Company.
(m) “ Company” means Apple Computer, Inc., a California corpimnat
(n) “ Continuous Status as Chairmaunnless determined otherwise by the Administratoeans the absence of any

interruption or termination as Chairman of the Rbaith the Company. Continuous Status as Chairshati not be considered interrupted in
the case of medical leave, military leave, famélgde, or any other leave of absence approved b&dhenistrator, provided, in each case,
that such leave does not result in termination lesi@an with the Company. Neither service as @@ar nor payment of a director’s fee by
the Company shall be sufficient to constitute statsi “Chairman” by the Company.

(0) “ Continuous Status as an Employemeans the absence of any interruption or terrionatf the employment
relationship with the Company or any Subsidiaryntihuous Status as an Employee shall not be ceresidnterrupted in the case of
(i) medical leave, military leave, family leave,amy other leave of absence approved by the Adtramis, provided, in each case, that such
leave does not result in termination of the emplegtirelationship with the Company or any Subsidias/the case may be, under the terr
the respective Company policy for such leave; harevesting may be tolled while an employee is mapgproved leave of absence under the
terms of the respective Company policy for suckdear (ii) in the case of transfers between |lanaiof the Company or between the
Company, its Subsidiaries, or its successor. bBgugses of Incentive Stock Options, no such leaag exceed ninety days, unless
reemployment upon expiration of such leave is guaed by statute or contract. If reemployment ugxypiration of a leave of absence
approved by the Company is not so guaranteed,@fl1hkt day of such leave any Incentive Stock Ogirld by the Participant shall cease to
be treated as an Incentive Stock Option and skalldated for tax purposes as a Nonstatutory Stion. Neither service as a Chairman
nor as a Director nor payment of a director’s fg¢lhe Company shall be sufficient to constitute pdoyment” by the Company.

(p) “ Director” means a member of the Board.

(@) “ Dividend Equivalent means a credit, payable in cash, made at theadisn of the Administrator, to the account
of a Participant in an amount equal to the cashlédids paid on one Share for each Share represeyted Award held by such Participant.

(9] “ Earnings Per Sharemeans as to any Fiscal Year, the Company’s arsiniess unit’s Net Income, divided by a
weighted average number of common shares outsiquagich dilutive common equivalent shares deemedanding, determined in
accordance with generally accepted accounting iptes

(s) “ Fiscal Year’ means a fiscal year of the Company.

® “ Individual Performance Objectivemeans any individual Company business-relatedaihje that is objectively
determinable within the meaning of Code Section(ft§and the Treasury Regulations promulgated theteru Individual Performance
Obijectives shall include, but not be limited topimvement in customer satisfaction, opening of @mithl retail stores, and
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similar objectively determinable performance olijexs related to the Participant’s job responsibsitwith the Company.

0 ab (u) “ Employee” means any person employed by the Company or amgm®or Subsidiary of the Company subject to
above.
(v) “ Exchange Act means the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, andet:
(w) “ Fair Market Value' means, as of any date, the value of Common Sietérmined as follows:
0] If the Common Stock is listed on any establishedlsexchange or a national market system, including

without limitation the Nasdaq National Market oréeTNasdaq SmallCap Market of The Nasdaq Stock MaitkeFair Market Value shall be
the closing sales price for such stock (or theistpbid, if no sales were reported) as quoted ah &xchange or system, on the date of
determination or, if the date of determinationds a trading day, the immediately preceding tradiay;

(i) If the Common Stock is regularly quoted by a redpegh securities dealer but selling prices are not
reported, the Fair Market Value of a Share of Comi8tock shall be the mean between the high bidamdsked prices for the Common
Stock on the date of determination or, if thereravejuoted prices on the date of determinatiortherast day on which there are quoted
prices prior to the date of determination; or

(iii) In the absence of an established market for ther@mmStock, the Fair Market Value shall be deterich
in good faith by the Administrator.

(x) “ Incentive Stock Optiori means an Option intended to qualify as an ineergtock option within the meaning of
Section 422 of the Code and the regulations proateththereunder and is expressly designated bidhenistrator at the time of grant as an
incentive stock option.

) “Net Income” means as to any Fiscal Year, the income aftexdaf the Company for the Fiscal Year determined
in accordance with generally accepted accountiimgimes.

(2) “ Operating Cash Flowmeans the Company'’s or a business unit's sumetflhcome plus depreciation and
amortization less capital expenditures plus chamgasrking capital comprised of accounts receieabiventories, other current assets, trade
accounts payable, accrued expenses, product wareaitance payments from customers and long-teaomued expenses, determined in
accordance with generally acceptable accountintciples.

(aa) “ Operating Incomé means the Company'’s or a business unit’'s incaim foperations determined in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles.

(bb) “ Nonstatutory Stock Optiohmeans an Option not intended to qualify as aeiize Stock Option.
(cc) “ Option " means a stock option granted pursuant to the.Plan
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(dd) “ Optioned Stock means the Common Stock subject to an Option, 8ARtock Purchase Right.

(e€) “ Participant” means the holder of an outstanding Award graoteder the Plan.

() “ Parent” means a “parent corporation,” whether now or héiex existing, as defined in Section 424(e) of the
Code.

(99) “ Performance Goalsmeans the goal(s) (or combined goal(s)) deterchimethe Committee (in its discretion) to

be applicable to a Participant with respect to aral. As determined by the Committee, the Perfogaasoals applicable to an Award may
provide for a targeted level or levels of achievamesing one or more of the following measuresA@ual Revenue, (b) Cash Position,

(c) Earnings Per Share, (d) Net Income, (e) Opggdfiash Flow, (f) Operating Income, (g) Return @aséts, (h) Return on Equity, (i) Return
on Sales, (j) Total Stockholder Return, and (kj\iethal Performance Objectives. The Performancal&may differ from Participant to
Participant and from Award to Award. The Adminédbr shall appropriately adjust any evaluationaf@mance under a Performance Goal
to exclude (i) any extraordinary non-recurring iseas described in Accounting Principles Board Qpiriilo. 30 and/or in management’s
discussion and analysis of financial conditions eesillts of operations appearing in the Companyraial report to shareholders for the
applicable year, or (ii) the effect of any changreaccounting principles affecting the Company’sacdusiness units’ reported results.

(hh) “ Performance Sharemeans a performance share Award granted to écharit pursuant to Section 14.
(i) “ Plan” means this 2003 Employee Stock Plan.
(i “ Restricted Stock means shares of Common Stock acquired pursuangtant of Stock Purchase Rights under

Section 12 of the Plan.

(k) “ Restricted Stock Unit means a bookkeeping entry representing an amouat emthe Fair Market Value of ol
Share, granted pursuant to Section 13. Each RiestrStock Unit represents an unfunded and unsgclolggation of the Company.

()] “ Return on Asset$ means the percentage equal to the Company’asimess unit's Operating Income before
incentive compensation, divided by average net Gompr business unit, as applicable, assets, digtednmn accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles.

(mm) “ Return on Equity means the percentage equal to the Company’sidenie divided by average shareholder’s
equity, determined in accordance with generallyepted accounting principles.

(nn) “ Return on Sale8 means the percentage equal to the Company’dosimess unit's Operating Income before
incentive compensation, divided by the Company’therbusiness unit’s, as applicable, revenue, hited in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles.




(00) “Rule 16b3” means Rule 16b-3 of the Exchange Act or any suocésRule 16b-3, as in effect when
discretion is being exercised with respect to tlaa P

(pp) “ Stock Appreciation Right or “SAR” means a stock appreciation right granpedsuant to Section 10 below.

(qq) “ Section 16(b)y means Section 16(b) of the Exchange Act.

(rr) “ Share” means a share of the Common Stock, as adjustadciordance with Section 17 of the Plan.

(ss) “ Stock Purchase Rigfitmeans the right to purchase Common Stock pursiea®éction 12 of the Plan, as
evidenced by an Award Agreement.

(tt) “ Subsidiary” means a “subsidiary corporation”, whether nowhereafter existing, as defined in Section 424(f) of
the Code.

(uu) “ Total Stockholder Returhhmeans the total return (change in share price @investment of any dividends) of a

share of the Company’s common stock.

3. Stock Subject to the PlanSubject to the provisions of Section 17 of thenPthe maximum aggregate number of Shares
which may be issued under the Plan is 145,000,0@0eS. The Shares may be authorized, but unissuegiacquired Common Stock.

Any Shares subject to Options or SARs shall be mmlagainst the numerical limits of this Sectioms3ne Share for every Share
subject thereto. With respect to Awards grantedroafter the date of receiving shareholder apgrof/the amended Plan in 2005, any Sh
subject to Stock Purchase Rights, Performance Sloar@estricted Stock Units with a per share ot pmichase price lower than 100% of |
Market Value on the date of grant shall be coumigainst the numerical limits of this Section 3vas Shares for every one Share subject
thereto. To the extent that a Share that was sutgjen Award that counted as two Shares agdiesPlan reserve pursuant to the preceding
sentence is recycled back into the Plan underéheparagraph of this Section 3, the Plan shatirbdited with two Shares.

If an Award expires or becomes unexercisable witlhawing been exercised in full, or, with respecRestricted Stock, Performar
Shares or Restricted Stock Units, is forfeitedrtoepurchased by the Company, the unpurchased Startor Awards other than Options ¢
SARs, the forfeited or repurchased shares) whiate webject thereto shall become available for fugrant or sale under the Plan (unless the
Plan has terminated). With respect to SARs, whstock settled SAR is exercised, the Shares dubj@cSAR grant agreement shall be
counted against the numerical limits of Sectiob8v&, as one share for every share subject theegfardless of the number of shares used tc
settle the SAR upon exercise. Shares that havalbcheen issued under the Plan under any Awarll sbebe returned to the Plan and shall
not become available for future distribution unttex Plan; provided, however, that if Shares of Retet Stock, Performance Shares or
Restricted Stock Units are repurchased by the Cagnpttheir original purchase price or are forfeéite the Company, such Shares shall
become available for future grant under the PBhares used to pay the exercise price of an Opkiath not become available for future gr
or sale under the Plan. Shares used to satisfyitAkolding obligations shall not become availafolefuture grant or sale under the Plan. To
the extent an Award under the Plan is paid ouashaather




than stock, such cash payment shall not reduceuimer of Shares available for issuance underldre PAny payout of Dividend
Equivalents, because they are payable only in s, not reduce the number of Shares availables$oiance under the Plan. Conversely,
any forfeiture of Dividend Equivalents shall notiaase the number of Shares available for issuamder the Plan.

4, Administration of the Plan
€)) Procedure
0] Multiple Administrative Bodies If permitted by Rule 16b-3 promulgated underBxehange Act or any

successor rule thereto, as in effect at the timedfscretion is being exercised with respect éRkan, and by the legal requirements of the
Applicable Laws relating to the administration tdak plans such as the Plan, if any, the Plan rhai/r{eed not) be administered by different
administrative bodies with respect to (a) Directwl® are Employees, (b) Officers who are not Dwexitand (¢) Employees who are neither
Directors nor Officers.

(i) Section 162(m) To the extent that the Administrator determiités be desirable to qualify Awards
granted hereunder as “performance-based compemsaifiihin the meaning of Section 162(m) of the Cotte Plan shall be administered by
a Committee of two or more “outside directors” witthe meaning of Section 162(m) of the Code.

(iii) Rule 16bB3. To the extent desirable to qualify transactibessunder as exempt under Rule 16b-3, the
transactions contemplated hereunder shall be stegtto satisfy the requirements for exemption uiitide 16b-3.

(iv) Other Administration Other than as provided above, the Plan shaddpeinistered by (a) the Board or
(b) a Committee, which committee shall be constidub satisfy Applicable Laws.

(b) Powers of the Administrator Subject to the provisions of the Plan, and en¢ase of a Committee, subject to the
specific duties delegated by the Board to such Cittee) the Administrator shall have the authorittyits discretion:

0] to determine the Fair Market Value;

(i) to select the person(s) to whom Awards may be gdanéreunder;

(iii) to determine the number of shares of Common Sttletcovered by each Award granted hereunder;
(iv) to approve forms of Award Agreement for use unterRlan;

(v) to determine the terms and conditions, not ince@sisvith the terms of the Plan, of any Award geaint

hereunder. Such terms and conditions includeatmihot limited to, the exercise price, the datgraht, the time or times when Awards may
be exercised (or are earned) (which may be bas@eidarmance criteria), any vesting acceleratiowaiver of forfeiture restrictions, and a
restriction or limitation regarding any Award oethhares of Common Stock relating thereto, basedéh case on such factors as the
Administrator, in its sole




discretion, shall determine; provided, howeveat thith respect to Shares of Restricted Stock stibjeStock Purchase Rights, Performance
Shares or Restricted Stock Units vesting solelgbtam continuing as an Employee or Chairman, théyest in full no earlier (except if
accelerated pursuant to Sections 17 or 4(b)(ix@dfethan the three (3) year anniversary of thatgdate; provided, further, that if vesting is
not solely employment- or Chairmanship-based, thidyest in full no earlier (except if acceleratpdrsuant to Sections 17 or 4(b)

(ix) hereof) than the one (1) year anniversanhefgrant date;

(vi) the Administrator may not “reprice” Options, SARsSiock Purchase Rights, including 6-months-plus-1-
day option exchange programs, without shareholpproval;

(vii) to construe and interpret the terms of the Planfamards granted pursuant to the Plan;

(viii) to prescribe, amend and rescind rules and regokatielating to the Plan, including rules and retjores

relating to sub-plans established for the purpdspialifying for preferred tax treatment under figretax laws;

(ix) to modify or amend each Award (subject to Secti®ft)lof the Plan), including the discretionary
authority to extend the post-termination exercilsgiperiod of Options and SARs longer than is ottiee provided for in the Plan; however,
the Administrator may not extend the ptatmination exercisability period beyond the eantitthe date the Award would otherwise expire
its terms due to the passage of time from the adfageant or seven (7) years;

(x) to allow Participants to satisfy withholding taxlightions by electing to have the Company withhold
from the Shares to be issued upon exercise of &I BAR or Stock Purchase Right or upon vestingayout of another Award, that
number of Shares or cash having a Fair Market Vetpal to the amount required to be withheld. Faie Market Value of the Shares to be
withheld shall be determined on the date that theumt of tax to be withheld is to be determinedl efections by a Participant to have Shi
or cash withheld for this purpose shall be madsuirth form and under such conditions as the Admatist may deem necessary or advisable;

(xi) to determine whether Awards will be adjusted fovideénd Equivalents;

(xii) to authorize any person to execute on behalf oCfv@pany any instrument required to effect the poé
an Award previously granted by the Administratarga

(xiii) to make all other determinations deemed necessagvisable for administering the Plan.

(c) Effect of Administrators Decision The Administrator’s decisions, determinationd arerpretations shall be
final and binding on all Participants and any othelders of Awards.

5. Eligibility . Awards may be granted to Employees and the @laair Incentive Stock Options may be granted amly t
Employees.




6. No Employment Rights Neither the Plan nor any Award shall confer updparticipant any right with respect to
continuing the Participant’s relationship as an Eyge with or Chairman of the Company, nor shaytmterfere in any way with the
Participant’s right or the Company’s right to tenaiie such relationship at any time, with or withcaise.

7. Code Section 162(m) Provisions

€)) Option and SAR Annual Share LimitNo Participant shall be granted, in any Fiscahiy Options and Stock
Appreciation Rights to purchase more than 34,0@D&liares.

(b) Restricted Stock Subject to Stock Purchase Riftesformance Share and Restricted Stock Unit Anbiaik .
No Participant shall be granted, in any Fiscal Yeare than 10,000,000 Shares in the aggregatedbtiowing: (i) Restricted Stock subije
to Stock Purchase Rights, (ii) Performance Shame@ij) Restricted Stock Units.

(c) Section 162(m) Performance Restrictionsor purposes of qualifying grants of Restricgdck subject to Stock
Purchase Rights, Performance Shares or Restritbe#t Bnits as “performance-based compensation” uSéetion 162(m) of the Code, the
Administrator, in its discretion, may set restiicts based upon the achievement of Performance GoatsPerformance Goals shall be set by
the Administrator on or before the latest date pesible to enable the Restricted Stock subjectockSPurchase Rights, Performance Shares
or Restricted Stock Units to qualify as “performaefmased compensation” under Section 162(m) of tiaeC In granting Restricted Stock
subject to Stock Purchase Rights, Performance Sloar@estricted Stock Units which are intendedualify under Section 162(m) of the
Code, the Administrator shall follow any procedutesermined by it from time to time to be necessargippropriate to ensure qualification
of the Award under Section 162(m) of the Code (éngdetermining the Performance Goals).

(d) Changes in Capitalizatian The numerical limitations in Sections 7(a) abylghall be adjusted proportionately in
connection with any change in the Company’s capatbn as described in Section 18(a).

8. Term of Plan Subject to Section 23 of the Plan, the Planl sioatinue in effect until February 8, 2015.
9. Stock Options

€)) Type of Option. Each Option shall be designated in the Awarde&grent as either an Incentive Stock Option
Nonstatutory Stock Option. However, not withstamgdsuch designation, to the extent that the agtgdemr Market Value of the Shares w
respect to which Incentive Stock Options are egatie for the first time by the Participant duranyy calendar year (under all plans of the
Company and any Parent or Subsidiary) exceeds $00such Options shall be treated as Nonstat@tmwgk Options. For purposes of this
Section 9(a), Incentive Stock Options shall be iakéo account in the order in which they were ¢gedn The Fair Market Value of the Shares
shall be determined as of the time the Option wépect to such Shares is granted.

(b) Term. The term of each Option shall be seven (7) y&ars the date of grant or such shorter term as beay
provided in the Award Agreement. Moreover, in tiase of an Incentive Stock Option granted to aiddaant who, at the time the Incentive
Stock Option is granted, owns stock representingertttan ten percent (10%) of the total combinedhgapower of
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all classes of stock of the Company or any PareBubsidiary, the term of the Incentive Stock Optstall be five (5) years from the date of
grant or such shorter term as may be provideddrmtiard Agreement.

(c) Option Exercise Price and Consideration

() Exercise Price The per share exercise price for the Shares tsdned pursuant to exercise of an Option
shall be no less than 100% of the Fair Market VakeShare on the date of grant; provided, howekat,in the case of an Incentive Stock
Option granted to an Employee who, at the timditleentive Stock Option is granted, owns stock re@méing more than ten percent (10%) of
the voting power of all classes of stock of the @any or any Parent or Subsidiary, the per Sharemeeprice shall be no less than 110% of
the Fair Market Value per Share on the date oftgran

(i) Waiting Period and Exercise Date#\t the time an Option is granted, the Adminisirahall fix the
period within which the Option may be exercised ahdll determine any conditions which must be Batidefore the Option may be
exercised.

(iii) Form of Consideration The Administrator shall determine the acceptéinan of consideration for
exercising an Option, including the method of pagimén the case of an Incentive Stock Option,Adeninistrator shall determine the
acceptable form of consideration at the time ofgr&uch consideration may consist entirely of:

(1) cash;

(2 check;

€)) promissory note;

4) other Shares which have a Fair Market Value ord#ite of surrender equal to the aggregate

exercise price of the Shares as to which said @firall be exercised (which may include Shareswoald otherwise be issued pursuant to
the Option);

(5) consideration received by the Company under a esslaxercise program implemented by the
Company in connection with the Plan;

(6) a reduction in the amount of any Company liabil@ythe Participant, including any liability
attributable to the Participant’s participationaimy Company-sponsored deferred compensation programangement;

@) any combination of the foregoing methods of payment
(8) such other consideration and method of paymerthfoissuance of Shares to the extent
permitted by Applicable Laws.
10. Stock Appreciation Rights
€)) Granted in Connection with OptionsAt the sole discretion of the Administrator, S®\Ray be granted in

connection with all or any part of an Option, eithe




concurrently with the grant of the Option or at dinye thereafter during the term of the Option. Toleowing provisions apply to SARs that
are granted in connection with Options:

0] The SAR shall entitle the Participant to exerciee $AR by surrendering to the Company unexercised a
portion of the related Option. The Participantlsteeive in exchange from the Company an amoguaakto the excess of (x) the Fair
Market Value on the date of exercise of the SAfhefCommon Stock covered by the surrendered poofitine related Option over (y) the
exercise price of the Common Stock covered by tineeadered portion of the related Option. Notwiinsling the foregoing, the
Administrator may place limits on the amount thatynbe paid upon exercise of a SAR; provided, howetiat such limit shall not restrict t
exercisability of the related Option;

(i) When a SAR is exercised, the related Option, teettient surrendered, shall no longer be exercisable

(iii) A SAR shall be exercisable only when and to themixthat the related Option is exercisable and shal
expire no later than the date on which the rel@ption expires; and

(iv) A SAR may only be exercised at a time when the Mairket Value of the Common Stock covered by the
related Option exceeds the exercise price of thar@on Stock covered by the related Option.

(b) Independent SARs At the sole discretion of the Administrator, S®\Ray be granted without related Options.
The following provisions apply to SARs that are godnted in connection with Options:

0] The SAR shall entitle the Participant, by exerd@dine SAR, to receive from the Company an amount
equal to the excess of (x) the Fair Market ValuthefCommon Stock covered by exercised portioh®f3AR, as of the date of such exerc
over (y) the Fair Market Value of the Common Stookered by the exercised portion of the SAR, abefdate on which the SAR was
granted; provided, however, that the Administraay place limits on the amount that may be paichupcercise of a SAR; and

(i) SARs shall be exercisable, in whole or in parsuath times as the Administrator shall specify i th
Participant’s Award Agreement;

(iii) The term of each SAR shall be seven (7) years ftandate of grant or such shorter term as may be
provided in the Award Agreement.

(c) Form of Payment The Company’s obligation arising upon the exaraf a SAR may be paid in Common Stock
or in cash, or in any combination of Common Stoa#t eash, as the Administrator, in its sole disoretmay determine. Shares issued upon
the exercise of a SAR shall be valued at their Mairket Value as of the date of exercise.

(d) Rule 16b3. SARs granted hereunder shall contain such aaditirestrictions as may be required to be contiaine
in the Plan or Award Agreement in order for the St@Rjualify for the maximum exemption provided byl&16b-3.
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11. Exercise of Option or SAR

(@) Procedure for Exercise; Rights as a Shareholdemy Option or SAR granted hereunder shall beasable
according to the terms of the Plan and at suchstiamel under such conditions as determined by tmeiigtrator and set forth in the Award
Agreement. An Option may not be exercised fomatfon of a Share.

An Option or SAR shall be deemed exercised wherCthmpany receives: (i) written or electronic notidexercise (in accordance
with the terms of the Option or SAR) from the persmtitled to exercise the Option or SAR, andf(il) payment for the Shares with respect
to which the Option is exercised. Full payment roagsist of any consideration and method of payraatitorized by the Administrator and
permitted by the Award Agreement and the Plan.r&hasued upon exercise of an Option shall bedsuthe name of the Participant or, if
requested by the Participant, in the name of thiedfEnt and his or her spouse. Until the Sharesissued (as evidenced by the appropriate
entry on the books of the Company or of a duly autled transfer agent of the Company), no rightdte or receive dividends or any other
rights as a shareholder shall exist with respetiiedOptioned Stock, notwithstanding the exercfgh® Option. The Company shall issue (or
cause to be issued) such Shares promptly aftédpiien is exercised. No adjustment will be madeafdividend or other right for which the
record date is prior to the date the Shares anedsexcept as provided in Section 17 of the Plan.

Exercising an Option in any manner shall decrelasentimber of Shares thereafter available, botpdoposes of the Plan and for
sale under the Option, by the number of Shares asich the Option is exercised. Exercise of a S®Bny manner shall, to the extent the
SAR is exercised, result in a decrease in the nuwit®hares which thereafter shall be availablepfmposes of the Plan, and the SAR shall
cease to be exercisable to the extent it has bemgised.

(b) Termination of Continuous Status as Chairmddpon termination of a Participant’s Continuouat®s as
Chairman (other than termination by reason of tadiépant’s death), the Participant may, but omithin ninety (90) days after the date of
such termination, exercise his or her Option or SARhe extent that it was exercisable at the daseich termination. Notwithstanding the
foregoing, however, an Option or SAR may not be@ged after the date the Option or SAR would atlige expire by its terms due to the
passage of time from the date of grant.

(c) Termination of Continuous EmploymentJpon termination of a Participant’s Continuotat&s as Employee
(other than termination by reason of the Partidijgasteath), the Participant may, but only withinetly (90) days after the date of such
termination, exercise his or her Option or SARh® ¢xtent that it was exercisable at the date df sermination. Notwithstanding the
foregoing, however, an Option or SAR may not be@ged after the date the Option or SAR would atlige expire by its terms due to the
passage of time from the date of grant.

(d) Death of Participant If a Participant dies (i) while an Employee draman, the Option or SAR may be
exercised at any time within six (6) months (ortsather period of time not exceeding twelve (12nths as determined by the
Administrator) following the date of death by tharficipant’s estate or by a person who acquired the righteocése the Option by bequest
inheritance, but only to the extent of the righetercise that would have accrued had the Partitigantinued living and terminated his or
employment six (6) months (or such other periotdroé
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not exceeding twelve (12) months as determinedh&yAdministrator) after the date of death; orwiijhin ninety (90) days after the
termination of Continuous Status as an Employe@t@irman, the Option or SAR may be exercised, watiame within six (6) months (or
such other period of time not exceeding twelve (b@hths as determined by the Administrator) follogvthe date of death by the
Participant’s estate or by a person who acquireditht to exercise the Option or SAR by bequeshlogritance, but only to the extent of the
right to exercise that had accrued at the daterafihation. If the Option or SAR is not so exeedsvithin the time specified herein, the
Option or SAR shall terminate, and the Shares @a/by such Option or SAR shall revert to the Plan.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, however, an OptiotfsAR may not be exercised after the date the @micSAR would otherwise
expire by its terms due to the passage of time fitedate of grant.

(e) Buyout Provisions The Administrator may at any time offer to buyt éor a payment in cash or Shares an Option
or SAR previously granted based on such terms andittons as the Administrator shall establish aashmunicate to the Participant at the
time that such offer is made.

12. Stock Purchase Rights

@ Rights to Purchase Stock Purchase Rights may be issued either ailoreldition to, or in tandem with other
Awards and/or cash awards made outside of the FAéter the Administrator determines that it wiffer Stock Purchase Rights under the
Plan, it shall advise the Participant in writingedectronically, of the terms, conditions and riestins related to the offer, including the
number of Shares that the Participant shall beledtio purchase, the price to be paid, and the tinthin which the Participant must accept
such offer. The offer shall be accepted by exeaubdf an Award Agreement in the form determinedt®sy Administrator.

(b) Repurchase Option Unless the Administrator determines otherwise,Award Agreement shall grant the
Company a repurchase option exercisable upon thatasy or involuntary termination of the purchaseservice with the Company for any
reason (including death or Disability). The pusarice for Shares repurchased pursuant to thed\greement shall be the original price
paid by the purchaser and may be paid by canagilati any indebtedness of the purchaser to the @agpThe repurchase option shall la
at a rate determined by the Administrator.

(c) Other Provisions The Award Agreement shall contain such othengeprovisions and conditions not
inconsistent with the Plan as may be determinethéyAdministrator in its sole discretion.

(d) Rights as a ShareholderOnce the Stock Purchase Right is exercisedyuhehaser shall have the rights equive
to those of a shareholder, and shall be a sharehalden his or her purchase is entered upon tledsof the duly authorized transfer agent
of the Company. No adjustment will be made foivddgnd or other right for which the record datgi®r to the date the Stock Purchase
Right is exercised, except as provided in Sectiboflthe Plan.
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13. Restricted Stock Units

(@) Grant. Restricted Stock Units may be granted at ang timd from time to time as determined by the
Administrator. After the Administrator determintbst it will grant Restricted Stock Units under fPlan, it shall advise the Participant in
writing or electronically of the terms, conditiora)d restrictions related to the grant, includimg number of Restricted Stock Units and the
form of payout, which, subject to Section 13(d)yrba left to the discretion of the Administrator.

(b) Vesting Criteria and Other TermsThe Administrator shall set vesting criterigtsdiscretion, which, depending
on the extent to which the criteria are met, witetmine the number of Restricted Stock Units wilitbe paid out to the Participant. The
Administrator may set vesting criteria based ugmnachievement of Company-wide, business unifpdividual goals (including, but not
limited to, continued employment), or any otheribagtermined by the Administrator in its discratio

(c) Earning Restricted Stock UnitsUpon meeting the applicable vesting criterig, Barticipant shall be entitled to
receive a payout as specified in the RestrictedkStmit Award Agreement. Notwithstanding the fooew, at any time after the grant of
Restricted Stock Units, the Administrator, in itdesdiscretion, may reduce or waive any vestintead that must be met to receive a payout.

(d) Form and Timing of PaymentPayment of earned Restricted Stock Units steathade as soon as practicable i
the date(s) set forth in the Restricted Stock Bmiird Agreement. The Administrator, in its solealetion, may pay earned Restricted Stock
Units in cash, Shares, or a combination therebfar&s represented by Restricted Stock Units tleafiudly paid in cash again shall be availe
for grant under the Plan.

(e) Cancellation On the date set forth in the Restricted Stock Bward Agreement, all unearned Restricted Stock
Units shall be forfeited to the Company.

14. Performance Shares

€)) Grant of Performance SharesSubject to the terms and conditions of the FRarformance Shares may be granted
to Participants at any time as shall be determimetihe Administrator, in its sole discretion. Sedijto Section 7(b) hereof, the Administrator
shall have complete discretion to determine (i)rthmber of Shares subject to a Performance Shaardayvanted to any Participant, and
(i) the conditions that must be satisfied, whighitally will be based principally or solely on agthement of performance milestones but may
include a service-based component, upon whichnglitioned the grant or vesting of Performance ShaRerformance Shares shall be
granted in the form of units to acquire ShareschEaich unit shall be the equivalent of one Shargtirposes of determining the number of
Shares subject to an Award. Until the Sharessmuged, no right to vote or receive dividends oratiner rights as a stockholder shall exist
with respect to the units to acquire Shares.

(b) Other Terms The Administrator, subject to the provisionghe Plan, shall have complete discretion to detegemi
the terms and conditions of Performance Sharedegamder the Plan. Performance Share grantstshallbject to the terms, conditions,
restrictions
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determined by the Administrator at the time thelktis awarded, which may include such performaraset milestones as are determined
appropriate by the Administrator. The Administratoay require the recipient to sign a Performantar& Award Agreement as a condition
of the award. Any certificates representing thar8h of stock awarded shall bear such legendsafisoghdetermined by the Administrator.

(c) Performance Share Award Agreemeritach Performance Share grant shall be evidenged Award Agreement
that shall specify such other terms and conditasthe Administrator, in its sole discretion, shigtermine.

15. Transferability of Awards Unless determined otherwise by the AdministredarAward may not be sold, pledged,
assigned, hypothecated, transferred, or disposedasfy manner other than by will or by the lawglescent or distribution or pursuant to a
qualified domestic relations order as defined lgy@wode or Title 1 of the Employee Retirement Inc@reurity Act, and may be exercised,
during the lifetime of the Participant, only by tRarticipant. If the Administrator makes an Awa@hsferable, such Award shall contain <
additional terms and conditions as the AdministrdEems appropriate.

16. Stock Withholding to Satisfy Withholding Tax Oblifzns. When a Participant incurs tax liability in coetien with the
exercise, vesting or payout, as applicable, of s, which tax liability is subject to tax withltdthg under applicable tax laws, and the
Participant is obligated to pay the Company an arhoequired to be withheld under applicable taxdatie Participant may satisfy the
withholding tax obligation by electing to have Bempany withhold from the Shares to be issued @xancise of the Option, SAR or Stock
Purchase Right or the Shares to be issued uporupayweesting of the other Award, if any, that nienbf Shares having a Fair Market Value
equal to the amount required to be withheld. Taie Market Value of the Shares to be withheld shalbdetermined on the date that the
amount of tax to be withheld is to be determinéeé (fTax Date”).

All elections by a Participant to have Shares wthHor this purpose shall be made in writing ifoam acceptable to the
Administrator and shall be subject to the follownegtrictions:

€)) the election must be made on or prior to the applee Tax Date; and
(b) all elections shall be subject to the consent saglroval of the Administrator.
In the event the election to have Shares subjeat tOption, SAR or Stock Purchase Right withhelcsh#gle by a Participant and the
Tax Date is deferred under Section 83 of the Cambise no election is filed under Section 83(lihefCode, the Participant shall receive
full number of Shares with respect to which thei@ptSAR or Stock Purchase Right is exercised bcih $articipant shall be unconditione
obligated to tender back to the Company the praperber of Shares on the Tax Date.

17. Adjustments Upon Changes in Capitalization, Dissoiy Merger or Asset Sale

€)) Changes in Capitalization Subject to any required action by the sharehsldethe Company, the number of
shares of Common Stock covered by each outstadiragd and the number of shares of Common Stockiwhéve been authorized for
issuance under the Plan but
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as to which no Awards have yet been granted ortwhive been returned to the Plan upon cancellatiexpiration of an Award, as well as
the price per share, if any, of Common Stock cavéneeach such outstanding Award and the 162(roalfigear share issuance limits under
Sections 7(a) and (b) hereof shall, shall be priomuately adjusted for any increase or decreaslieeimumber of issued shares of Common
Stock resulting from a stock split, reverse stqalit,sstock dividend, combination or reclassificatiof the Common Stock, or any other
increase or decrease in the number of issued sbha@smmon Stock effected without receipt of corsidion by the Company; provided,
however, that conversion of any convertible semsibf the Company shall not be deemed to have feffatted without receipt of
consideration.’'Such adjustment shall be made by the Board, wheisgrdination in that respect shall be final, bigdémd conclusive. Exce
as expressly provided herein, no issuance by timep@ay of shares of stock of any class, or secaratmvertible into shares of stock of any
class, shall affect, and no adjustment by reasereti shall be made with respect to, the numberioe of shares of Common Stock subject
to an Award.

(b) Dissolution or Liquidation In the event of the proposed dissolution oritigtion of the Company, all outstanding
Awards will terminate immediately prior to the cansmation of such proposed action, unless otherpriseided by the Administrator. The
Administrator in its discretion may provide for arkicipant to have the right to exercise his or@ption, SAR or Stock Purchase Right until
ten (10) days prior to such transaction as tofahe Awarded Stock covered thereby, including 8baxrs to which the Award would not
otherwise be exercisable. In addition, the Adntiaier may provide that any Company repurchaseopir forfeiture rights applicable to a
Award shall lapse 100%, and that any Award vestimgll accelerate 100%, provided the proposed disealor liquidation takes place at the
time and in the manner contemplated. To the extdwts not been previously exercised (with respe@ptions, SARs and Stock Purchase
Rights) or vested (with respect to other Awarde)Asvard will terminate immediately prior to the gammation of such proposed action.

(c) Merger or Asset Sale Unless otherwise determined by the Administrdtothe event of a merger of the Comp
with or into another corporation, or the sale distantially all of the assets of the Company, eadktanding Award shall be assumed or an
equivalent award substituted by the successor catipa or a Parent or Subsidiary of the successaration. In the event that the succe
corporation refuses to assume or substitute foAthard, the Participant shall (i) fully vest in ahdve the right to exercise the Option, SAR
or Stock Purchase Right as to all of the AwardextiStincluding Shares as to which it would not otvise be vested or exercisable, and
(i) fully earn and receive a payout with respacbther Awards. If an Award becomes fully vestad axercisable (or earned, as applicable)
in lieu of assumption or substitution in the eveha merger or sale of assets, the Administratat siotify the Participant in writing or
electronically that (i) the Option, SAR or Stockréhiase Right shall be fully vested and exerciséila period of thirty (30) days from the
date of such notice, and the Option, SAR or StagiclPase Right shall terminate upon the expiratiosuch period and (ii) the other Award
shall be paid out immediately prior to the mergesale of assets. For the purposes of this paohgthe Award shall be considered assumed
if, following the merger or sale of assets, thauassd Award confers the right to purchase or regdoreeach Share of Awarded Stock subject
to the Award immediately prior to the merger oresafl assets, the consideration (whether stock, casither securities or property) received
in the merger or sale of assets by holders of Com8tock for each Share held on the effective diteeotransaction (and if holders were
offered a choice of consideration, the type of aarstion chosen by the holders of a majority ef thutstanding Shares); provided, however,
that if such consideration received in the mergeyate of assets is not solely common
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stock of the successor corporation or its ParaetAdministrator may, with the consent of the sssoe corporation, provide for the
consideration to be received upon the exercispdgout or vesting, as applicable) of the Award,éfach Share of Awarded Stock subject to
the Award, to be solely common stock of the suamessrporation or its Parent equal in fair markaiue to the per share consideration
received by holders of Common Stock in the mergevate of assets.

(d) Change in Contral In the event of a “Change in Control” of the Guany, as defined in paragraph (e) below,
unless otherwise determined by the Administratargo the occurrence of such Change in Contr@ fallowing acceleration and valuation
provisions shall apply:

0] Any Options, SARs and Stock Purchase Rights oudstgras of the date such Change in Control is
determined to have occurred that are not yet esatg and vested on such date shall become fuliscesable and vested; and

(i) Any other Awards outstanding as of the date suciin@é in Control is determined to have occurred that
are not yet earned on such date shall becomedaliyed and vested; and

(iii) The value of all outstanding Awards shall, unles&eowise determined by the Administrator at orrafte
grant, be cashed-out. The amount at which suclo@ptSARs and Stock Purchase Rights shall be daslteshall be equal to the excess of
(x) the Change in Control Price (as defined belowdr (y) the exercise price of the Common Stockeces by the Option, SAR or Stock
Purchase Right, and the amount at which such étvards shall be cashed out shall be equal to tl@hin Control price (as defined
below). The cash-out proceeds shall be paid té¢Hrécipant or, in the event of death of a Pgs#at prior to payment, to the estate of the
Participant or to a person who acquired the riglexercise the Option, SAR or Stock Purchase Raghwho acquired the right to receive the
payout of the other Award, by bequest or inheriganc

(e) Definition of “Change in Contrdl. For purposes of this Section 17, a “Change int@¢’ means the happening
any of the following:

0] When any “person”, as such term is used in Secti@fd) and 14(d) of the Exchange Act (other than th
Company, a Subsidiary or a Company employee beplefit including any trustee of such plan actingrastee) is or becomes the “beneficial
owner” (as defined in Rule 13®lunder the Exchange Act), directly or indirecti securities of the Company representing fiftygeett (50%
or more of the combined voting power of the Compaitiyen outstanding securities; or

(i) The occurrence of a transaction requiring shareft@gproval, and involving the sale of all or
substantially all of the assets of the Companyermherger of the Company with or into another caapon (other than the Company’s
reincorporation into another jurisdiction).

® Change in Control Price For purposes of this Section 17, “Change in @dirice”shall be, as determined by
Administrator, (i) the highest Fair Market Valueaaity time within the 60-day period immediately mding the date of determination of the
Change in Control
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Price by the Administrator (the “60-Day Period"},(0) the highest price paid or offered, as detiewd by the Administrator, in any bona fide
transaction or bona fide offer related to the CleaimgControl of the Company, at any time within §6eDay Period.

18. Date of Grant The date of grant of an Award shall be, fopaitposes, the date on which the Administrator maéhkes
determination granting such Award, or such othtrldate as is determined by the Administratortidécof the determination shall be
provided to each Participant within a reasonalphetafter the date of such grant.

19. Amendment and Termination of the Plan
€)) Amendment and TerminatianThe Board may at any time amend, alter, suspetgfminate the Plan.
(b) Shareholder Approval The Company shall obtain shareholder approvahgfmaterial Plan amendments. The

Company shall also obtain shareholder approvahgfRlan amendments to the extent necessary anglbllesio comply with Applicable
Laws.

(c) Effect of Amendment or TerminatianNo amendment, alteration, suspension or terioinatf the Plan shall
impair the rights of any Participant, unless mujuagreed otherwise between the Participant and\tiministrator, which agreement must be
in writing and signed by the Participant and thenpany. Termination of the Plan shall not affeet &dministrator’s ability to exercise the
powers granted to it hereunder with respect to Alwgranted under the Plan prior to the date of serchination.

20. Conditions Upon Issuance of Shares

@ Legal Compliance Shares shall not be issued pursuant to the isgesc payout, as applicable, of an Award un
the exercise or payout, as applicable, of such Avaad the issuance and delivery of such Sharebcsimaply with Applicable Laws and shall
be further subject to the approval of counsel ier Company with respect to such compliance.

(b) Investment RepresentationsAs a condition to the exercise or payout, adiegiple, of an Award, the Company
may require the person exercising such Option, 8ABtock Purchase Right, or in the case of andiard, the person receiving the payt
to represent and warrant at the time of any sueicése that the Shares are being purchased onigvestment and without any present
intention to sell or distribute such Shares iftha opinion of counsel for the Company, such agsgmtation is required.

21. Inability to Obtain Authority. The inability of the Company to obtain authoffitym any regulatory body having
jurisdiction, which authority is deemed by the C@my's counsel to be necessary to the lawful issuandesale of any Shares hereunder,
shall relieve the Company of any liability in respef the failure to issue or sell such Shareagitich such requisite authority shall not h.
been obtained.

22. Reservation of SharesThe Company, during the term of this Plan, ailkll times reserve and keep available such nu
of Shares as shall be sufficient to satisfy theiiregqnents of the Plan.
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23. Shareholder Approval The amended and restated Plan shall be subjegiproval by the shareholders of the Company
within twelve (12) months after February 8, 20@ich shareholder approval shall be obtained imtuener and to the degree required under
Applicable Laws.

24, Non-U.S. Employees Notwithstanding anything in the Plan to the cant, with respect to any employee who is resident
outside of the United States, the Committee maitsisole discretion, amend the terms of the Riaorder to conform such terms with the
requirements of local law or to meet the objectioethe Plan. The Committee may, where appropregtablish one or more sub-plans for
this purpose.
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Exhibit 10.A.54-1
APPLE COMPUTER, INC.
RESTRICTED STOCK UNIT AWARD AGREEMENT
This Agreement is made [DATE] (the “Date of Grantly and between Apple Computer, Inc. (“Apple”) dNAME] (the
“Grantee”).
Grantee and Apple agree as follows:
1. Grant of Restricted Stock UnitsApple hereby grants to Grantee as of the Datéraht, an award of

restricted stock units (the “Units”) pursuant te tlerms and conditions contained herein and timestand conditions of the 2003 Employee
Stock Option Plan (“2003 Plan?)

2. Vesting of the Units

€)) Release Date % of the Units shall vest on [DATE] and % of the Units shall vest on
[DATE] (the “Release Dates”) provided that Granes remained continuously employed by Apple, or@argnt or subsidiary of Apple,
until each such Release Date.

(b) Termination of Employment In the event that Grantee’s employment with Applr any parent or subsidiary of
Apple, terminates prior to a Release Date for aagon, including termination voluntarily by Grantedoy Apple with or without cause, any
unvested Units shall be immediately forfeited.

3. Restriction on Transfer Grantee shall not sell, transfer, pledge, hypodle or otherwise dispose of any Units or the
consideration to be received upon payout of velsteits prior to the applicable payout date.

4, Payout of Units

(@) Status as a Creditor. Unless and until Units hasted in accordance with the schedule set for8ettion 2
above, Grantee shall have no right to a payout keitipect to any Units. Prior to payout of any @ddtnits, the vested Units will represent an
unsecured obligation of Apple, payable (if at alt)y from the general assets of Apple. Grantemisnsecured creditor of Apple, and pay
are subject to the claims of Apple’s creditors.

(b) Form and Timing of Payout. Vested Units shall belput in the form of shares of Apple common stock
(“Shares”) as soon as practicable following eacle&e Date.




5. Tax ConsequencesGrantee understands that [he or she] (and npteghall be responsible for [his or her] own tax
liability that may arise as a result of the trarigans contemplated by this Agreement. Grantee rataleds that [he or she] will recognize
ordinary income in an amount equal to the fair reidalue of the Shares received as of each payteatfdr such Shares, and Grantee is
obligated to pay applicable income tax withholdorgthe amount of ordinary income recognized uparip of such Shares. Grantee shall
pay such income tax withholding amounts to Applehimi 24 hours of the payout date for such Shareadtition, Grantee understands that
Apple will be required to withhold applicable empioent taxes on each Release Date from compenshi®Grantee. To the extent that the
compensation due Grantee is insufficient to colierapplicable employment taxes on each Release Gedatee agrees to pay to Apple
within 24 hours of such Release Date, the amouatfduemployment taxes.

[Note: For grants permitting net share settlem@né&ntee may satisfy such tax withholding obligation whole or in part by:
(a) paying cash, or (b) electing to have Apple tdtld otherwise deliverable Shares having a fairkeiavalue equal to the minimum amount
required to be withheld. Unless Grantee notifigplaé otherwise within a reasonable time prior #® dipplicable payout date, Grantee will be
deemed to have elected to satisfy the withholdislggations through Apple retaining otherwise delalde Shares as provided in clause (b).]

6. General Provisions

€)) This Agreement and the 2003 Employee Stock Optlan Represent the entire agreement and understandin
between the parties as to the subject matter harebsupersede all prior or contemporaneous agregenvehether written or oral. In the
event of a conflict between this Agreement and2B@3 Plan, the provisions of the 2003 Plan willgrov The Administrator has the powe
interpret the 2003 Plan and this Agreement. ABipretations and determinations made by the Adsnatior will be binding upon Grantee,
Apple, and all other interested parties.

(b) This Agreement shall be governed by the laws ofState of California without reference to its castfl of law
principles.

(c) No waiver, alteration or modification of any of theovisions of this Agreement shall be binding,asslin writing
and signed by duly authorized representativeseptrties hereto. This Agreement shall be bindimgaod shall inure to the benefit of, the
parties and their respective successors and assigns

(d) This Agreement may be executed in two or more @patts, each of which shall be deemed an origindlall of
which together shall constitute one instrument.




IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have duly exectlesl Agreement effective as of the date set fobibva.

APPLE COMPUTER, INC

By:

Its: [Grante’s Name]

Exhibit 10.A.57
Standard
NON-STATUTORY STOCK OPTION AGREEMENT RE: 2003 Employ8tock Plan

TO: [INSERT NAME]

DATE OF GRANT: [INSERT DATE]

On the Date of Grant shown above, Apple Computer, (the “Company”), a California corporation, gieshto you (the “Optionee”) an
option to purchase shares of Common Stock, no glaeyof the Company, in the number and at thee@gcshown above, and in all respects
subject to the terms, definitions and provisionghef 2003 Employee Stock Plan, as amended (th@™Ri&the Company, which is
incorporated herein by reference, as follows:

1. NATURE OF THE OPTION. This option is intended t® & non-statutory option and NOT an incentive station within the
meaning of Section 422 of the Internal Revenue @dd®86, as amended (the Code). The grant afpkien is a one-time benefit offered
solely to employees and does not create any cdnédaor other right to receive a grant of additiomations or other benefits in lieu of
additional options in the future. Future optioamgs, if any, will be at the sole discretion of bempany, including, but not limited to, the
timing of any grant, the number of options, vestimgvisions and the exercise price. The futureeaif the underlying Company shares is
unknown and cannot be predicted with certaintythéf underlying Company shares do not increasalurey the option will have no value.

2. NATURE OF THE PLAN. The Plan is discretionary iatare and the Company may amend, cancel or terenihatPlan at any
time.
3. EMPLOYEE PARTICIPATION. Your participation in tHelan is voluntary. The value of the option is atvaordinary item of

compensation outside the scope of your employmamtract, if any. As such, the option is not pdmormal or expected compensation for
purposes of calculating any severance, resignatiaiundancy, end of service payments, bonuses;dengce awards, pension or retirement
benefits or similar payments.

4, OPTION PRICE. The Option price indicated abovedach share of Common Stock, is not less tharaihenfarket value per share
of Common Stock on the date of grant of this optemdetermined by the Administrator in accordamitle Section 9(c) of the Plan.
5. EXERCISE OF OPTION. This option shall be exercisab accordance with Section 11 of the Plan ds¥id:
0] RIGHT TO EXERCISE. This option shall be exercigaldumulatively, as follows:
Number of Shares Can be Exercised Or Must be Exercised Before
(i) METHOD OF EXERCISE. This option shall be exercisdhy the submission of a Notice of Exercise forhrich

may be obtained from the Company and shall stateldrction to exercise this option, the numberhafas in respect of which this option is
being exercised, and such other representationagnregments as to the holder’s investment inteifit iespect to such shares of Common
Stock as may be required by the Company. Suclcblofi Exercise form shall be signed by the Opticaae shall be delivered in person or
by mail or by facsimile to the Company. When eig@ng an option, the Notice of Exercise form slu@laccompanied by payment of the
purchase price. Payment of the purchase pric¢lshdly cash, check, or other means as determipéuebAdministrator pursuant to

Section 9(c) of the Plan. When executing a sanyesd&, the Notice of Exercise form must be suleditb Shareholder Relations by 3:00
PM the next business day following the day of sdlke certificate or certificates for shares of @aom Stock as to which this option shall be
exercised shall be registered in the name of thege.

(iii) RESTRICTIONS ON EXERCISE. This option may not bereised if the issuance of such shares upon such
exercise would constitute a violation of any apgile federal or state securities law or other lanegulation. As a condition to the exercise
of this option, the Company may require the Opteétiemake such representations, and warrantigeet@dmpany as may be required by any
applicable law or regulation, including the execntand delivery of a representation letter at ite f exercise of this option.






6. DATA AUTHORIZATION. You acknowledge and consenttte collection, use, processing and transfer cfqeal data as
described in this paragraph. The Company, itgeélantities, and your employer hold certain peasorformation about you, including your
name, home address and telephone number, datdtgfduicial security number or other employee iifieation number, salary, nationality,
job title, any shares of stock or directorshipgitirlthe Company, details of all options or anyeotbntitiement to shares of stock awarc
canceled, purchased, vested, unvested or outstamdyour favor, for the purpose of managing anchiaistering the Plan (“Data”). The
Company and/or its related entities will transf@t®amongst themselves as necessary for the pusposplementation, administration and
management of your participation in the Plan, drd@ompany and/or any of its related entities nehdurther transfer Data to any third
parties assisting the Company in the implementaddministration and management of the Plan. Thespients may be located in the
European Economic Area, or elsewhere, such asitedJStates. You authorize them to receive, Esssese, retain and transfer the Data, in
electronic or other form, for the purposes of inmpdmting, administering and managing your partiéipain the Plan, including any requisite
transfer of such Data as may be required for tmeigidtration of the Plan and/or the subsequentihgldf shares of stock on your behalf to a
broker or other third party with whom you may elextieposit any shares of stock acquired purswathtet Plan. You may, at any time,
review Data, require any necessary amendmenttonithdraw the consents herein in writing by @mting the Company; however,
withdrawing your consent may affect your abilityparticipate in the Plan.

7. NON-TRANSFERABILITY OF OPTION. This option may nbe sold, pledged, assigned, hypothecated, traadfer disposed of
in any manner otherwise than by will or by the lafislescent or distribution or pursuant to a qiedidomestic relations order as defined by
the Code or Title | of the Employee Retirement imeocSecurity Act or the rules thereunder. Thisaptnay be exercised during the lifetime
of the Optionee only by the Optionee. The termthisf option shall be binding upon the executodspiaistrators, heirs, successors and
assigns of the Optionee.

8. TERMINATION OF EMPLOYMENT. Except as expressly pided in the Plan, this Option shall terminate @9<sifollowing the
date of termination of employment and may be egertiduring such 90-day period only to the extestadcand exercisable as of the date of
termination of employment.

9. MISCELLANEOQOUS. This Option (a) shall be bindingampand inure to the benefit of any successor oCii@pany, (b) shall be
governed by the laws of the State of Californial any applicable laws of the United States, andn@y not be amended except in writing.
The Plan is governed by and subject to U.S. lawerpretation of the Plan and your rights underRtze will be governed by provisions of
U.S. law. No contract or right of employment shmdlimplied by this Agreement, nor shall this Agneat in any way interfere with
Optionee’s right or the Company’s or, where apfilieaa Subsidiary’s or Affiliated Company’s riglotterminate Optionee’s employment at
any time.

10. ACCEPTANCE OF OFFER OF OPTION. Unless you affirivelly refuse the offer of the option, in writingjthin thirty (30) days
of the date of this offer, you will be deemed todaccepted the offer under the terms as providledeaand agree that your participation in
the Plan is governed by the terms of the Plan dectim

Exhibit 10.B.1¢

Purchase Agreement
Between Apple and Freescale

This Purchase Agreement is between Apple Compunter,a California corporation, with offices atrifihite Loop, Cupertino, CA 95014

(“Apple™) and Freescale Semiconductor, Inc., a Bele@ corporation, with offices at 7700 West Parireate, Austin, Texas (“Freescale”).
This Purchase Agreement is effective from August2DD5.

Purpose

Apple and Freescale have been discussing the grasid other terms and conditions related to Apglaishase of Freescale MPUs. The
parties intend that this Purchase Agreement gowesin relationship and all Purchase Orders for scake MPUs.

Agreement

Definitions

Capitalized terms are defined in Attachment 1.

Purchase and Supply
Freescale agrees to supply and Apple agrees thgseqor have Authorized Purchasers purchase) MB (fdlows:
WIP Purchase Commitment

Apple or its Authorized Purchasers will purchase WP described in Attachment 3 in the manner desdrin Attachment 3. All WIP
Purchase Orders will be subject to the terms anditons of this Purchase Agreement, includingtdrens set forth in Attachment-5.



Future Purchase Orders
Apple and its Authorized Purchaser may place Pwel@rders for additional MPUs during the term @ fPurchase Agreement. Such
Purchase Orders will be subject to the terms anditions of this Purchase Agreement, except thppéaable only to WIP Purchase Orders.

Nothing in this Purchase Agreement, in any MPUdast, or in any prior discussions or agreementsdmi the parties will give rise to
obligation to place any Purchase Orders other thaWIP Purchase Orders.

Pricing
Pricing for all Purchase Orders for MPUs orderedaurthis Purchase Agreement will be as set fortstiachment 2.

Supply Obligation

Freescale agrees to accept and fulfill all Purclaaskers for the MPUs until the earlier of (1) thepieation of this Purchase Agreement or

(2) with respect to a specific MPU, until the MP3discontinued as set forth in Attachment 4. Fraleswill acknowledge all Purchase Orders
(including Blanket Purchase Orders) and confirmDiedivery Date within 5 business days after they@aced. Freescale will ship all MPUs
ordered on or before the Delivery Date. If an MPY), Freescale will [**] Apple and will [**] Apple’s [**] to the

[**] Certain information on this page has beenitbed and filed separately with the Securities Bmdhange Commission. Confidential
treatment has been requested with respect to tliteedrportions.




[**] of [**] based on [**] to the [**] for the [**] or [**]. If a delivery will be delayed by more thaone day, Freescale will promptly notify
Apple, and if it will be delayed by more than twayd, Freescale will ship the delayed product oexgedited basis at Freescale’s expense.

Cancellations and Flexibility
Apple and its Authorized Purchasers may only caaoce¢vise Purchase Orders as set forth in Attachrhe

Payments
Payment obligations under this Purchase Agreenrterget forth in Attachment 5.

Product Warranties

Freescale warrants that the MPUs will [**] and [*fjutually agreed to by Apple and Freescale for gfter the date of [**], and Freescale
will [**] and [**] of any MPUs that [**] or [**] wi thin such warranty period. This warranty [**] thaisult from [**] the MPU [**] set forth
in the [**] .

Independent Efforts and Similar Products

Nothing in this Purchase Agreement will impair Ag’'s right to develop, manufacture, purchase or usdyxts or services competitive with
those offered by Freescale.

Confidentiality

The terms, conditions and existence of the Purchgseement and related negotiations and activtiélde considered confidential
information of each party governed by the termthefmutual confidentiality agreement between thatedi 5/10/05.

Indemnities

Subject to the limitations and exclusions statddwgFreescale will defend, at Freescale’s expeasg Claim or Suit against Apple or any of
its subsidiaries and will indemnify them from argsts and damages finally awarded (including attpared other professional fees and
expenses) and any amounts paid in settlement imextion with such Claim or Suit. “Claim” meanslaim that any MPU furnished by
Freescale under this Purchase Agreement infrirmeth#t the sale, offer for sale, use, or impootatif such MPU infringes) a patent or
copyright, or misappropriates a trade secret. “Suéans a lawsuit based on a Claim.

Required Procedures

Freescale will have [**] pursuant to this sectiftf] : (i) [**] in writing as soon as reasonablyrpcticable after [**] ; and (i) [**] will not be
liable for the settlement of a Claim made [**] *]'may not enter into any settlement that impoggs @bligation on [**] or publicize or

permit any third party to publicize any settlemeha Claim without [**] prior written consent. Nioing in this Purchase Agreement will
obligate Freescale to knowingly infringe any valatent or other intellectual property of a thirdtpa If Freescale has reason to believe that
any MPU or portion thereof infringes such an irgetlial property right, it will promptly notify Appland [**] will [**] or [**]. Freescale

may [**] such MPUs [**] for [**] and [**] the [**] and [**]. If a Claim is asserted prior to comptatiof delivery of the MPU, Freescale will
notify Apple in writing and [**] , and [**] : (i) dotain for Apple the right to use and sell the MP(ii}; [**] ; or, if neither of the above [**],

(iii) [**] of the products and [**] the purchaserige paid [**] . [**] will [**] product until [**] has [**] for [**] .

Exclusions

Freescale will have no obligation to defend or mdéy Apple if: (i) Apple or any third party altedehe MPUs after delivery and the alleged
infringement would not have occurred but for sultaration; or (ii) such Claim is based on [**] thdPUs [**] and the MPU would not have
infringed but for such [**] .
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Injunctions

If there is a credible threat that any MPU willdrgoined as a result of a Suit, Freescale willfpdtpple in writing and if Apple requests, and
at no expense to Apple: (i) obtain for Apple thghtito use and sell the MPUs; (ii) substitute amiegjent product(s) reasonably acceptable to
Apple and extend this indemnity to that productés);if neither of the above is possible, (iii) aptthe return of the MPUs and refund the
purchase price paid for the MPUs.

Limitations on Payable Damages
Freescale [**] of [**] of (1) [**] and (2) [**] for the infringing products, provided, however, tf&} will be [**] the [**] will be [**]

[*]
Term and Termination
This Purchase Agreement and the obligations opérées will continue in effect until terminated set forth in this section.

A party may terminate this Purchase Agreement byiging the other party written notice on or aflecember 31, 2007 that it intends to
terminate one year after the date of such writtaica. Under no circumstances will this Purchases&ment terminate before December 31,
2008. Freescale will accept and fulfill all Purch&rders placed by Apple and its Authorized Purersaduring the one-year notice period,
provided that Apple is not in default under this¢hase Agreement.

The following terms shall survive termination ofstfPurchase Agreement: Confidentiality, Independ#forts and Similar Products,
Warranties, Indemnities, Disputes, and Miscellaiseou

Miscellaneous

Disputes

If there is a dispute between the parties, thagsadgree to escalate the matter for discussiomemudution by designated members of their
senior management teams. If they are unable tdvethe matter within a reasonable period of tima,to exceed 60 days, then the parties
may seek to resolve the dispute through a full dap-binding mediation conducted in Santa Clarar®por San Francisco County,
California. Each party must bear its own expemsesnnection with the mediation and share equaklyfees and expenses of the mediator.
If the parties are unable to resolve the disputendithe mediation, then either party may commeéiticgation in the state or federal courts.
Either party may seek equitable relief in ordeptotect its confidential information or intellectymoperty at any time (without first
attempting to resolve the dispute as describedebov

Governing Law

This Purchase Agreement and the rights and ohbigsitbf the parties will be governed by and constared enforced in accordance with the
laws of the State of California as applied to agreets entered into and to be performed entirelfziwiCalifornia between California
residents, without regard to conflict of law pripleis.

Limitation of Liability & Disclaimer of Certain Dam ages

EXCEPT FOR PERSONAL INJURY, AND EXCEPT FOR THE LIVED LIABILITIES OTHERWISE PROVIDED IN THE PRODUCT
WARRANTIES AND INDEMNITIES, EACH PARTY’S TOTAL LIABLITY, WHETHER FOR BREACH OF CONTRACT,
WARRANTY, NEGLIGENCE, STRICT LIABILITY IN TORT OR OQHERWISE, IS LIMITED TO THE REVENUE RECEIVED BY
FREESCALE FOR PRODUCTS SOLD HEREUNDER. IN NO EVEMALL EITHER PARTY BE LIABLE TO THE OTHER FOR ANY
SPECIAL, INCIDENTAL OR CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES BASEIN ANY BREACH OR DEFAULT OF THE OTHER PARTY TO
THE FULL EXTENT SUCH MAY BE DISCLAIMED BY LAW.

Notices
Notices under this Purchase Agreement must beitmgriand will be deemed given when actually reediif delivered by courier wit
written proof of delivery, or 10 days after beirensby first class malil, return receipt requestedhe other party at the address below:

For notices to Apple:
To the address set forth on page 1: Attentionne®& Counsel

For notices to Freescale:
To the address set forth on page 1. Attentionngga Counsel

[**] Certain information on this page has beenitbed and filed separately with the Securities Bmdhange Commission. Confidential
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A party may change its address by giving the otiréiten notice as described above.

Severability

If a court of competent jurisdiction holds that ggvision of this Purchase Agreement is invalidinenforceable, the remaining provisions
will remain in full force and effect, and the pagiwill replace the invalid or unenforceable pranswith a valid and enforceable provision
that achieves the original intent and economicatité the Purchase Agreement.

Waiver and Construction

Failure to enforce any provision of this Purchagge®ment will not be deemed a waiver of future ezgment of that or any other provision.
Section headings are for convenience only and @réorbe considered in construing or interpretimg Purchase Agreement. References to
“Pages,” “Sections,” and “Attachments” are refeento pages and sections of and attachments tBuhihase Agreement. The word
“herein” and words of similar meaning refer to tRisrchase Agreement in its entirety and not togarjicular Section or provision. The word
“party” means a party to this Purchase Agreemedtthe phrase “third party” means any person, pestip, corporation, or other entity not a
party to this Purchase Agreement. The words “agi@eswill” and “shall” are used in a mandatoryptha permissive, sense, and the word
“including” is intended to be exemplary, not exhares and will be deemed followed by “without liratton.”

Entire Agreement

This Purchase Agreement, including any Attachmantsany other documents referenced herein, alhaftware incorporated herein by
reference, constitute the entire understandingagmeement of the parties, whether written or avih respect to the subject matter of this
Purchase Agreement and supersede all prior anémmatraneous agreements or understandings betweearttes with respect such subject
matter with the express exception of the partiesVipusly executed nondisclosure agreements. Affgrent or additional terms and
conditions in a Purchase Order (other than the tijyaand ship to location), purchase order acknadgtaent, on a web site, or otherwise, will
be of no force or effect and will not become pdrthis Purchase Agreement unless accepted in gewrtmendment signed by both parties.

Amendments

This Purchase Agreement may not be amended or imddikcept by a written amendment signed by authdrsignatories of both parties.
the extent any terms and conditions of the Purchagseement conflict with the terms and conditiofsuoy invoice, Purchase Order or
purchase order acknowledgment, the terms and ¢onsliin the Purchase Agreement will control.

Counterparts
This Purchase Agreement may be executed in on@og aounterparts, each of which will be deemedragiral, but which collectively will
constitute one and the same instrument.

Acknowledged and agreed by their duly authorizguesentatives:

Apple Computer, Inc Freescale Semiconductor, h
By: /s/ Sabih Khat By: /s/ David Perkin:

Title: VP Operation: Title: SVP & GM, NCSG
Date: August 22, 200! Date: August 22, 200!
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Attachment 1
Definitions

Whenever capitalized in this Purchase Agreement:
“ Apple” means Apple Computer, Inc., a California Corpimmatwith offices at 1 Infinite Loop, Cupertino, CA5014.

“Authorized Purchaser’'means Apple, any of its wholly-owned subsidiaras] any of its contract manufacturers, originaligopent
manufacturers or other third parties authorizedpple to purchase MPUs for use in Apple-brandedipets or subassemblies for Apple-
branded products.

“Blanket Purchase Order’'means a blanket order for MPUs to be deliverediwitie period specified on the blanket order. Apghd its
Authorized Purchasers will place individual Puregh@sders under the Blanket Purchase Order andwititse shipped against those
individual Purchase Orders. The individual Pureh@sders must be for equivalent amounts and typstPts and must be for identical
Delivery Dates as the corresponding Blanket Puei@sler. The individual Purchase Orders must Begdl no later than 4 weeks after the
Blanket Purchase Order and if they aren't, Freeswdl notify Apple in writing and Apple will remedthe situation within 5 business days.
Freescale’s failure to so notify Apple will not dreach of this Agreement. No units will ship agaand Apple will have no liability for
cancellation or other charges under a Blanket RselOrder. Apple or the Authorized Purchaseri@asase may be) will have liability for
cancellation or other charges under the individiachase Orders as set forth in Attachment 4.

“Delivery Date” for a particular Purchase Order has the meaninfpgéatin Attachment 4.
“ Freescale’ means Freescale Semiconductor, Inc., a Delawap®iaiion, with offices at 7700 West Parmer Lanestky Texas.

“MPUs” means those Freescale microprocessors code-nafjehf[**] and listed in Attachment 2, whose spigzations and part numbers
are specific to Apple, and any other microproces$ieg parties may mutually agree to add to thisliftage Agreement after the effective date.

“ Purchase Agreementtmeans this Purchase Agreement between Apple arddale, including any attachments, schedules er oth
documents referenced herein.

“Purchase Order”means written orders for MPUs placed by Apple oAathorized Purchaser

“WIP” means the MPU units specifically described in Attaent 3.

[**] Certain information on this page has beenitbed and filed separately with the Securities Bmdhange Commission. Confidential
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Attachment 2
Pricing
Pricing

The purchase price for [**] and [**] MPUs ordereg Bpple and its Authorized Purchasers will be adath below:

[*]

]

[*]

(]

[*]

(]

[*]

(]

[*]
(]
(]

[*]

[*]

[*]

[*]

(]

[**] [**]

[* *] [* *] [* *]
[**] [**]

[* *] [* *] [* *]

[**] [**] [**]

[**] [**] [**]
[**] [**]

[**] [**] [**]

[**] [**] [**]

[* *] [* *] [* *]
[**] [**]

[*]
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Attachment 3
WIP

Existing WIP Purchase Orders

Prior to the execution of this Purchase Agreem&pple and its Authorized Purchasers placed PurcBaders (“WIP Purchase Orderdgty a
total of [**] WIP MPUs. As of [**], Freescale hashipped [**] of these units. [**] Apple or its Aborized Purchaser will place replacement
Purchase Orders for [**] units, less units alreatlipped as of the Effective Date within five busineays after the Effective Date and will
take delivery of the all MPUs under WIP Purchasdets [**].

Additional WIP Purchase Orders

Contemporaneously with the execution of this Puseh&greement, Apple or its Authorized Purchaselispidce Purchase Orders
(“Additional WIP Purchase Orders”) for a total &6f[MPUs, described in more detail below, at thécps set forth in Attachment 2.

Apple will take delivery of all MPUs under the Addnal WIP Purchase Orders [**].
[**]

[**] Certain information on this page has beenitted and filed separately with the Securities Bxdhange Commission. Confidential
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Attachment 4
Purchase Orders

In addition to the other terms in this Purchaseeggnent, the following terms apply to all Purchasee®s (including the WIP and Additional
WIP Purchase Orders):

Maximum Order Amounts

Except for the WIP Purchase Orders, Freescalehaile no obligation to accept any Blanket PurchaskeiQhat orders more [**] MPU units
(any combination of MPUSs) for delivery in a givereek.

Delivery Date

The Delivery Date for Additional WIP Purchase Ogletill be the date set forth on the Purchase Ofttgr, whichever is earlier. The
Delivery Date for all other WIP Purchase Orderd ba the date set forth on the Purchase Ordertr, f¥hichever is earlier.

The Delivery Date for all other Purchase Orders jii] from the date of Freescale’s acknowledgmehthe Purchase Order for the first
[**] . Each additional [**] units will extend the elivery date by 1 additional week.

After [**] , the Delivery Date for each Purchaseder placed under that Blanket Purchase Order wi[t] if and only if Apple [**] as
described in the section entitled [**] .

Freescale will use [**] all [**] MPU units requiretbr [**] and [**] and deliver such units by [**] .

LOAs for [**]

After [**], Apple will provide a letter of authoration (“LOA”) authorizing Freescale to [**] in aocdance with [**¥] and [**] . If Apple
terminates the LOA or does not place Purchase ®gdethave its Authorized Purchasers place PurdBaders) for [**] authorized by the
LOA within [**] after the date of the LOA, Apple Wi[**] for [**] the LOA [**], unless: (i) Freescde did not [**] ; (ii) Freescale [**] ;
(iii) the [**] do not meet all applicable specifitans; or (v) Freescale can [**], [**] to [**] fo[**] , [**] or, if not [**], [**] or [**] .

EOL

If Apple’s Blanket Purchase Orders request delivarless [**] units of an MPU after Apple has regted delivery of less than [**] units of
an MPU for three weeks, then Freescale may isstierahof life” notice (“EOL”) for that MPU. If Frescale intends to discontinue an MPU,
Freescale will give Apple written notice at leashénths prior to the discontinuation date. At &éime prior to the discontinuation date, Ap
and its Authorized Purchasers may place Purchader©for the MPU but the Purchase Orders may nptest delivery of the MPU on a date
later than 6 months after the discontinuation date.

Rescheduling

Reschedules are [**] without [**] . If rescheduleohly the Delivery Date will change, and all otlbemms and conditions applicable to the
Purchase Order will remain in effect.

Remix

Remixes will [**] . If remixed, [**] , and all otheterms and conditions applicable to the PurchaskeQwill remain in effect.

[**] Certain information on this page has beenitbed and filed separately with the Securities Bmdhange Commission. Confidential
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Returns

Returns of**] MPUs[**] . [**] MPUs may be returned as set forth in the Warrasetyien of this Purchase Agreement.

Cancellations

Apple and its Authorized Purchasers may canceltse Orders [**] :

(i) the MPUs ordered have not been delivered [ft¢athe Delivery Date; or

(i) Apple provides written notice of cancellatiomthe form attached as Attachment 6, no later {if§nbefore the Delivery Date of the MP
ordered. Each [**] , Freescale will provide Appleeport showing the expected distribution of MPhisttare at probe so that Apple can make

an informed decision regarding cancellations.

If Apple or an Authorized Purchaser cancels a PagetOrder pursuant to subsection (i), above,lif[¥t] . Cancellations pursuant to
subsection (i), above, will be [**] .

If Apple or an Authorized Purchaser wrongfully gedelivery, revokes acceptance of, or fails tp foa MPUs delivered in accordance with
this Purchase Agreement, [**] .

Neither Apple nor the Authorized Purchaser willllable for [**] not expressly set forth in this Section.

[**] Certain information on this page has beenitbed and filed separately with the Securities Bmdhange Commission. Confidential
treatment has been requested with respect to tliteedrportions.




Attachment 5
Payments

Payment Terms

Payments for [**] will be due [**] after (i) delivey, or (ii) the invoice date, whichever is lateayhent for all other MPUs delivered pursuant
to this Purchase Agreement will be due [**] aft@ydelivery, or (ii) the invoice date, whicheverlater.

[**] WIP and Additional WIP Purchase Orders

Within [**] of the execution of this Purchase Agraent, [**] will deliver [**] to [**] the WIP Purchase Orders and Additional WIP Purchase
Orders described in Attachment 3 (the [**]. Thé&][must be [**] with [**]. The [**] will be [**] .

The [**] will provide for [**] to [**] within [**] from [**] of a [**] the [**] to [**] with [**] be d escribed in the [**] . [**] will deliver
copies of its [**] and [**] to [**] before or at tk same time it presents its demand to the [***] Jill be entitled to [**] only for [**] for
[**] that remain [**] after such payment was du&he [**] will not exceed the [**] of such [**] . {*] will pay [**] associated with the [**].

[**] Future Purchase Orders

Within [**] of Freescale’s receipt of any other Bhase Order (other than a WIP Purchase Order oitiédal WIP Purchase Order), [*ill
deliver [**] to [**] Purchase Order [**] ”). The f*] must be [**] with a [**] with [**] . [**] will ensure that [**] of the [**] remains at least
[**] to [**] of all [**] (including [**] for MPUs ( other than the WIP and Additional WIP Purchase @&)dand even if [**] , [**] will have
[**]to [**] that [**]is at least equal to [**] of [**] . The [**] will be valid for at least [**] after the last Delivery Date on any Purchase
Order.

The [**] will provide for payment to Freescale with[**] from [**] to the [**] of a [**] the [**] wi th [**] to be described in the [**] . [**]
will deliver copies of its [**] and [**] to [**] before or at the same time it presents its [**] t6][* Freescale will be entitled to [**] for [**]
(other than WIP) delivered in accordance with acRase Order or canceled in accordance with Attaohdéhat remain [**] after [**] . The
[**] will not exceed [**] of [**] . [**] will pay [**] and [**] associated with [**] .

[**] Certain information on this page has beenitbed and filed separately with the Securities Bmdhange Commission. Confidential
treatment has been requested with respect to tliteedrportions.
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Attachment 6
Cancellation Notice

Date

William Dunnigan

Freescale Semiconductor, Inc.
7700 W. Parmer Lane

Austin, TX 78729

Director of Finance, Networking and Computing SysteGroup
Freescale Semiconductor, Inc.

7700 W. Parmer Lane

Austin, TX 78729

Dear Sir;

Apple confirms that they are canceling the follogvitevices:

Cancellation Extended
PO # Device Quantity Price Credit Price
Total Amoun

(]

[**] Certain information on this page has beeniited and filed separately with the Securities Bxdhange Commission. Confidential
treatment has been requested with respect to tliteedrportions.
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Exhibit 21

SUBSIDIARIES OF
APPLE COMPUTER, INC*

Jurisdiction
Name of Incorporation
Apple Computer Inc. Limited Irelanc
Apple Computer Limitec Irelanc
Apple Computer Internation Irelanc

* Pursuant to Item 601(b)(21)(ii) of Regulation Sthe names of other subsidiaries of Apple Compuer,are omitted because,
considered in the aggregate, they would not caneta significant subsidiary as of the end of tharycovered by this report.

Exhibit 23.1

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accountingirm

The Board of Directors
Apple Computer, Inc.:

We consent to the incorporation by reference irrdlggstration statements on Forms S-8 (Nos. 2-70249563, 2-85095, 33-00866, 33-
23650, 33-31075, 33-40877, 33-47596, 33-57092, 36, 33-53873, 33-53879, 33-53895, 33-60279, ZBH0333-07437, 333-23719,
333-23725, 333-60455, 333-82603, 333-93471, 333:37833-52116, 333-61276, 333-70506, 333-75930;182384, 333-106421, and
333-125148) and the registration statements on £&+8 (Nos. 33-23317, 33-29578, and 33-62310) gié&gomputer, Inc. of our reports
dated November 29, 2005 with respect to the cotstad balance sheets of Apple Computer, Inc. absidiaries as of September 24, 2005
and September 25, 2004, and the related consalidtédéements of operations, shareholdegsiity, and cash flows for each of the years ir
three-year period ended September 24, 2005, andgearent’s assessment of the effectiveness of aiteomtrol over financial reporting as
of September 24, 2005 and the effectiveness ofiateontrol over financial reporting as of Septem®4, 2005, which reports appear in the
September 24, 2005 annual report on Fori-K of Apple Computer, Inc. Our report refers to chas in accounting for asset retirem



obligations and for financial instruments with cheteristics of both liabilities and equity in 2003.

/sl KPMG LLP

Mountain View, Californie
November 29, 200

Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATIONS
I, Steven P. Jobs, certify that:

1. | have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-Kpple Computer, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not com@ajnuntrue statement of a material fact or om#itéde a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts.under which such statements were made, nigadisg with respect to the per
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statement$ atimer financial information included in this refdairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operstand cash flows of the registrant as of, amdtfe periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) andrk responsible for establishing and maintainiisgldsure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&)}%nd internal control over financial reportirag defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) for the registrard have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and proceduresiused such disclosure controls and procedures tiesigned under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhgibsidiaries, is made known to us
by others within those entities, particularly dgrithe period in which this report is being prepared

(b) Designed such internal control over financial réipgy;, or caused such internal control over finah@gaorting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurarmgadiang the reliability of financial reporting atfie preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitierally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’sldgire controls and procedures and presentedsimeport our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls andguiures, as of the end of the period coveredibyédport based on such
evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the regmtsanternal control over financial reporting thatcurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fodighal quarter in the case of an annual repod) itlas materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regasit’s internal control over financial reporting;dan

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) antddve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatimrernal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of directf@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

(&) All significant deficiencies and material weaknessethe design or operation of internal contraéofinancial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registeaability to record, process, summarize, and refiancial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involveammagement or other employees who have a significémin the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: November 29, 2005

By: /s/ STEVEN P. JOB!
Steven P. Jok
Chief Executive Office

Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATIONS

I, Peter Oppenheimer, certify that:
1. | have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-Kpple Computer, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not comtaynuntrue statement of a material fact or omgitade a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts.under which such statements were made, nigadisg with respect to the per
covered by this repor



3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements$ atimer financial information included in this repdairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operstand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgtfe periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) andrk responsible for establishing and maintainiisgldsure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&)}%(nd internal control over financial reportirag defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) for the registrard have:

(&) Designed such disclosure controls and proceduragused such disclosure controls and procedures tiesigned under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhgbsidiaries, is made known to us
by others within those entities, particularly dgrithe period in which this report is being prepared

(b) Designed such internal control over financial réipgr, or caused such internal control over finaheporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assuramgadiang the reliability of financial reporting atfie preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitierally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’sldgire controls and procedures and presentedsimeort our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls andguiures, as of the end of the period coveredibyé¢port based on such
evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the regmtsanternal control over financial reporting thatcurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fodigbal quarter in the case of an annual repod) itas materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regasit’s internal control over financial reporting;dan

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) antddve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatimrernal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of registrant’s board of directors parsons performing the equivalent
functions):

(&) All significant deficiencies and material weaknessethe design or operation of internal contra@rofinancial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registeaability to record, process, summarize, and refioancial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involveamagement or other employees who have a significémin the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: November 29, 2005

By: /sl PETER OPPENHEIMEI
Peter Oppenheime
Senior Vice President and
Chief Financial Officel

Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND CHIEF  FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Steven P. Jobs, certify, pursuant to 18 U.Se€tiSn 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 9@igeabarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that the
Annual Report of Apple Computer, Inc. on Form 1@eKthe fiscal year ended September 24, 2005 fidipplies with the requirements of
Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeoh 1934 and that information contained in suohni10-K fairly presents in all material
respects the financial condition and results ofrapens of Apple Computer, Inc.

By: /s/ STEVEN P. JOB!
Steven P. Jok
Chief Executive Office

I, Peter Oppenheimer, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S€xtion 1350, as adopted pursuant to SectioroB&e Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that
the Annual Report of Apple Computer, Inc. on For@aKlLfor the fiscal year ended September 24, 200% éomplies with the requirements
of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities ExcleAgt of 1934 and that information contained infsorm 10-K fairly presents in all
material respects the financial condition and tssofl operations of Apple Computer, Inc.

By: /sl PETER OPPENHEIME!
Peter Oppenheime
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Offi
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